# ABSTRACT

Title of Dissertation:

INDIVIDUAL CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDENTS WITH AND WITHOUT DISABILITIES WHO RECEIVED A WAIVER FOR THE REQUIREMENTS NECESSARY TO EARN A STANDARD DIPLOMA: A STUDY OF ONE SYSTEM

David Jay Cantrell, Doctor of Philosophy, 2013

Directed By:

Professor Margaret J. McLaughlin Department of Special Education

The purpose of this study was to investigate the association of individual characteristics to include disability status, age, gender, and race-ethnicity on receiving a waiver from one or more of the requirements for the standard diploma among students with and without disabilities. Student data was drawn from a large, international school system, referred to as the Participating School System (PSS)<sup>1</sup> that operates schools throughout the world for military and civilian dependents. Descriptive statistics, chi-square tests, and logistic regression analyses were used.

The results demonstrated there was an association between age, race-ethnicity, disability status and receiving a waiver from the requirements for the standard diploma. Logistic regression analyses showed that disability status, race-ethnicity, and age

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The name of the school system, PSS, is pseudonym developed in response to policies that prohibit identification.

increased the odds of receiving any type of waiver, a mathematics waiver, a foreign language waiver, and an other course credit waiver (i.e., science, physical education). Regardless of a student's race-ethnicity, students with disabilities had increased odds of receiving a waiver than students without disabilities. Although students with disabilities were more likely to receive a waiver than students without disabilities, regardless of race/ethnicity, non-White students with disabilities had increased likelihood of receiving a waiver than White students with disabilities. Additionally, older students with disabilities had increased odds of receiving a waiver. Rationales for granting a waiver for students with disabilities cited were student disability status and academic weakness for granting the waivers. Recommendations stress establishing procedures and guidance for awarding a waiver from diploma requirements should be designed and articulated to parents, students, and school staff, and specific guidance is provided to special education teams to ensure that students with disabilities are afforded a commensurate educational experience that is provided to students without disabilities. School programs should develop appropriate interventions to support the academic needs of students.

# INDIVIDUAL CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDENTS WITH AND WITHOUT DISABILITIES WHO RECEIVED A WAIVER FOR THE REQUIREMENTS NECESSARY TO EARN A STANDARD DIPLOMA: A STUDY OF ONE SYSTEM

by

David Jay Cantrell

# Thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Maryland, College Park in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy 2013

Advisory Committee: Professor Margaret J. McLaughlin, Chair Professor Debra Neubert Professor Robert Croninger Professor Joan Lieber Dr. Sandra Embler © Copyright by David Jay Cantrell 2013

# Dedication

To my mother, Dora Krause for her unconditional support, encouragement, and love, you always encouraged me to chart my own course, I love you; and to my grandmother, Mary Alberta Thomas who was always there for me and who first opened the door to the pleasure of reading and to some extent, helped me begin this journey many years ago, and finally, to the power of the human spirit, you never know just what you're capable of accomplishing.

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Margaret J. McLaughlin for her encouragement, honest and constructive feedback, sense of humor, and for giving me this opportunity. My world has changed for the better as a result of your mentorship and this journey.

I would like to thank my committee members for their thoroughness and helping me see the bigger picture and the implications of my research.

I would like to thank my friends for staying by me, providing a cherished and needed reprieve at times, and for their understanding.

This journey introduced me to friends who have grown to be part of my family, thank you for your support and humor over these past 5 years; Dr. Mariano Kanamori and Mr. Neil Starkey.

Thank you to Ms. Elaine P. Grande and Mr. Rollie Grande for their mentorship and love over the years. They were the first individuals who suggested in the late 1990's that I should think about moving beyond teaching in the classroom.

Thank you to Dr. Sandra Embler for introducing me to this opportunity. Your encouragement and support along the way helped in many ways.

And most importantly, to my family for standing by me, offering support along the way through what felt like at times like a solitary and crazy journey. Thanks for listening and believing in me.

Dedication	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
Chapter I: Introduction	1
Overview of the Diploma and Increased Educational Requirements	2
Challenges for Students with Disabilities	3
Alternative Diploma Options	5
Graduation Policies in the Participating School System	9
Purpose of the Study	13
Research Questions	14
Methodology	15
Significance of the Study	15
Definition of Key Terms	16
Chapter II: Review of Literature	20
Introduction	20
Obtaining a High School Diploma	21
Overview of Policy and Increased Educational Standards	23
America 2000	23
Goals 2000: Educate America Act of 1994	
The Elementary and Secondary Education Act	25
1997 IDEA amendments	
The No Child Left Behind Act	
2004 IDEA reauthorization	
Common Core Standards	29
Summary of policies	
Minimum Requirements and Diploma Options	
Alternative Diploma Options for Students With Disabilities	
Critical Review of Empirical Research Studies	

# Table of Contents

Search methods	
Graduation requirements and diploma options	
Characteristics and school experiences of secondary students	60
Student academic performance: Summary of research	69
Critique of the studies reviewed	71
Summary of critical research review	75
Chapter Summary	77
Chapter III: Methodology	80
Data Sources	81
Procedures	
Waiver Request Procedure	
Analyses of Results	85
Description of Variables	
Individual characteristics	
Educational characteristics	
Analyses	
Inter-rater Reliability	95
Institutional Review Board and Confidentiality	96
Chapter Summary	96
Chapter IV: Results	
Research Question 1	
Individual characteristics	
Educational characteristics	101
Research Question 2	
Disability status	
Gender	107
Race-ethnicity	109
Age	111
Research Question 3	113
Waiver/No waiver	114
2.0 foreign language course credits waiver	117

3.0 mathematics course credits waiver	119
Other course credit waiver	
Research Question 4	121
Chapter Summary	
Chapter V: Discussion	
Findings	131
Characteristics of the student sample	131
Disability classification	
Individual characteristics	
Educational characteristics	
Implications for Policy and Practice	
Limitations/Directions for Future Practice	
Chapter Summary	
Appendices	141
Appendix A	141
Appendix B	144
Appendix C	145
Appendix D	147
Appendix E	148
References	150

# List of Tables

- Table 1: Descriptive Characteristics of Students who Graduated in 2012 from the PSS
- Table 2: Age of Students With and Without Disabilities
- Table 3: Students With Disabilities by Disability Type
- Table 4: Course Credits and Cumulative GPA for Students With and Without Disabilities
- Table 5: Waiver Request Packets Submitted for Standard Diploma Requirements
- Table 6: Waiver Request Packets Submitted for Standard Diploma Requirements by

   Disability Type
- Table 7: Waivers Granted by Type
- Table 8: Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Having a Disability
- Table 9: Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Gender for StudentsWith Disabilities
- Table 10: Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Gender for Students

   Without Disabilities
- Table 11: Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Race-Ethnicity for Students With Disabilities
- Table 12: Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Race-Ethnicity for Students Without Disabilities
- Table 13: Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Age for StudentsWith Disabilities
- Table 14: Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Age for StudentsWithout Disabilities
- Table 15: Summary of Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Receipt of Waiver With Interaction of Race
- Table 16: Summary of Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Receipt of Waiver

   Stratified by Race
- Table 17: Summary of Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Receipt of a Foreign Language Waiver
- Table 18: Summary of Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Receipt of a Mathematics Waiver
- Table 19: Summary of Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Receipt of Other Course

   Credit Waiver
- Table 20: Rationale for Granting Waiver to Students With Disabilities by Waiver Type
- Table 21: Waiver Packets Submitted for Students With Disabilities by Disability Type and Rationale

# **List of Figures**

- Figure 1: Conceptual Model of Diploma Options Offered by the Participating School System
- Figure 2: Conceptual Model of Common Secondary Graduation Options in U.S. Schools
- Figure 3: Flow Chart of the Procedure for Gathering Data Phases 1, 2, 3, & 4
- **Figure 4**: Conceptual Model of the Process of Granting a Waiver to Requirements for the Standard Diploma Offered by the Participating School System

### List of Abbreviations

ADA: the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 AYP: adequate yearly progress CTE: career and technical education **CPS:** Current Population Survey EAHCA: the Education of All Handicapped Children Act EHA: the Education of the Handicapped Act ESEA: the Elementary and Secondary Education Act FAPE: free appropriate public education IDEA: the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act IEP: individualized education program LD: learning disability(ies) LEA: local education agency LRE: least restrictive environment NCLB: the No Child Left Behind of 2001 NELS: National Education Longitudinal Study NLTS: National Longitudinal Transition Study NLTS2: National Longitudinal Transition Study 2 **OCR:** Office of Civil Rights **OSEP:** Office of Special Education Programs PL: public law **PSS:** Participating School System Sec. 504: Section 504 of the Vocational Rehabilitation Act of 1973 SIS: Student Information System used by the Participating School System SPSS: the Statistical Package of the Social Sciences USDOE: United States Department of Education

#### **Chapter I: Introduction**

The successful completion of high school by meeting a pre-determined set of requirements culminates with the receipt of the diploma. The high school diploma has increased in importance since the beginning of the 19<sup>th</sup> century (Dorn, 1996); and in the 21<sup>st</sup> century, it has become a necessity for entering postsecondary education and achieving increased financial success later in life (Achieve, 2008; Alliance for Excellent Education, 2009; Rumberger, 2011; Yell, 2012). In fact, the number of students graduating with a diploma from high school has become an important gauge of success for the U.S. education system.

For decades, educational researchers and policymakers have focused on the rate of high school seniors exiting secondary school with a diploma; a figure commonly known as the high school graduation rate. Recent data on the national graduation rate in the U.S. show the average rate is around 70%, which means that over one million students do not receive a diploma each year (Rumberger, 2011). The U.S. graduation rate has fueled concern due to a number of factors, including international attention on the global economic market, the publication of *A Nation at Risk* in 1983, and the national media's pervasive message that the U.S. is falling behind our international counterparts (Rumberger, 2011). With the increased importance of graduating with a high school diploma, as well as increasing requirements for obtaining a diploma, the issue of ensuring that students with disabilities obtain a high school diploma has become a challenge for state and local education agencies.

In this chapter, I provide an overview and rationale for the present study by discussing key challenges that increased academic rigor presents for students with

1

disabilities as they seek to meet the requirements for receipt of a high school diploma. First, I discuss the value of the high school diploma and the impact of increased requirements and alternate options to the standard diploma. Second, I review the purpose of the study by discussing the four research questions, the dataset used, and the methodology. Finally, I discuss the importance of this study to the field of special education and educational policy makers.

## **Overview of the Diploma and Increased Educational Requirements**

The importance of receiving a high school diploma has increased over the years. Successfully completing high school with the diploma is the first step to securing meaningful employment in postsecondary life, and it is necessary if one intends to enter the working market in the information-based society of the 21<sup>st</sup> century (Dorn, 1996; Rumberger, 2011). Students who drop out of high school without earning a diploma have significantly higher rates of unemployment (Rumberger, 2011; U.S. Department of Labor, 2007) and increased dependence on social welfare systems (Rouse, 2005; Rumberger, 2011).

In response to the national attention focused on the low high school graduation rate and the need to provide students with the skills necessary to be productive citizens in life, state education agencies (SEAs) and their local education agencies (LEAs) have placed greater focus on the importance of increasing course rigor (Achieve, 2011; Johnson, Thurlow, & Stout, 2007; Yell, 2012); providing classroom instruction that aligns with raised academic standards (Achieve, 2011; Guy, Lee, & Thurlow, 1999; Jennings, 2012); and exiting students from high school with evidence that they have increased knowledge in the areas of English language arts, mathematics, and science (Achieve, 2011; Kober & Stark Rentner, 2012; Rumberger, 2011). To meet this challenge, SEAs and LEAs have implemented new graduation requirements, like increasing the number of credits students must earn in specific subject areas and establishing exit exams that assess students' knowledge and competency in content areas (Gaumer Erickson, Kleinhammer-Tramill, & Thurlow, 2007; Johnson, Stout, & Thurlow, 2009; McIntosh, 2012; Thurlow, Vang, & Cormier, 2010). However, as Dorn (1996) noted well over a decade ago,

High among the views of many education critics in the recent past has been the belief that schools needs to raise standards, set specific requirements for graduating from high schools, and ensure that a diploma is a valuable credential...The problem with this set of goals is that raising standards by definition means making it more difficult to earn a diploma. (pp. 1-2)

Thus, U.S. school leaders have found it difficult to address the national pressure to increase the rigor of secondary education (Center on Education Policy, 2008; Lehr, Clapper, & Thurlow, 2005), while avoiding placing at a disadvantage those students whose abilities may not allow them to attain the new levels of rigor (Center on Education Policy, 2007; Dorn, 1996; Kaufmann, 1999).

#### **Challenges for Students with Disabilities**

Rigorous graduation policies present a particular challenge for students with disabilities (Center on Education Policy, 2007; Hehir, 2006; Johnson, Stout, & Thurlow, 2009; Lehr et al., 2005). Kaufmann (1999) argued that it is unrealistic and potentially damaging to expect all students to achieve universal education standards. Kaufmann also expressed concern that students with disabilities would never catch up with their peers without disabilities. Studies have shown that an increasing number of students with disabilities have proven unable to meet the minimum requirements for receiving the standard diploma (Johnson, Stout, & Thurlow, 2009). Students who cannot meet these conditions may receive an alternate diploma based on reduced or different requirements (Bouck & Washburn-Moses, 2010; Gaumer Erickson & Morningstar, 2009; Johnson, et al., 2007; Nord et al., 2011; Thurlow, Cormier, & Vang, 2009; Thurlow, et al., 2010). Research also has suggested that LEAs disproportionately award more alternate diplomas to students with disabilities than they do to students without disabilities (Johnson et al., 2009; Nord et al., 2011; Thurlow et al., 2010). Johnson, Thurlow, Stout, and Mavis (2007) recognized the problems students with disabilities face in meeting high school graduation requirements and noted the following:

The difficulties that students experience in passing state exit exams or meeting minimum criteria required for the receipt of a standard diploma should not result in lowered expectations, the narrowing of curricular or program options or a removal of the student from the general education curriculum. (p. 63)

Studies have also documented how minimum graduation requirements have changed over time (Jennings, 2012; Krentz, Thurlow, Shyyan, & Scott, 2005; Rumberger, 2011; Thurlow et al., 2010; Yell, 2012). In *The Nation's Report Card: America's High School Graduates*, Nord et al. (2011) found that although U.S. schools experienced an increase in the percentage of high school graduates who completed a more challenging secondary curriculum, the increase did not apply to students with disabilities. In fact, Nord et al. found that "45 percent of students with disabilities completed a below standard curriculum" (p. 9).

### **Alternative Diploma Options**

Over the years, SEAs and LEAs have developed a variety of ways through which students can earn a diploma. For the purposes of this study, I will refer to these options as *alternate diplomas*, even though these alternatives may include documents like the certificate of completion, which technically is not a diploma. Figure 1 displays a model of common secondary graduation options offered in U.S. schools.

The most current study of graduation and diploma options for students with disabilities identified a range of diploma options available throughout the 50 states (Johnson et al., 2007). These options include the *standard diploma*, earned by a student's successful completion of minimum course requirements, passage of exit exams, and other requirements (Johnson et al., 2007); *the honors diploma*, which establishes requirements in addition to the those conditions necessary to earn the standard diploma; *the Individual Education Program (IEP)/Special education diploma*, which is available to students with disabilities who have not met the standard diploma requirements, but have met their IEP goals; *the occupational/vocational diploma*, which is available to students who have attended high school, but have not met the requirements for standard diploma, and certifies that the student is well-trained and prepared to enter the workforce in a specific field like auto-mechanics, cosmetology, or culinary arts; and other options (Johnson et al., 2007).



Figure 1. Common Secondary Graduation Options in U.S. Schools

Figure 1. Range of graduation options offered in U.S. schools by the level of

requirements and academic rigor.

In addition to alternative diploma options, SEAs and LEAs also allow students to apply for exemptions to the basic requirements for a standard diploma. Johnson et al. (2007) documented the types of allowances available to students with disabilities across states. These options included a reduction in the number of course credits (5 states); the substitution of courses for required course credits (21 states); reductions in test performance criteria (10 states); alternate coursework criteria as established by IEP Teams (32 states); and time extensions to allow students to complete required standards (22 states; Johnson et al., 2007). These allowances, or *waivers*, allow students who are unable to meet basic graduation requirements to obtain a standard diploma by reducing requisite coursework; lowering the performance criteria of end of course exams; and/or, establishing alternate courses in lieu of required coursework (Johnson et al., 2007; Thurlow et al., 2010).

The process for accessing a waiver varies widely among states (Thurlow et al., 2010), but the process typically begins with a formal request. The list of staff persons eligible to request a waiver varies from state to state. State agencies may allow requests from a student, a parent/legal guardian, an IEP team, or a school official (Krentz, Thurlow, Shyyan, & Scott, 2005; Thurlow et al., 2010). The individual responsible for approving the request also can range from a local decision maker (e.g., school principal or local school board) to the state department or board of education (Krentz et al., 2005; Thurlow et al., 2010). However, according to Johnson et al., (2007) in the majority of states (32 states), the IEP team makes the request for the alternate route and serves as the decision making body that grants approval. Thus, much of the approval process for

students with disabilities takes place at the local level, unlike the procedure for students without disabilities, which takes place at the state level.

Researchers have yet to thoroughly explore the impact of having multiple diploma options, making allowances, or waiving the requirements for receiving a standard diploma. Since 1995, researchers have conducted several national surveys that have identified the minimum graduation requirements and the range of diploma options available to students with and without disabilities (Guy et al., 1999; Johnson & Thurlow, 2003; Johnson et al., 2007; Johnson et al., 2009; Krentz et al., 2005; Thurlow et al., 1995; Thurlow et al., 2009; Thurlow et al., 2010; Thurlow, Ysseldyke, & Anderson, 1995). Other studies have focused on the impact of increased graduation requirements on students with disabilities (Johnson et al., 2009; Vernon, Baytops, McMahon, Padden, & Walther-Thomas, 2003). These studies have identified the approaches various public school systems' have adopted to establish minimum graduation requirements (Center on Education Policy, 2008; Johnson & Thurlow, 2003; Thurlow et al., 2009), high school exit exams (McIntosh, 2012; Zhang, 2009), and processes for requesting and/or accessing alternate diploma options (Krentz et al., 2005; Thurlow et al., 2010). Researchers have not yet specifically investigated the process of granting waivers or the educational characteristics that influence a student's receipt of a waiver of minimum requirements for the diploma. As educational leaders begin to understand the factors that increase a student's likelihood of receiving a waiver, they will be better equipped to implement appropriate systemic changes that will increase high school completion rates and ensure that more students meet all requirements for the diploma. As states continue to explore

alternate diploma options, particularly the waiver of requirements, this study will assist in the identification of factors associated with granting a waiver.

### **Graduation Policies in the Participating School System**

This exploratory study took place in a large, international school system, hereafter referred to as the Participating School System (PSS)<sup>2</sup> that operates schools throughout the world for military and civilian dependents. The PSS has established a Community Strategic Plan, and Goal one of this plan states that all students will meet or exceed challenging standards in academic content so they are prepared for continuous learning (Participating School System, 2012). In 2004, to adhere to the national trend towards increasing the system's secondary educational standards and high school graduation rate, the PSS revised the graduation requirements for its 2008 graduating class. The PSS designed these changes to make its high school diploma comparable to the standard diploma offered by most states in the U.S.

The changes in the requirements to earn the PSS standard diploma included (a) an increase in the number of required credits in selected content areas (i.e., Professional Technical Studies, and Physical Education); (b) an increase in the number of elective courses (from 4.5 to 6.0 credits); (c) an increase in the total required course credits (from 24.0 credits to 26.0 credits); (d) added specificity to required courses in science (Biology and either a Chemistry course or Physics course) and Professional Technical Studies (computer technology course ); and (e) the addition of a 2.0 cumulative grade point average (GPA) requirement (Participating School System, 2012). At the time of the present study, the PSS had three diploma options:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The name of the school system, PSS, is pseudonym developed in response to policies that prohibit identification.

- a standard diploma for students with and without disabilities, earned by meeting all graduation requirements;
- a standard diploma with alternate requirements/criteria (e.g., specific coursework, reduced GPA), available only to students with disabilities and designed by each student's IEP team; and
- 3) an honors diploma for students with and without disabilities, earned by the successful completion of at least four Advanced Placement courses and a cumulative GPA of 3.8 or higher (Participating School System, 2012).

Like many U.S. school systems, the PSS allowed exceptions to established graduation requirements for the standard diploma. The PSS has developed a course substitution list only for students with disabilities to assist the IEP team in identifying appropriate courses that might be substituted for selected courses (e.g., mathematics applications vs. Algebra I) required for receipt of the diploma. To access these courses, the school IEP team is convened to discuss the student's educational progress and educational needs and decide if the student should participate in the general education curriculum, or if a course substitution is needed due to the impact of the student's disability and educational progress. If the IEP team decides that the student with a disability requires the course substitution, the course is then counted toward requirements for the diploma.

Students with disabilities who took courses that were not identified on the course substitution list could receive a waiver of one or more minimum requirements. The waiver process began with the school principal, who was responsible for documenting each waiver. Students could request a waiver if they met one or more of the following criteria:

- less than a 2.0 cumulative GPA;
- less than 26.0 cumulative course credits;
- at least one course substitution for a required course;
- missing a required course; or
- a special education student following an alternate graduation plan

(Participating School System, 2012).

Additionally, students who enrolled in the PSS during their senior year could receive a PSS standard diploma based on the requirements of the previous LEA (Participating School System, 2012).

The school system's graduation policy granted school principals the power to authorize a waiver of the minimum requirements under the following provisions:

- 1) a student could receive a waiver if it was in their best interest;
- a student, who enrolled in a PSS high school during their senior year, and through no fault of his own, did not have sufficient time to meet the PSS diploma requirements, could receive a PSS diploma based on the previous LEA diploma requirements<sup>3</sup>;
- a student who completed his junior year in the PSS, transitioned to a new LEA, and was unable to meet the diploma requirements of the new LEA, could receive the PSS diploma (system leaders added this authorization for students who transitioned frequently between LEAs), and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Established in support of students who transition schools frequently as included in the Interstate Compact for Educational Opportunities for Military Children

4) in unusual circumstances, a student could receive full credit if they failed the first semester of a course, but received a passing grade for the second semester of that same course (Participating School System, 2012).

Although the PSS implemented a formal process for waiving one or more requirements for the standard diploma, the system did not offer an array of alternate diploma options like many U.S. school systems. Figure 2 displays a model of diploma options offered by the PSS. All students (with and without disabilities) received the same type of document representing the standard diploma, regardless of whether they achieved all requirements for the standard diploma, or received a waiver of one or more of the minimum requirements. Additionally, students with disabilities, who were working toward an alternate set of requirements/criteria (e.g., specific coursework or reduced GPA) designed by each student's IEP team, also received the same standard diploma without documentation of this alternate set of criteria. This distinction between the PSS and U.S. schools is important, considering that (a) many U.S. schools have developed multiple diploma options (Johnson et al., 2007; Thurlow et al., 2010) and (b) numerous students have had difficulty meeting increased educational standards and/or passing requisite exit exams (Jennings, 2012; McIntosh, 2012). Figure 2. Diploma Options Offered by the PSS



*Figure 2*. Diploma options offered by the PSS by the level of academic requirements and rigor.

# **Purpose of the Study**

This inquiry provided a unique opportunity to investigate the process of reducing

or waiving one or more of the requirements for the standard diploma. Specifically, this

study examined the characteristics of students with and without disabilities who received

a standard diploma from the PSS in May of 2012. I sought to identify those factors associated with waiving the requirements necessary for receiving a standard diploma.

Like many U.S. schools, the PSS has established a process of documenting and approving a waiver of the requirements for the diploma, to include specific coursework (i.e., mathematics, foreign language), minimum course credits (i.e., 26.0 credits), and/or, minimum GPA (i.e., 2.0 GPA), necessary to earn the diploma. Chapter 3 provides a detailed outline of the process employed by the PSS to document and approve any waiver of the requirements for the standard diploma.

## **Research Questions**

The following four research questions guided this study:

Research question 1: What are the educational (i.e., cumulative GPA, total course credits) and individual characteristics (i.e., age, gender, and race-ethnicity) of students with and without disabilities who graduated in 2012?

Research question 2: A). What are the individual characteristics of students with and without disabilities (i.e., age, gender, and race-ethnicity) who received any type of waiver of graduation requirements for a standard diploma in 2012? B). What are the individual characteristics of students with and without disabilities who received specific types of waivers in 2012 (i.e., cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, 26.0 course credits waiver, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, or other course credit waiver)?

Research question 3: A). What is the probability that students with and without disabilities will receive any type of waiver of the graduation requirements for a standard diploma in 2012, controlling for other personal characteristics (i.e., disability status, age,

gender, and race-ethnicity)? B). What is the probability that students with and without disabilities will receive specific types of waivers in 2012 (i.e., cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, 26.0 course credits waiver, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, and/or other course credit waiver), controlling for other personal characteristics?

Research question 4: What are the rationales for granting waivers to students with disabilities who graduated with a standard diploma in 2012, as documented on the PSS waiver request document?

# Methodology

The sample for this study included students (n = 3,203) who graduated with a standard diploma from the PSS in 2012. Data used in this study included individual characteristics (i.e., disability status, disability type, age, gender, and race-ethnicity) and educational characteristics (i.e., cumulative GPA, and course credits earned) retrieved from the PSS electronic student information system (SIS). I reviewed all diploma waiver packets submitted in 2012 for students with and without disabilities (n = 182), and conducted a more in-depth analysis of the waiver packets submitted for students with disabilities (n = 79) to identify the rationales for requesting the waiver of one or more of the requirements for the standard diploma.

## Significance of the Study

Since the 1980s, state leaders have worked to increase the minimum requirements necessary for students to graduate with a standard diploma. These increases in educational requirement have had a significant impact on students with disabilities. Research has shown that a greater number of students with disabilities exit school through alternate pathways than their non-disabled counterparts (Rumberger, 2011; Zhang, 2009). Because this study focused on the factors that may influence students with disabilities meeting graduation requirements, it adds to the current literature base on the effects of increased educational standards, increased graduation requirements, and diploma options offered to students with disabilities. Expanding our understanding of the relationship between increased graduation requirements and the ability of students with disabilities to earn a standard diploma has significant implications for multiple stakeholders; including policymakers, administrators, parents, and students. This study also helps to inform future decisions of educational policy makers and administrators by identifying the rationales and specific factors that predict the receipt of a waiver of the requirements for receiving a standard diploma.

### **Definition of Key Terms**

*Accountability*: pertaining to the field of education, the practice of holding schools, school systems, students, teachers, and administrators responsible for the academic performance of students

*Alternate diploma*: a credential, often termed a "non-standard" diploma, issued by a high school that typically has fewer requirements than the standard diploma or provides exemptions to a specific requirement (e.g., includes the certificate of completion, certificate of attendance, special education or Individual Education Program [IEP] diploma, modified diploma, occupational diploma, or vocational diploma) *Carnegie credit*: a unit used to measure the high school credits a student has earned or must earn to complete a specific course of study

*Common Core State Standards*: a state-led educational initiative, coordinated by the National Governors Association (NGA) and the Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO), to adopt a set of rigorous K-12 standards in English language arts and mathematics in the U.S.

*Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA)*: federal legislation that funds education for both elementary and secondary schools in the U.S. and emphasizes equal access to education for all children

*End-of-course exam*: an exam, taken upon completion of a course, based upon specific educational standards that align with the content of a specific high school course of study *Exit exam*: an assessment or exam (also termed a "graduation exam" or "high school exit exam") that requires the student to achieve a certain score or proficiency level to graduate from high school and earn a standard diploma.

*High school diploma*: a credential (also termed a "standard" or "regular" diploma), awarded by a high school after the successful completion of minimum academic requirements, that graduates can use to gain entry into a postsecondary institution or to demonstrate their eligibility for employment

*High school graduation*: achieved when a student successfully meets all minimum requirements for completion of high school and receives a diploma

*High-stakes test*: an assessment whose results can affect a student's ability to graduate with a standard diploma, proceed to the next grade, or attain admission to an educational program

*Honors diploma*: a credential awarded by a high school after the successful completion of minimum academic requirements and additional academic conditions that typically include a certain grade point average or supplemental coursework

*Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA)*: federal legislation that outlines the requirements for providing special education services to students with disabilities

*Individual Education Program (IEP) team*: defined by IDEA as the team that decides a student's individual educational course of study, typically made up of a parent, one regular educator, a special educator, school administrator, student (if appropriate), and any additional educational personnel, as needed, to discuss the student's program

*Interstate Compact for Educational Opportunities for Military Children*: Provides for the uniform treatment of military children transferring between school districts to minimize the impact of frequent school transition. The Council of State Governments' National Center for Interstate Compacts, the Department of Defense, national associations, federal and state officials, the Department of Education of each state, school administrators, and military families worked together to develop the Compact.

The No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (NCLB): the 2001 reauthorization of ESEA that

emphasizes high educational standards and accountability in public schools

*Post-school outcomes*: goals and achievements that a student typically accomplishes following graduation from or completion of high school (e.g., postsecondary education, employment, independent living, and community involvement)

*Postsecondary education*: education pursued after graduating from high school that may take place in a range of settings (e.g., colleges, technical schools, universities, trade schools, and vocational programs)

*Required course*: an academic course that students must complete to earn the standard diploma (e.g., English Language Arts, Social Studies, Mathematics, Science, Foreign Languages or World Languages, Professional Technical Studies, Physical Education, Fine Arts, and Health Education)

*Special education course*: a specific K-12 course taught outside the general education setting by special educators

*Standard diploma*: a credential issued by a high school to a student who completes all minimum academic requirements

*Standards-based reform*: educational reform movement that emphasizes student performance measured against a set of rigorous academic performance standards *Student with a disability*: a student who is eligible to receive special education services in the PSS and has a disability, to include autism, deaf-blindness, deafness, hearing impairment, intellectual disability, orthopedic impairment, other health impairment, emotional disturbance, specific learning disability, speech or language impairment, traumatic brain injury, visual impairment, or development delay

*Student management system*: an electronic system or database that stores individual student data that schools can retrieve frequently and store for a period of years (e.g., demographic, discipline records, health records, grades, educational transcript, and parent information)

*Waiver*: an official exception to the traditional graduation requirements for the standard diploma

#### **Chapter II: Review of Literature**

# Introduction

Traditionally, obtaining a high school diploma in U.S. schools today is a precursor to accessing the postsecondary educational options (e.g., four-year university, two-year community college) necessary to be competitive in the global business market. Fifty years ago, unskilled positions comprised over 73% of the job market. To access these positions, candidates did not need to have a high school diploma or a postsecondary degree (National Collaborative on Workforce and Dignity, 2009). However, by the 20<sup>th</sup> century, over 70% of jobs required skilled labor, and all employees had to have advanced education degrees. The National Collaborative on Workforce and Dignity estimated that in the 21st century, two-thirds of all new jobs created in the U.S. would require advanced education from a two-year or four-year college or university. To access such advanced educational options, students must earn a high school diploma. To ensure that students attain maximum high school graduation rates, it is important for school leaders and educational policy makers to understand those factors associated with the successful completion of the minimum graduation requirements for earning the diploma, particularly among students with disabilities.

In this chapter, I reviewed the relevant literature pertaining to high school graduation for students with disabilities. This chapter is divided into the following main sections: a) obtaining a high school diploma; b) overview of policy and increased educational standards; c) minimum requirements and diploma options; and e) critical review of empirical research studies.

20

#### **Obtaining a High School Diploma**

A review of literature from the past 30 years revealed extensive research on the negative effects of dropping out and failing to earn a diploma (Amos, 2008; Blackbory & Wagner, 1996; Rumberger, 2011; Wagner et al., 1991; Wagner, 2006). Researchers also have explored the long-term effects of dropping out of high school on students' with disabilities. These effects included reduced lifetime earnings, limited options for employment, and increased criminal activity (Alliance for Excellent Education, 2009; Landford & Cary, 2000; Rumberger, 2011; Wagner et al., 1991).

In 2008, the median income of individuals aged 18 through 67 who had not completed high school was roughly \$23,000 (U.S. Department of Commerce, 2009), compared to \$42,000 for students who possessed a high school credential (i.e., a diploma or GED)—a difference of \$19,000.00. The Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) 2010 data showed that individuals who did not graduate high school represented eight percent of the working population. The data also indicated that individuals without a high school diploma were more likely to become unemployed ((Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2010)). In 2010, the U.S. Department of Labor confirmed that a majority of unemployed adults had failed to earn a high school diploma.

The role that a high school diploma plays in expanding the postsecondary career options for students with disabilities cannot be underestimated. Students cannot seek to enroll in postsecondary institutions without first earning a high school diploma—a minimum requirement for acceptance into any two- or four-year college or university. Failing to earn a postsecondary degree significantly limits an individual's range of career options. It is no surprise that in today's global economy, a need exists for a more highly skilled and trained workforce that has at least completed high school and earned a diploma—particularly in light of the reduced opportunities in the 21<sup>st</sup> century for blue-collar jobs.

Since the mid-1980s, educational policy makers and researchers have focused their attention on improving the postsecondary school outcomes for individuals with disabilities; these efforts included increasing opportunities for employment and independent living (National Council on Disability, 2000). To narrow, and eventually close, the employment and income gaps that currently exist between individuals with and without disabilities, policy makers must increase the range of available postsecondary options, particularly in two- and four-year colleges and universities (Dickinson & Verbeck, 2002; Horn & Carroll, 1997; Vogel & Adelman, 2000). Since 2000, several special education researchers have found a positive correlation between college attendance, higher salaries, and increased lifetime wages for individuals with disabilities (Dickinson & Verbeck, 2002; Madaus, 2006; Vogel & Adelman, 1992; Wehman & Yasuda, 2005). Madaus (2006) found that individuals with learning disabilities who graduated from a two-year or four-year college were more likely to have full-time employment, earn between \$30,000 and \$40,000 a year, and receive full employee benefits.

To underscore the importance of such educational attainment, the National Council on Disability (2004b) has stated in several reports that, "whenever possible, higher education is key to the economic prospects and aspirations for independence of youth with disabilities" (p. 69), and noted that "education and training after high school is becoming more important for all students, especially for students with disabilities" (National Council on Disability, 2004a, p. 52).

#### **Overview of Policy and Increased Educational Standards**

Educational policies have changed significantly over the past 25 years, and these changes have had a considerable impact on all students in the United States. Some of the most notable policy changes have (a) established the inclusion in accountability systems for students with disabilities and (b) increased in the requirements necessary to earn a high school diploma.

This increased focus on higher graduation rates and rigorous graduation requirements began in 1983, under the Reagan administration. That year, the federal government convened the National Commission on Excellence in Education. This commission developed the infamous publication *A Nation at Risk* (U.S. Department of Education, 1983), a report that criticized the educational system for producing less than average results and announced that American students were falling behind youth from other countries. In addition to addressing the poor national high school graduation rate, the report identified several strategies for making immediate improvements in the educational system. These recommendations included strengthening high school graduation requirements, adopting higher and measurable standards of academic excellence, increasing time spent on teaching, and raising teacher performance standards (U.S. Department of Education, 1983).

America 2000. In 1991, then President George Bush responded to many years of debate regarding low graduation rates by partnering with the National Governors Association (NGA) to pass America 2000. Through this bill, state and federal leaders

avowed that the U.S. would achieve a 90% graduation rate by the year 2000 (U.S. Department of Education, 1991). President Bush's America 2000 legislation, although well intended, established insurmountable goals, as the nation's educational system had yet to address existing challenges with data gathering procedures, end of course exams, and the implications of multiple diploma options (Dorn, 1996). Ultimately, the Bush Administration designed the policy to improve the graduation rate of all students, rather than to resolve existing inequities in the graduation process that resulted from having multiple graduation options in place since the 1970s (Dorn, 1996).

Goals 2000: Educate America Act of 1994. In 1994, the United States Congress enacted the Goals 2000: Educate America Act in response to the national education goals established during President Bush's 1989 Education Summit (McDonnell, McLaughlin, & Morris, 1997; Goals 2000: Educate America Act, 1994; "What is Goals 2000," 1994). This legislation began the movement toward implementing performance-based standards and the development of statewide assessments by awarding grants to any state that established such programs (Gronna, Jenkins, & Chin-Chance, 1998; Goals 2000: Educate America Act, 1994; "What is Goals 2000," 1994). The two most notable goals of this legislation were to increase the high school graduation rate to 90% and to ensure that 12<sup>th</sup> grade students exited high school with competitive skills in a variety of curricular areas, including English, math, and science (Goals 2000: Educate America Act, 1994; "What is Goals 2000," 1994).

Goals 2000 also mandated the large-scale educational testing of students as a manner of determining educational progress (Heubert & Hauser, 1999). For the first time, the Goals 2000 federal legislation placed an emphasis on providing access to a
standards-based educational program and curriculum to students with and without disabilities (Goals 2000: Educate America Act, 1994). This Act proved a critical turning point in the education of all students, and began an educational movement toward increasing educational standards and the requirements necessary to earn a high school diploma.

The Elementary and Secondary Education Act. The U.S. Congress reauthorized the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) in 1994 and renamed it the Improving America's Schools Act. Federal leaders designed the reauthorized Act to build upon the Goals 2000 legislation and further the national movement toward secondary education reforms, while also instituting important new secondary education accountability requirements for schools (Heubert & Hauser, 1999). In response to the reauthorized legislation, state leaders had to develop their own educational assessments for Title I students that would align with state educational standards in content and educational performance. Ideally, these changes would "enable schools to provide opportunities for children served to acquire the knowledge and skills contained in the challenging content standards and to meet challenging state performance for all children" (Improving America's Schools Act, 1994, 20 U.S.C. section 6301(d)).

Additionally, the ESEA required the Secretary of Education to provide an annual report identifying the number of students who dropped out of secondary school (Richmond, 2009); however, the requirement did not include the annual student graduation rate. A number of authors have discussed the importance of identifying the number of students who drop out of U.S. schools each year (e.g., Barton, 2005; Catterall, 1987; Dunn, Chambers, & Rabren, 2004; Kaufman, Alt, & Chapman, 2004); however,

these studies omitted key information, like the number of students graduating on-time, the type of diploma graduates earned, and the number of students who did not complete school for reasons other than dropping out (Richmond, 2009).

**1997 IDEA amendments.** In 1997, President Bill Clinton signed into law the IDEA Amendments; described by many special education stakeholders as the most significant amendments since IDEA's inception in 1975 (Yell & Shriner, 2006). The legislation included a variety of new accountability provisions, including a provision requiring states to develop performance goals and indicators for students with disabilities and report student progress toward meeting these goals to both the public and federal government in a transparent manner (IDEA, 1997, Section 612(a)(17)(B)).

Many stakeholders viewed the inclusion of these new accountability provisions for students with disabilities as an important step forward in defending the rights of children with disabilities and maintaining high educational expectations for all students (Thurlow & Johnson, 2000). The legislation required that states hold students with disabilities to the same educational standards as students without disabilities, which guaranteed these students increased access to the general education curriculum, and ultimately improved classroom instruction because the amendment mandated that educators teach them the material covered on local and state exams (McDonnell et al., 1997).

The No Child Left Behind Act. In 2001, Congress reauthorized the ESEA and again changed the accountability requirements for schools in the United States (McLaughlin & Thurlow, 2003). The reauthorization, termed the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB), mandated that all public schools bring every student up to state standards in reading, math, and science within a certain period of time, and play and active role in closing the achievement gaps based on race, ethnicity, and language (Cohen, 2002; No Child Left Behind Act, 2001; Yell, 2012).

Although debates had raged over several years about the effectiveness of NCLB and its ability to improve educational outcomes for students and increase the U.S. high school completion rates (No Child Left Behind, 2001); the passage of NCLB resulted in at least one significant event: For the first time since the 1960s, when parent advocates and educational legislators first sought to protect the rights of all students, federal policy required the inclusion of data regarding students with disabilities as part of the local education agency (LEA) and state education agency (SEA) educational accountability requirements. To comply with NCLB, schools had to conduct annual assessments of students with disabilities based upon rigorous performance standards, and the results would help educational leaders determine if individual schools and districts had met NCLB's accountability requirements (Yell, 2012). However, NCLB statutes did not mandate that state leaders use such assessments to make graduation decisions, which would classify them as having high stakes for students (Johnson et al., 2007). The federal legislations did impose high stakes on systems and required all districts and states to include the graduation rate for all student subgroups (including students with disabilities) in adequate yearly progress (AYP) calculations (Johnson et al., 2007). Schools that failed to make AYP could face several consequences, including allowing students to transfer to other schools, offering supplemental educational services provided by an outside organization, replacing staff and other corrective actions, and perhaps ultimately, restructuring of the school (Goertz & Duffy, 2003).

The reauthorization of ESEA increased the emphasis on accountability for all students, including students with disabilities (Thurlow, 2004). The inclusion of all students in state and district accountability systems furthered the national movement for increased educational expectations for student with disabilities (McDonnell et al., 1997). It is not surprising that soon after the implementation of NCLB, many schools across the United States failed to make AYP due to the performance of students with disabilities (Center on Education Policy, 2009a). In fact, in 2003, the U.S. Department of Education made the decision to change policy and allow exceptions for certain groups of students with disabilities. The 2003 exception, commonly known as the 1% rule, allowed schools to test students with significant cognitive disabilities using alternate assessment aligned to alternate standards, but districts could count no greater than 1% of the passing scores toward AYP calculations.

In 2005, the federal government implemented a second exception, known as the 2% rule. This rule allowed schools to use alternate assessments aligned to alternate standards to test students without significant cognitive disabilities. Like the previous exception, schools could count no more than 2% of the passing scores on these assessments toward AYP calculations. By 2009, only eight states had offered students the alternate assessment based on modified standards (Albus, Lazarus, Thurlow, & Cormier, 2009). In 2011, U.S. Secretary of Education Arne Duncan rescinded the 2% rule, stating that the policy masked student performance and weakened accountability (U.S. Department of Education, 2011). Duncan further stated that the federal government would not develop a replacement policy, but instead would raise the educational expectations for students with disabilities (U.S. Department of Education, 2011).

With the inception of NCLB, states became responsible for identifying and publicly reporting the annual high school graduation rate for students both with and without disabilities. The challenge nationally became the interpretation of these data and the comparison of graduation rates from one state to another. Without the identification of a nationally consistent formula for calculating the number of students who graduated, policy makers have found it impossible to draw such comparisons.

**2004 IDEA reauthorization.** The 2004 IDEA reauthorization aligned with the NCLB provisions in its requirement that state leaders include students with disabilities in state and district assessments (Katsiyannis, Zhang, Ryan, & Jones, 2007). The Act also mandated that state leaders monitor graduation and dropout rates and establish goals for the performance of students with disabilities that aligned with the states' definition of AYP. Alternate assessments also had to align with the states' academic achievement standards or with alternate standards used by the state.

**Common Core State Standards**. In 2004, the U.S. National Governors Association (NGA) and the Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO) coordinated a state led effort to develop Common Core State Standards. The goal of the Common Core project was to reduce the variance in the quality of academic standards in all U.S. schools through the establishment of a consistent national framework for preparing all children for college and success in the workforce (Council of Chief State School Officers, 2012). The standards drew from internationally benchmarked educational standards and evidence that students' mastery of standards in English language arts and mathematics would result in better student preparedness for entry into college and the workforce. The standards provided consistent, clear guidelines for the course content that students need to learn in K-12 English language arts and mathematics. At the time of this study, 45 states, the District of Columbia, four territories, and the PSS had adopted the Common Core State Standards (Common Core State Standards Initiative, 2013). According to Achieve (2012) and the Council of Chief State School Officers, all English and mathematics instruction in states that have adopted the Common Core Standards will reflect the Common Core Standards by 2015.

**Summary of policies.** Changes instituted in federal laws and regulations over the past 25 years have required that states hold high schools accountable for increasing graduation rates for all students (including students with and without disabilities). It is important to note that this graduation rate excluded students who graduated through alternative means without meeting the minimum requirements necessary to earn a standard diploma. I discuss these alternative diploma options later in this chapter. Even though the NCLB (2001) did not have jurisdiction over states' graduation requirements, the Act did require that high schools report their graduation rate as an additional measure of educational accountability (Sec. 111(b)(2)(c)(vi)).

## Minimum Requirements and Diploma Options

SEAs and LEAs across the U.S. have established a wide range of minimum graduation requirements and diploma options. States vary in their locus of control in their identification of the minimum requirements necessary for students to graduate with a high school diploma (commonly referred to as the *standard high school diploma*). Johnson, Thurlow, and Stout (2007) identified six different types of arrangements that SEAs and LEAs employed:

- the SEA provided minimum requirements, and the LEA added to them (34 states);
- the state provided minimum requirements, and the LEAs did not add to them (8 states);
- the state provided guidelines, and the LEAs set their own requirements (4 states);
- 4. the state provided no guidelines, and the LEAs set their own requirements (1 state);
- the state provided no guidelines, and IEP teams established requirements (2 states);
- 6. state was in transition from local to statewide assessments (1 state); and
- 7. no response received from state (1 state).

A comparison of surveys by Johnson and Thurlow (2003) and Johnson, Thurlow, and Stout (2007) revealed that by 2007, the codification of graduation requirements and policies increasingly took place at the state, rather than the LEA level. Additionally, Johnson et al. (2007) found that the minimum requirements necessary to earn the standard diploma had increased in 28 states. Requirements for the standard diploma included completing specific courses, earning minimum credits, attaining a specific GPA, and passing an exit exam (Johnson & Thurlow, 2007). As of the 2009-2010 school year, more than 25 states required students to pass exit exams to receive a high school diploma (Center on Education Policy, 2010).

Since the beginning of the standards-based education movement in the early 1990s, SEAs have experimented with a range of diploma options for students with and

without disabilities. These experimentations resulted from educational leaders' efforts to address the diversity of students' educational abilities and individual needs, while extending to these students a highly rigorous exit credential known as the standard high school diploma (Dorn, 1996, 2003; Labaree, 1988). Educational leaders across the U.S. have responded to this challenge by creating new categories of diploma options for students with and without disabilities who are unable to meet the requirements necessary to receive a standard diploma (Johnson, Thurlow, & Stout, 2007).

Thurlow et al. (2010) found that states also had inconsistent policies that addressed the process of requesting an alternative diploma. According to the study, some states used the term *waiver* to describe the process of requesting an exception to the graduation requirements necessary to earn the standard diploma (Thurlow et al., 2010). Other states used the term to describe an alternative route to the standard diploma. This inconsistency contributes to the difficulty in identifying both the types of available diploma options and the various processes states have established for requesting and approving these options. For the purposes of this study, I will employ the term *alternate diploma* to describe the product of any variance from the requirements necessary to earn a standard diploma.

Typically, school representatives must make a request to their state or district on their student's behalf before a student can receive an alternative diploma. In the majority of the states where the alternate diploma is only available to students with disabilities (13 states), the IEP team makes the request and documents their appeal in each student's file. Thurlow et al. (2010) found that in a minority of the states, a district or school official made the request for the alternative diploma on the student's behalf. The provisions identified for an alternate route can include exceptions from minimum course credit requirements, specific courses, or state exit exams.

Studies conducted since the mid-1990s have identified a number of alternatives to the standard diploma; including diplomas of high distinction, honors diplomas, certificates of completion, certificates of attendance, IEP diplomas for students with disabilities, occupational diplomas, and others (Achieve, 2011; Guy et al., 1999; Johnson et al., 2007; Johnson et al., 2009; Steinberg & Almeida, 2008; Thurlow et al., 1995; Thurlow et al., 2010). A study by Johnson, Stout, and Thurlow (2009), identified the following diploma options for all students (with and without disabilities):

- 16 states offered an honors diploma,
- six states offered a special education or IEP diploma,
- 19 states provided a certificate of attendance,
- 10 states had a certificate of achievement,
- three states offered an occupational diploma,
- and 10 states provided additional variances of these diploma options.

The authors identified 18 states that offered only a single diploma option to students with and without disabilities (Johnson et al., 2009). The majority of states (n = 33) offered a range of diploma options, with Washington and Maryland offering the highest number of alternatives, nine and five, respectively (Thurlow et al., 2010). Johnson and Thurlow (2010) acknowledged that the data summarizing the alternatives to the standard diploma were likely to change frequently, in response to ongoing state efficiencies and reviews of states' graduation data.

In a study of the diploma options offered to students with and without disabilities in all 26 states that required exit exams, Thurlow et al. (2010) found that 10 states (Alaska, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Massachusetts, New Jersey, New York, Ohio, Texas, and Washington) offered separate diploma options for all students (including students with disabilities). Only three states (Indiana, Mississippi, and Virginia) offered alternate routes for all students, and an additional six states (California, Idaho, Louisiana, Minnesota, New Mexico, and North Carolina) offered alternate routes only for students with disabilities.

Thurlow et al. (2010) also found that a greater number of alternatives to the standard diploma were available in states that required students to take either end-of-course exams or one final exit exam to successfully complete the conditions for earning the standard diploma. Krentz et al. (2005) similarly concluded that these new testing requirements had led to increases in the number of states that offered an alternative diploma. The Krentz et al. study served to highlight a positive correlation between the number of states requiring new end-of-course or exit exams and the types of alternative diploma routes offered to students.

Research indicates that the process of accessing an alternate diploma varies across states. Some state leaders have mandated that students must first take the requisite high school exit exam before they can receive an alternate diploma. This requirement further highlights the disparity between educational standards established for students with disabilities and those developed for students without disabilities. Additionally, Thurlow et al. (2010) found that less than one-fourth of the states with exit exams required students with disabilities to take the exam prior to requesting an alternate diploma. The variety of diploma options offered in U.S. schools has been a controversial and highly debated topic since alternate diploma options first became available. Proponents of a standard diploma have suggested that one consistent diploma would reinforce high expectations for student achievement and reenergize the value of the high school diploma in the 21<sup>st</sup> century labor market (Johnson et al., 2009; Phillips, 1993; Thurlow & Thompson, 1999). Proponents of an alternative to the standard diploma suggest that taking additional courses would result in the identification of contentspecific endorsements (i.e., auto-mechanics, computer science) and make more students marketable (Benz et al., 2000); adding that the alternate diploma option could be appropriate for a number of students, including those with disabilities.

Researchers have found that support for multiple diploma options arose from the need to support and advocate for students who have had difficulty passing state exit examinations, a prerequisite to earning the standard diploma in 26 states since 2010 (Center for Education Policy, 2010; Nelson, 2006; Thurlow et al., 2010). Researchers have posited that these alternatives to the standard diploma ideally could motivate students to complete school and prevent them from dropping out (Heubert, 2002; Thurlow & Johnson, 2000). However, the long-term and postsecondary benefit of providing an alternative to the standard diploma remains unclear. At present, researchers have yet to explore the impact of earning an alternative diploma on students with or without disabilities.

Johnson and Thurlow (2007) found that the number of diploma options had decreased in schools throughout the U.S. This trend was likely the result of pressure to align the diploma with content standards and increase the knowledge and skills of students earning a diploma. Despite this decrease, researchers identified an increase in the number of states that allow IEP teams to make graduation requirement decisions, including modifications and changes to minimum requirements (Johnson & Thurlow, 2003; Thurlow et al., 2010). In 2007, the number of states that allowed the IEP team to make graduation decisions increased to 32 from only 13 in 2002 (Johnson & Thurlow, 2003). This national trend has essentially transferred the responsibility for identifying the minimum requirements for graduation from the SEA or LEA level to the local school. At the time of this inquiry, no studies existed that explored the guidance provided by SEAs or LEAs to local school IEP teams or the basis the teams used to make these decisions

## Alternative Diploma Options for Students with Disabilities

Students with disabilities typically have more options for earning a high school diploma than do students without disabilities (Johnson & Thurlow, 2009; Johnson et al., 2007; Thurlow et al., 2010). These alternate routes for students with disabilities, like their non-disabled peers, typically provide exemptions from completing a particular type of curriculum or taking and/or passing an exit exam. Alternative options also may include opportunities for students to demonstrate proficiency through some other means or have one or more of the requirements necessary to earn the standard diploma waived. States have established myriad variations in the number and types of options, alternatives, or allowances made for students with disabilities, which has further complicated efforts to draw comparisons across states and identify national trends.

Reviews of the allowances states have made that enable students with disabilities to earn the standard diploma vary. Johnson et al. (2007) found that the most common allowance, offered by 22 states, involved granting additional time for students to complete required course standards. Approximately one-quarter of states in the U.S. have offered alternates to the traditional course requirements for earning the standard diploma. Only three states (Indiana, Mississippi, and New Hampshire) did not make any allowances to help students with disabilities earn a diploma. Five states reduced the total number of credits required for the standard diploma, while an additional ten states offered lowered performance criteria (Johnson et al., 2007).

Thurlow et al. (2010) found that 18 states offered students with disabilities the option of taking an alternate route to obtaining the diploma without first taking the exit exam. Students only had the option to request an alternate route if they failed to pass the exit exam. As previously discussed, a greater number of states allowed students with disabilities an exception from taking the exit exam and receiving the alternate diploma (Thurlow et al., 2010).

## **Critical Review of Empirical Research Studies**

This section describes the process used to identify relevant studies that explored alternatives to the high school diploma or diploma options offered to all students (with and without disabilities) in U.S. schools. The section also includes a review of the designs, methods, and findings of each study, and a discussion of the strengths and weaknesses of the existing literature found through this process.

**Search methods.** I employed a two-step search process to identify studies related to alternative options to the standard high school diploma. I conducted the initial search through a review of the educational databases ERIC, EBSCO, PSCYCHINFO and Social Science Citation Index at the University of Maryland library. I used the following search terms in different combinations: secondary transcripts, secondary coursework, and diploma options and student coursework. This search resulted in over 300 articles, so I expanded the search descriptors to include the following: diploma options, diploma options for students with disabilities, high academic, state and local district, high school completion, graduation requirements and students with disabilities, and alternate diploma. This narrowed search yielded 21 studies. Ten of the studies focused on all students [with and without disabilities] (Bouck & Washburn-Moses, 2010; Center on Education Policy, 2008; Krentz et al., 2005; McIntosh, 2011; Nord et al., 2011; Planty & Provasnik, 2007; Thurlow et al., 2009; Thurlow et al., 2010; Vernon et al., 2003; Zhang, 2009). An additional 11 studies focused only on students with disabilities (Gaumer Erikson, Kleinhammer-Tramill, & Thurlow, 2007; Johnson et al., 2009; Johnson et al., 2007; Newman et al., 2011; Shaver, Newman, Huang, Yu, & Knokey, 2011; Wagner et al., 2003; Wagner et al., 2003; Wagner et al., 2006; Wagner et al., 2004; Yu et al., 2009).

I then conducted an ancestral search of the 21 studies and reviewed the reference lists of each citation previously included in this chapter. I found six additional studies, two of which focused on students with and without disabilities (Guy et al., 1999; Johnson et al., 2007). The remaining four studies addressed only students with disabilities (Johnson & Thurlow, 2003; Thurlow et al., 1995; Thurlow et al., 1997; Wagner et al., 1991). In total, my search yielded 27 studies, three of which were published in peerreviewed journals (Bouck & Washburn-Moses, 2010; Johnson et al., 2009; Thurlow et al., 2009).

Due to the limited number of studies from peer-reviewed journals, I decided to include all of the empirical studies discovered from the research review process. In the

following sections, I review the designs, methods, and findings of these studies, and discuss the strengths and weaknesses of the existing literature.

I organized the 27 empirical studies into three groups that focused on graduation requirements and diploma options for all students: (a) graduation requirements and diploma options for students with and without disabilities, (b) secondary school experiences and characteristics of students with and without disabilities, and (c) academic performance of students with and without disabilities. Of the studies reviewed in this section, sixteen examined graduation requirements and diploma options (n = 16), four explored secondary school experiences and characteristics (n = 4), and seven investigated academic performance (n = 7).

Graduation requirements and diploma options for students with and without disabilities. The first category of research studies was by far the largest, and included 16 empirical studies. I discovered these studies through the empirical research process by narrowing the search criteria to diploma options, state and local district, and alternate diplomas. Twelve of the studies addressed the graduation requirements and diploma options for all students (with and without disabilities), and an additional four studies focused only on graduation requirements, diploma options, and possible unintended consequences for students with disabilities.

Of the 16 studies, 14 used data gathered through a combination of survey methodologies, including reviews of state websites, state documentation, or interviews with state agency personnel (i.e., directors of special education, state assessment directors). The researchers developed surveys based upon information gleaned from this review process and sent the surveys to state personnel for completion and submission. The two remaining studies used data gathered either from an analysis of data sets or interviews conducted with school counselors from one state. Of the 16 studies that addressed graduation requirements and diploma options for all students, 15 used some form of survey methodology and one (Gaumer Erickson, Kleinhammer-Tramill, & Thurlow, 2007) conducted an analysis of data gathered from several data sets.

*State surveys.* Each of the following 14 studies used similar survey methodology. Four of the studies (Guy et al., 1999; Johnson & Thurlow, 2003; Krentz et al., 2005; Thurlow et al., 1995) used similarly designed studies that they executed and created to build on each of the previous researchers' work conducted between 1995 and 2005.

The first study conducted in this series began in 1995 by Thurlow, Ysseldyke, and Anderson (1995) and identified the graduation requirements and diploma options offered in each state. The researchers gathered data through a review of state documentation on graduation requirements in the form of state statutes or regulations retrieved from each state's department of education. The study included information from all 50 states, 22 of which required further investigation through telephone calls with the states' department of special education to identify policies for students with disabilities (Thurlow et al., 1995).

The study resulted in the compilation of each state's minimum requirements for earning the standard diploma and the minimum requirement of Carnegie credits by curricular area. The minimum credits ranged from 10.25 (Illinois) to 24 credits (Florida and Utah). State policy allowed the LEA to augment these minimum requirements to establish standards that were more stringent. These increased requirements could include increased academic credits and/or successful completion of a high school exit exam (Thurlow et al., 1995). In 1995, 17 states implemented requirements mandating that students had to take some form of exit exam to earn the standard diploma (Thurlow et al., 1995). The study found that all states offered the standard diploma for students with disabilities; however, the minimum requirements for the standard diploma often differed for this student group. Nineteen states required completion of Carnegie credits only, nine states allowed the IEP team to identify the students' graduation criteria, 17 states required successful completion of course credits and passing of the exit exam, and five states' policies were undefined or unclear.

Thurlow et al. (1995) found that few states offered a modified diploma or a certificate for students with disabilities. The authors acknowledged the challenges in gathering this data and noted that each LEA used extensive discretion in establishing minimum graduation requirements and diploma options (Thurlow et al., 1995). This discretion resulted in variances across the states in both the minimum graduation requirements and the type of diploma options available to students with disabilities.

Four years after the Thurlow, Ysseldyke, & Anderson (1995) study; Guy, Shin, Lee, and Thurlow (1999) conducted a follow-up inquiry. The purpose of their study was to update and further clarify high school graduation requirements for students with and without disabilities. Unlike Thurlow et al., Guy et al. conducted one survey of the high school graduation requirements for all students and a second survey that focused on the graduation requirements unique to students with disabilities. The researchers mailed the two surveys between February and August of 1998 to state assessment directors, transition specialists, and special education directors or their designees.

41

Guy et al. (1999) separated their results into four areas: (a) exit options, (b) general graduation requirements, (c) course credit requirements, and (d) graduation exams. They compared their findings with those from the study conducted by Thurlow et al. in 1995, and identified any changes in policies or trends since the 1995 study. The authors noted a wide array of graduation requirement policies in U.S. school systems, and explained the following:

The complexity of the system exits in more than just the requirements that students must meet to earn a standard diploma. It begins with the array of exit options that students have available to them (e.g., certificates of completion, IEP diplomas, honors diplomas), and the specific requirements that must be met to earn each of those types of documents." (Guy et al., 1999, p. 1)

Guy et al. (1999) found that since 1995, over one-third of the states either had changed the number of options for exiting school available to students with disabilities, established new options, or revised the requirements for earning the standard diploma for all students. Within four years, 11 of the 19 states that originally offered the standard diploma as the single exit option for students with disabilities had revised state policies by 1999 to include additional exit options (e.g., certificates). The number of states that required an exit exam as part of the minimum graduation requirement also had increased from 17 to 20 states. The authors also queried state assessment directors about the status of their graduation requirements and future plans for revision. Eighteen of the directors shared plans to revise exit options for students without disabilities, while 23 directors planned to review their policies for students with disabilities (Guy et al., 1999). An additional 16 state representatives reported plans to either review or consider revising their graduation requirements for students without disabilities, and 14 states planned to do so for students with disabilities (Guy et al., 1999). The authors asserted that state leaders must consider the needs of all students, both with and without disabilities, when establishing exit options and requirements for graduating from high school, and suggested that policy makers continue to investigate the unintended consequences of these changes to graduation options.

The study by Guy et al. (1999) concluded with five recommendations for policy makers to consider when establishing high school graduation requirements:

- a) specify the assumptions underlying the graduation policies,
- b) ensure that graduation requirements reflect the variety of knowledge and skills that students are learning in school and will need after high school,
- c) consider the impact that leaving high school without a regular diploma will have on students' postsecondary options,
- allow plenty of time for school leaders to implement changes in requirements, and
- e) make high school graduation decisions on the basis of multiple, relevant sources of information about students' knowledge and skills.

The authors also noted the impact of the education reforms in the late 1990s on state graduation policy, and suggested that policy makers must consider the intended and unintended consequences before implementing changes in the minimum requirements for earning the high school diploma (Guy et al., 1999).

Johnson and Thurlow (2003) conducted a similar study designed to build on the earlier research of Thurlow et al. (1995) and Guy et al. (1999). The authors sought to revise the listing of state graduation policies and graduation options for students with and without disabilities. The researchers anticipated that the revised listing would help to clarify the range of state graduation requirements and diploma options, identify the intended and unintended consequences of requiring students with disabilities to pass exit exams to receive the high school diploma, and ascertain the intended and unintended consequences of the various types of diploma options for students with disabilities (Johnson & Thurlow, 2003). The authors developed a survey instrument that aligned with the two prior studies conducted in 1995 and 1999 (Thurlow et al., 1995; Guy et al., 1999), and included similar state level respondents (i.e., state directors of special education, state assessment personnel). The data collection process included the use of both an online Internet survey and a written copy of the survey, along with phone interviews with the University of Minnesota research staff. Data collection took place between October 2001 and April 2002, with a 92% response rate (Johnson & Thurlow, 2003).

When reporting the results of the study, the authors noted the likelihood that changes in state policies had occurred since the completion of their data collection process. This statement was consisted with language presented in the two previous surveys (Thurlow et al., 1995; Guy et al., 1999), which emphasized the current state of changes to minimum state graduation requirements. The study verified the continued variance and diversity in minimum graduation requirements and diploma options throughout U.S. schools in 2003. The majority of states (n = 31) established minimum

graduation requirements to which LEAs could add their own requirements, while other states established specific requirements that LEAs could not change (Johnson & Thurlow, 2003). Still other states let LEAs establish graduation polices (Johnson &Thurlow, 2003).

State leaders continued to make a range of diploma options available to students with and without disabilities, and only 13 states established the standard diploma as the sole diploma option for all students. Of the states that responded in this study, 34 offered multiple diploma options. Nebraska offered the highest number of alternative diplomas, with seven different diploma options (Johnson & Thurlow, 2003). The study revealed six main types of diploma options, including an honors diploma, a regular/standard diploma, an IEP/special education diploma, a certificate of attendance, a certificate of achievement, and an occupation diploma. A few states also offered an additional "other" diploma option for students (Johnson & Thurlow, 2003).

Johnson and Thurlow (2003) found that the number of states that required an exit exam for students to receive the standard diploma had increased to 27 since the two earlier studies. As mentioned above, Thurlow et al. (1995) identified 16 states, and Guy et al. (1999) identified 20 states. Johnson and Thurlow also noted that some confusion was apparent in the different definitions of an exit exam. The authors identified the states that required students to pass an exit test as a requirement for earning the standard diploma. Some states also required exams to earn mastery certificates (Oregon), special endorsements (Arizona), or a diploma with honors (Ohio; Johnson & Thurlow, 2003).

Johnson and Thurlow (2003) identified several intended and unintended consequences of state graduation requirements and diploma options. The authors found that important unintended consequences of requiring students with disabilities to pass exit exams to receive the standard diploma included an increase in the number of students that failed to receive a diploma, higher dropout rates, a decrease in the number of students that graduated on time, and increased need to create alternative diplomas (Johnson & Thurlow, 2003). Johnson and Thurlow also identified several unintended consequences of providing a single diploma option, including increased dropout rates for students who could not meet the standard graduation requirements, the perception of the standard diploma as too general, and an increase in the number of special education students who remained in school because they could not meet minimum graduation requirements.

Johnson and Thurlow (2003) asserted that alternative diploma options had multiple unintended consequences. These consequences included lower expectations for some students with disabilities; the view that other diplomas were substandard; perceptions that multiple diplomas equated to special tracks for students to follow and made, access to the general education curriculum less attainable, and restrictions on postsecondary education and employment options (Johnson & Thurlow, 2003).

Krentz, Thurlow, Shyyan, and Scott (2005) conducted a fourth study that aligned with the objectives and purposes of these first three inquiries. Krentz et al. reviewed state websites for information about graduation examinations and details of alternate routes for obtaining the standard diploma for students with and without disabilities. The authors compiled the information into a table and mailed it to state assessment directors for verification. They followed up with these contacts via email and fax, and all but four state representatives responded. The study also analyzed the comparability of each alternate route with the states' standard route to earn the standard diploma. The authors again mailed this comparison data to each state contact for review and verification. All but two contacts responded.

Krentz et al. (2005) also found that 27 states had implemented mandatory exit exams and required that students pass the exam to receive the standard diploma. Of the states that required an exit exam (n = 27), 16 offered an alternate route to a standard diploma, and four states did not provide an alternate route. The authors labeled the remaining seven states as "test not active and no plans yet" (Krentz et al., 2005, p. 10). The authors found that most states offered two alternate routes to the diploma—one for all students (to include students with disabilities) and another only for students with disabilities. Of those states that provided an alternate route to the diploma (n = 16), 13 offered the option to all students (including students with disabilities), and three states only made the option available to students with disabilities (Krentz et al., 2005).

Krentz et al. (2005) found that in most states, students typically only accessed an alternative route to the standard diploma after they or their representative had made a formal request and received approval at some level. Students with disabilities received accessed to and approval for an alternate route by the school IEP team more frequently than students without disabilities (Krentz et al., 2005). Consequently, students without disabilities frequently received a request to access the alternate diploma route from the student or parent themselves, rather than the school requesting this diploma route for students with disabilities (Krentz et al., 2005).

Krentz et al. (2005) also identified many variations in the nature of the alternative routes for students with and without disabilities. In general, however, the authors concluded that options for students with disabilities were significantly different than those available for all students. For example, of the 13 states that offered an alternate route to the diploma to all students, 6 required all students to fail the state exit exam before pursuing alternative options, and 5 states required students with disabilities to first fail the exit exam (Krentz et al., 2005). The authors concluded the study with several recommendations for alternate routes to the standard diploma. They identified a significant disparity between the diploma options available to students with and without disabilities, which ultimately reinforced the perception that students with disabilities could not meet the required educational standards established by states and districts.

Johnson, Thurlow, and Stout (2007) sought to update the status of states' graduation policies across the U.S. for students with and without disabilities and explore the impact of offering multiple diploma options for students with disabilities. The authors collected data through a survey of state directors of special education in all 50 states and the District of Columbia, and completed the study just after the implementation of the reauthorization of ESEA. Their results indicated that fewer states required students to pass exit exams to earn the standard diploma. In addition, several states had reduced their use of the IEP diploma and had expanded other options to include the honors diploma. The authors found a significant variance between the diploma options available to students with disabilities and those available to students without disabilities.

As in earlier studies, Johnson et al. (2007) noted that the majority of states (n = 34) continued to identify minimum graduation requirements at the SEA level, while allowing LEAs the option of adding to the requirements. Since 2002, 28 states raised the minimum graduation requirements for the standard diploma for students with and without disabilities, while only one state (Kentucky) raised the requirements for students with

48

disabilities (Johnson et al., 2007). The authors acknowledged continued variance throughout U.S. high schools and noted that states were "experimenting with alternative diploma options" (Johnson et al., 2007, p. 15).

Johnson et al. (2007) also identified variances in allowances made so that students with disabilities could receive a standard diploma. This study was one of the first to highlight this important distinction. These allowances included holding all students to the same graduation standards, reducing the minimum number of Carnegie credits, offering students alternate courses, decreasing the level of performance criteria, permitting school IEP teams to develop individually-based allowances, granting extensions to the time required for course completion, and other alternative (Johnson et al., 2007). The most common allowance made by states for students with disabilities (n = 32) was permitting the school-level IEP team to make graduation decisions based upon an individual student's abilities or the impact of the student's disability on their ability to meet educational requirements (Johnson et al., 2007). The authors also found that many states (n = 14) documented an increase in the number of accommodations available for students with disabilities to take state exit exams (Johnson et al., 2007).

Thurlow, Cormier, and Vang (2009) examined the alternate routes that states established for students with and without disabilities to earn the standard diploma. The authors found that although the alternate routes were relatively consistent in terms of established requirements for earning the alternate diploma; the options were not consistent for students with disabilities. Overall, the number of alternate routes that required students to meet the same performance standards was greater for all students [19 of 23, 83%] than for students with disabilities [6 of 23, 26%] (Thurlow et al., 2009). This finding suggested that states did not require students with disabilities to meet the same performance standards established for general education students.

Unlike the Krentz et al. (2005) study, which identified 12 alternate routes for all students (with and without disabilities) and 14 routes for students with disabilities, Thurlow et al. (2009) identified 23 alternate routes for all students and an additional 23 routes just for students with disabilities. The authors found that although there was an increase in the number of states offering alternate routes, the states offered no new types of alternate routes to the standard diploma (Thurlow et al., 2009). The authors also identified the GED as an alternative route to the standard diploma. Thurlow et al. reported, "By using the GED as an alternate route to the standard diploma, which is counted toward the graduation rate, the GED essentially has become a legitimate way to earn a diploma and be considered a graduate" (p. 146).

Thurlow, Vang & Cormier (2010) conducted a study similar to the Krentz et al. (2005) analysis of alternate routes that states provided to all students (with and without disabilities). The researchers conducted an online search of state websites between June and August of 2008 to explore state graduation requirements. They compiled their findings into tables and emailed the data to state directors for verification. They contacted all states during the verification process. Thurlow et al. focused on examining the alternate routes to earning the standard high school diploma that did not involve passing the high school exit exam during the 2008-09 school year. The researchers focused on the 26 states with exit exams, and discovered that 19 states had established one or more alternate routes, while seven had no alternate routes available (Thurlow et al., 2010). The authors also found that 10 of these 19 states had established separate

routes for all students (with and without disabilities) and for students with disabilities. According to their findings, three states offered alternate routes for all students and six states made alternate routes available only to students with disabilities (Thurlow et al., 2010). The authors acknowledged the difficulties they experienced when trying to discern the types of alternate routes, and attributed these challenges, in part, to the variance in the terminology used to identify the alternate routes in states and schools across the U.S. As Thurlow et al. explained, these differences made it difficult to, "find some of the most basic information about the route" (p. ii).

Consistent with the findings of earlier research presented in this section, Thurlow et al. (2010) found significant variability in the process of requesting and approving alternative routes to the standard high school diploma continues throughout schools in the U. S. States with exit exams continued to provide more alternate routes to the standard diploma than states that did not require an exit exam (Thurlow et al., 2010).

Vernon et al., (2003) conducted a similar study of state websites to explore diploma options available to all students, the requirements for passing exit exams to earn the standard high school diploma, and the additional diploma options afforded to students with disabilities. This study originally began in 2001 as a class project for doctoral students asked to review state website information and verify collected data with state officials via e-mail and telephone. The authors reported the following types of diploma options: standard diploma (n = 50), certificate (n = 27), honors diploma (n = 23), IEP/special diploma (n = 12), technical, vocational diploma (n = 7), and other options (n = 14; Vernon et al., 2003). Forty-eight percent of the states required an end-of-course exam, and many offered some type of alternative diploma when students failed to meet testing requirements (Vernon et al., 2003). The authors did not include specific details of the states in the study. Consistent with research reported in this chapter, the authors of this study often found the descriptions for diploma options to be unclear and misleading.

Johnson, Thurlow, Stout, and Mavis (2007) conducted research on the diploma options offered in each U.S. state for all students (with and without disabilities), states' use of exit exams, and policies identified specifically for students with disabilities. The authors compared their findings with those of an earlier 2002 survey study (Johnson et al., 2003). Johnson et al. (2007) conducted the inquiry using online surveys completed over a two-year period (2006-2007) by state directors of special education at a response rate of one hundred percent.

Johnson et al. (2007) found that 21 states required all students (with and without disabilities) to pass an exit exam to receive a standard high school diploma, and an additional three states required only students without disabilities to pass the exit exam. Overall, 24 states reported required an exit exam, down from 27 states in 2003 (Johnson & Thurlow, 2003), and 20 states in 1999 (Guy et al., 1999). Johnson et al. (2007) revealed that, across the states, diploma options included the honors diploma, regular/standard diploma, IEP/special education diploma, certificates of attendance, certificates of achievement, occupational diplomas, and other variations. Thirty-three states offered multiple diploma options to all students (with and without disabilities), with five being the highest number of alternate diplomas offered by one state (Oregon; Johnson et al., 2007).

Johnson et al. (2007) identified the available options for all students (with and without disabilities) who were unable to pass the required exit exam. Eighteen states

allowed students to retake the exit exam, four offered an alternate form of the exam, and five states afforded students the opportunity to petition for an exemption from the test and still receive the standard diploma (Johnson et al., 2007). The authors also identified the required passing rate (or score) for exit exams. Eighteen states reported requiring the same minimum passing rate for students with and without disabilities (Johnson et al., 2007). However, four states (Minnesota, New Mexico, New York, and Washington) identified different passing scores for students without disabilities and students with disabilities (Johnson et al., 2007). Additionally, four states (Arizona, Idaho, New York, and Washington) also administered a separate test to different student groups. Johnson et al. concluded that the national trend of using exit exams as a requirement for receiving the standard high school diploma had been "leveling off" (p. 60), and cited research conducted since 1995 (Thurlow et al., 1995; Guy et al., 1999; Johnson & Thurlow, 2003; Krentz et al., 2005).

Since 2002, the Center on Education Policy (CEP), an independent nonprofit organization located in Washington, D.C., has studied state high school exit exams and their impact on students' ability to earn the regular high school diploma. Between 2008 and 2011, the CEP also provided data on alternate paths to receiving the diploma. In 2008, the annual CEP report found that states continued to develop new paths to earning the high school diploma, while also modifying the procedures currently in place for these alternative paths (Center on Education Policy, 2008).

Each of the 23 states that withheld the diploma when students did not pass the mandated high school exit exam had established alternative paths to the standard diploma (CEP, 2008). Additionally, 18 states had alternate paths for students without disabilities

and three for English language learners (CEP, 2008). The study also reported that of the states that offered an alternative diploma, 50% provided information on the percentage of students that completed high school with the alternate diploma in 2007 (CEP, 2008). As part of their review of each state's graduation policies and requirements, the researchers found that a greater number of students with disabilities earned an alternate diploma than did students without disabilities (CEP, 2008). In Mississippi, for example, a significant number of students (62%) with disabilities graduated in 2007 with a certificate of completion or an occupational diploma.

The CEP study revealed that the majority of states did not report annual data on the number of students with or without disabilities that earned an alternative diploma. Researchers have yet to explore or document the true impact of state exit exams and the provision of an alternative diploma on the postsecondary success of all students.

The 2009 CEP annual report identified similar findings to that of the 2008 report exploring alternative paths to graduation for students with and without disabilities. Based upon the results of a survey administered to state department of education officials in all 26 states that required an exit exam, the report revealed that 19 states identified alternative pathways for students without disabilities, 22 established alternate routes for students with disabilities, and two provided alternative options for English language learners (Zhang, 2009). Many states that required an exit exam for the standard diploma established options specific to students with disabilities. For example, 14 states established alternative assessments, and 11 states offered waivers for students having difficulty passing the exam (Zhang, 2009). Zhang also noted that the limited availability of information on students with disabilities because the IEP teams at the local school level typically made decisions about graduation options, and most states did not collect these data.

The second part of the Zhang (2009) study included an interview of state department of education officials' in three states chosen for their development of alternative pathways to the diploma, public discussions surrounding exit exams, and the instability of high school assessment and graduation policies. The states that participated in the study (Maryland, New Jersey, and Washington) revealed that they relied heavily on the recommendations made by state advisory committees, both in the design and implementation of alternative pathways to the diploma for students with and without disabilities (Zhang, 2009). Each state revealed the challenge of providing a flexible process for earning the diploma and meeting individual student needs while addressing increased pressure to raise the level of educational rigor. State officials also noted the importance of monitoring the use of alternative pathways, providing sufficient training to educators, and communicating to stakeholders all polices regarding the high school diploma (Zhang, 2009).

The 2011 CEP study provided updates to the information included in the 2010 report, and used a similar survey methodology of state department of education officials. Unlike studies from previous years, the 2011 inquiry collected survey data from all fifty states rather than only the 26 states with exit exams. The study found that 25 states required students to pass the state exit exam to earn the standard diploma, while an additional five states mandated that students take the exam without requiring successful completion to receive the standard diploma (McIntosh, 2011). The study revealed that three states (Georgia, North Carolina, and Tennessee) no longer required students to pass

the state exit exam to earn the standard diploma, and instead used students' grade in a required course (McIntosh, 2011). The study did not include the details of the courses required for graduation, but it did identify a national decline in the number of students who had to pass a high school exit exam to receive a standard diploma between the 2009-10 and 2010-11 school years (65% and 74%, respectively; McIntosh, 2011). The author attributed this decline to the ongoing national debate regarding college and career readiness and increased postsecondary options (McIntosh, 2011).

My review of existing literature revealed two additional studies that focused only on graduation requirements for students with disabilities. These inquiries utilized a survey methodology similar to that of the previous 13 studies. In the first study, Thurlow, Ysseldyke, and Reid (1997) conducted a review of statutes and regulations in 50 states regarding graduation requirements for students with and without disabilities. States that did not include language specific to students with disabilities received a follow-up telephone interview to their department of special education.

Thurlow et al. (1997) found that alternate diploma options, referred to as *exit documents*, and requirements for the same types of alternate diploma (e.g., certificate of attendance, waiver) varied from state to state. Thurlow et al. identified a number of diploma options for students with disabilities, including the standard diploma (n = 19), standard diploma or certificate (n = 17), standard or modified diploma (n = 10), and standard diploma, modified diploma, or certificate (n = 4). The authors found that 44 states had increased the minimum number of Carnegie courses required for the standard diploma (Thurlow et al., 1997). Course requirements ranged from 10.25 credits (Illinois) to 24.0 credits (Florida, Utah), with the average ranging from 16 to 20 credits (Thurlow et al.

al., 1997). Additionally, LEAs in several states could establish additional requirements for earning the standard diploma, like an exit exam, competency test, or increased academic requirements. The study noted that 17 states also required an exit exam (Thurlow et al., 1997). States typically reserved the certificate-of-attendance diploma for students with severe to profound disabilities.

Johnson, Stout, and Thurlow (2009) conducted a study to explore the intended and unintended consequences of multiple diploma options and the requirement to pass an exit exam prior to receiving the standard diploma. The authors developed a survey to align the questions with findings from previous studies (Thurlow et al., 1995; Guy et al., 1999; Johnson & Thurlow, 2003), and sent the survey to state directors of special education in all 50 states between May 2006 and April 2007. The researchers had a 100% response rate.

The study revealed that responsibility for establishing minimum graduation requirements differed across the states, and this responsibility contributed to the establishment of a range of graduation requirements and diploma options (Johnson et al., 2009). Although the majority of states kept the responsibility of setting minimum requirements at the state level, in 34 states, the LEA could add to these requirements (Johnson et al., 2009). Additionally, in eight states, the SEA was only responsible for providing guidelines, while the LEA established local district requirements. Eight states did not allow the LEA to add any new requirements (Johnson et al., 2009).

Johnson et al. (2009) also found that nationally, the requirements for earning the standard diploma increased in 28 states for students with and without disabilities. Two states (Idaho and Illinois) increased the requirements only for students without

disabilities, and one state (Kentucky) increased requirements for students with disabilities (Johnson et al., 2009). Johnson et al. found that the range of diploma options for students with and without disabilities was consistent with previous research reported in this chapter, and included the regular/standard diploma (50 states), honors diploma (16 states), IEP/special education diploma (6 states), certificate of attendance (19 states), certificate of achievement (10 states), occupational diploma (3 states), and other variations (10 states).

Johnson et al. (2009) also identified several unintended consequences of requiring students with disabilities to pass exit examinations to receive a standard diploma. Because of this requirement, students often remained in school longer to complete all of the requirements for the standard diploma, schools experienced higher dropout rates, and many students with disabilities were unable to receive the standard diploma (Johnson et al., 2009). Students with disabilities who could not obtain a standard diploma experienced limited access to postsecondary education options because colleges did not place a high value on the alternate diploma (Johnson et al., 2009).

*Other research methods.* During my review of literature, I found two additional studies that used other research methods. In the first study, Gaumer Erickson, Kleinhammer-Tramill, and Thurlow (2007) investigated the relationship between alternative high school diplomas and graduation testing. The study used data retrieved from several data sets compiled by the Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP) in an annual report to Congress on the number of students with disabilities that graduated from high school. The researchers conducted a comparison between students who received a certificate of completion, rather than the standard diploma, those states that

required students to pass an exit exam for receipt of the diploma, and those states that did not require an exit exam for receipt of the diploma. The results indicated that students with disabilities exited without a diploma more frequently than their non-disabled counterparts, and this phenomenon occurred more frequently in states that required a high school exit exam (Gaumer Erickson et al., 2007). The study also revealed that no statistical difference existed in the ethnicity of students with disabilities who received the certificate of attendance. Students of all ethnic groups were more likely to receive certificates of attendance in states that had exit exams in place. Students with mental retardation, multiple disabilities, and autism also were more likely to receive certificates of attendance than other disability types. The authors suggested this finding resulted from the fact that many states reserved the certificate of completion for students with more significant disabilities (Gaumer Erickson et al., 2007).

In 2010, Bouck and Washburn-Moses examined the implementation of the Indiana's high school exit exam waiver policy for students with and without disabilities. The researchers conducted the study via an online survey of high school counselors, and examined the counselors' implementation of the established waiver process. The surveys had a 60% response rate. Bouck and Washburn-Moses found that students without disabilities received a waiver for the exit exam almost as much as students with disabilities (84% and 89%). According to the data collected, participating schools consistently implemented the waiver process; however, the authors did note that several districts in the state added additional waiver requirements to those already established by the state. These additional mandates included requiring special tests or mandating that students or parents initiate the waiver request process (Bouck & Washburn-Moses, 2010). Data on the reason for disparities between the low number of students who applied and the high number of students who failed to pass the exit exam was inconclusive (Bouch & Washburn-Moses, 2010). The authors suggested additional data was necessary to understand this outcome.

**Characteristics and school experiences of secondary students.** The following four studies explored the educational experiences of students with and without disabilities, and examined the type of schools students attended, the classroom environments in which they received educational services, and the types of educational support services they received. I discovered these studies during the empirical research process by narrowing the search criteria to diploma options, state and local district, and alternate diplomas. I included these studies because the research on the characteristics of secondary students with disabilities is limited. This process yielded the following four studies.

Wagner et al. (1991) conducted one of the first empirical studies on the educational performance of secondary students with disabilities. Wagner et al. completed the study for SRI International, as part of the National Longitudinal Transition Study of Special Education Students (NLTS). The researchers collected the NLTS data using multiple methods, including telephone interviews with parents, reviews of students' school records, and surveys of educators. The study sample included more than 8,000 youth with disabilities, ages 13 to 21, who attended secondary school during the 1985-86 school year. This study revealed that the majority of secondary students with disabilities (90%) attended regular education schools with nondisabled students, and determined that schools were usually large, with greater than 1,151 students (Wagner et al., 1991). The
inquiry revealed that students with disabilities completed a combination of academic, nonacademic, and vocational courses; and the majority of students (90%) took a minimum of one academic course during their final year in high school (Wagner et al., 1991). Eighty-six percent of the students took most of these courses in the regular education classroom, and about 17% of students took all classes in the regular education classroom (Wagner et al., 1991).

Wagner et al. (1991) explored the educational performance of students with disabilities during high school through the examination of four variables: absenteeism, course grades, minimum competency test performance, and retention. Overall, the authors found that students with disabilities at the secondary level fared more poorly than their nondisabled counterparts in each area. Secondary school students with disabilities averaged 15 absences in a school year, about one-third did not pass at least one course during their final year in school, and less than half of the students who took the state mandated exit exams passed the test (Wagner et al., 1991). The authors also noted high retention rates, and determined that 1 out of 10 students who failed to graduate were subsequently retained at their grade level (Wagner et al., 1991).

The second National Longitudinal Transition Study of Special Education Students (NLTS-2) followed the NLTS in 2001 and explored the characteristics, experiences, and outcomes of secondary school students with disabilities in grades 7 or above over a 10-year period. In 2003, Wagner et al. (2003) published a study using data from the NLTS-2 that addressed the instructional contexts, programs, and class participation of students with disabilities. The NLTS-2 researchers gathered data for the study using telephone interviews with parents or guardians during the summer of 2001, a mail survey completed

by school staff during the spring of 2001- 02, and surveys distributed to general educators who taught secondary students with disabilities (Wagner et al., 2003).

Wagner et al. (2003) found that the majority of students with disabilities attended regular public schools located in their local neighborhoods, and determined that more than 60% of the students' coursework focused on academics (language arts, mathematics, social studies, and science). However, only 1 in 5 students with disabilities took a foreign language (Wagner et al., 2003). The NLTS-2 data revealed an increase in the number of students taking challenging courses (e.g., Pre-Algebra, Algebra) since the original NLTS study. The majority of students with disabilities (9 out of 10) participated in one general education course, and most (70%) took one or more academic courses in the general education setting (Wagner et al., 2003). These figures represented a significant increase from the initial NLTS study. According to the NLTS-2 data, students with disabilities also routinely participated in vocational education courses offered as part of the general education curriculum, instead of taking special education courses.

Wagner et al. (2003) also explored the types of support that general education teachers offered students with disabilities, and found that 60% of these students took general education courses with teachers who were unaware of the student's unique educational needs (i.e., accommodations, modifications, behavioral support), and therefore, received insufficient support from the majority of their instructors. Furthermore, fewer than 50% of the regular educators received any information about how to address individual student's needs (Wagner et al., 2003). Additionally, the majority of students receiving academic instruction in the special education classroom received instruction in smaller groups than those provided for students in the general education classroom.

Wagner, Newman, and Cameto (2004) released a comparative study for SRI International between the completion of the NLTS and NLTS-2 studies. Wagner et al. explored the changes over time in the secondary school experiences of students with disabilities. The study examined four specific characteristics of the schools these students attended: programs, courses, instructional setting, and academic performance. Consistent with earlier studies, students with disabilities were more likely to attend regular public schools, and students in the NLTS-2 study were much more likely to take academic courses in the general education setting than students in NLTS (Wagner et al., 2004).

Wagner et al. (2004) found that the academic performance of students with disabilities improved in the NLTS-2 study, and they observed an increase in the number of students who earned grades of A or B overall. However, the authors noted that over 19% of students in the NLTS-2 study primarily earned grades of D or F, overall. This figure is only somewhat lower than the 24% identified in the initial NLTS study. The authors also found that students with disabilities experienced a significant increase (67%) in their suspension rate between the NLTS and NLTS-2 study (Wagner et al., 2004).

In 2007, the National Center on Education Statistics (NCES) completed The Condition of Education report that addressed recent developments and trends in education. The 2007 report included an analysis of student high school course-taking trends that used national transcript data from 1982-2005. The NCES sought to determine the number of credits states required for high school graduation and identify any changes in this requirement since 1980. The study revealed that, since 1980, almost all states increased the number of minimum course requirements for students with and without disabilities, and 37 states required students to take at least 20 Carnegie credits to earn the standard diploma (Planty & Provasnik, 2007). Typically, the minimum course requirements included four years of English, and three or more years of mathematics, science, and social studies. Additionally, consistent with the findings reported from earlier studies detailed in this chapter, as of 2006, 22 states required all students to pass an exit exam to receive the standard high school diploma (Planty & Provasnik, 2007). The nature of each state's exit exam varied in content, and some states required successful completion of math, English/language arts, and/or science exams to be implemented by 2012 (Planty & Provasnik, 2007).

Academic performance. I reviewed seven empirical studies related to the academic performance of students with and without disabilities. I discovered these studies through the empirical research process by narrowing the search criteria to high school academic performance, diploma options, state and local district, and alternate diploma.

Wagner et al. (2003) conducted one of the first empirical studies that investigated the achievement of secondary students with disabilities as part of the NLTS-2 study for SRI International. The researchers investigated the achievement of youth with disabilities, in grade 7 or higher, who received special education services. Wagner et al. found that most students with disabilities received passing grades. However, schools considered one-fourth of students taking courses in the general education classroom to be behind their peers in their management of coursework, and a significant number of students functioned below grade level in both math and reading (Wagner et al., 2003). The study revealed that generally, respondents viewed students as self-sufficient and able to manage self-care skills (Wagner et al., 2003). The overall self-determination skills were high among students with disabilities (Wagner et al., 2003).

Wagner et al. (2003) also investigated the school programs in which youth with disabilities participated. The authors found that students who took more general education classes had fewer absences from school, as did students who took vocational education courses (Wagner et al., 2003). Students also were closer to their grade level in both math and reading (Wagner et al., 2003). Students with disabilities, however, generally received lower grades from general educators than students without disabilities. The authors also identified a possible negative relationship between student outcomes and the provision of educational services, accommodations, and supports.

Wagner, Newman, Cameto, and Levine (2006) followed the Wagner et al. (2003) study with a similar inquiry that also used the NLTS-2 data. The researchers investigated the academic achievement of youth with disabilities in language arts, mathematics, social studies, and science. The results of the study, using standard scores with a mean of 100 and standard deviation of 15, indicated that more than three-quarters of students with disabilities scored below the identified mean than their non-disabled peers, and more than 2% of those students earned scores below 70 (Wagner et al., 2006).

The authors found that students experienced the greatest academic difficulty in their reading courses (Wagner et al., 2006). They also observed that the achievement in many disability areas varied across the academic areas they assessed. For example, students with hearing impairments scored higher than students with learning impairments in mathematics calculation, although they scored lower in science and social studies (Wagner et al., 2006). Students with mental retardation, and those with multiple disabilities, scored lower across all achievement areas, while students with higher functional cognitive skills demonstrated higher academic achievement. The authors also found a correlation between high absenteeism and lower math scores, and concluded that students with disciplinary problems, more often than not, scored lower in mathematics (Wagner et al., 2006).

Wagner et al. (2006) also provided an overview of the findings from Wave 2 of the NLTS-2 study data collected in 2003 from youth ages 15 to 19 years. This 2006 report explored the achievement of youth with disabilities and provided a comparison with the performance of youth without disabilities in the following areas: language arts, science, social studies, and mathematics. The results presented in this study were consistent with the results released by Wagner, et al. (2006), but provided additional information about high school completion and students' postsecondary experiences. The completion rate data revealed that youth with visual or hearing impairments, autism, and orthopedic impairments completed high school at rates of 85% or better; youth with learning disabilities, mental retardation, speech, or traumatic brain injury experienced a 72% completion rate; and youth with emotional impairments demonstrated the lowest high school completion rate of 56% (Wagner et al., 2006).

Newman et al. (2011) conducted the most current study that addressed the secondary school performance of students with disabilities. This inquiry also used the data from the NLTS2 study, and explored a number of factors; including the type of course credits earned, educational setting, and educational performance of students with

disabilities. The study found that, on average, students with disabilities earned fewer course credits than did students without disabilities (22.7 vs. 24.2); however, students with disabilities took more vocational and nonacademic courses and fewer traditional academic courses (i.e., mathematics, science) than did students without disabilities (Newman et al., 2011). Furthermore, students with disabilities earned more credits in learning support courses provided by special educators; however, the study's findings did not include the reason for this trend. The majority of students with disabilities earned the other 28% of their course credits in the general education setting and earned the other author's found that the GPA of students with disabilities was lower than that of students without disabilities (Newman et al., 2011).

*Types of credits.* Using transcript data retrieved between 2001 and 2009, Newman et al. (2011) found that in comparison to their non-disabled peers, students with disabilities earned fewer credits overall (22.7 vs. 24.2), particularly in academic areas. Additionally, students with disabilities earned more credits in vocational, nonacademic, and non-vocational courses than students without disabilities (Newman et al., 2011). The majority of students with disabilities (96%) took a vocational course during their high school experience, which accounted for more than 20% of their total credits earned. This figure was statistically higher than that of students without disabilities (Newman et al., 2011).

*Settings.* Newman et al. (2011) found that students with disabilities earned more of their credits in general education courses than in special education courses (16.7

credits vs. 6.1 credits, respectively). Furthermore, about one-quarter of students with disabilities took their courses in the general education setting.

*Grade performance.* Newman et al. (2011) determined that the grade performance of students with disabilities was lower than students without disabilities (2.3 vs. 2.7 on a 4-point scale, respectively), and found that the majority of students with disabilities (45%) had GPAs less than 2.25. Students scored better (2.5 GPA) in vocational or nonacademic courses than they did in academic courses (2.1 GPA; Newman et al., 2011).

*Students with mental retardation*. Yu, Newman, and Wagner (2009) used NLTS-2 data to explore the school experiences and academic achievement of students with mental retardation. The study included data from Wave 1 of the NLTS-2 and direct assessments using six subtests from the research edition of the Woodcock-Johnson III Tests of Achievement, conducted between 2002 and 2004 with youth between the ages of 16 and 18 years. Yu et al. found that 96% of students with mental retardation took at least one academic course, and determined that 94% took language arts courses, 92% took mathematics courses, 74% took science courses, and 9% took foreign language courses.

The study revealed that vocational course participation was high among the target population, as over 78% of students took at least one course (Yu et al., 2009). Nonacademic course participation was also high, with a 78% enrollment in physical education, 73% enrollment in life-skills, and a 34% enrollment in study skills courses (Yu et al., 2009). The majority of students (92%) received instruction in the special education classroom (92%), while 69% of students received instruction in the general education classroom (Yu et al., 2009). The majority of students with mental retardation received grades of C or lower overall (Yu et al., 2009).

*Students with hearing impairments*. In 2011, Shaver et al. (2011) conducted a similar study focusing only on the academic performance of students with hearing impairments. The study used direct assessment data and surveys completed during the NLTS-2 study in the 2001-02 school year with students 14 to 18 years old. Shaver et al. gathered direct assessment data using six subtests from the Woodcock-Johnson III Tests of Achievement administered in 2002 and 2004.

The results of the study indicated that secondary students with hearing impairments took a variety of courses during any given semester. These courses included an average of academic courses (61%), vocational courses (13%), and other nonvocational education courses (26%; Shaver et al., 2011). The majority of students (78%) took at least one course in the general education classroom, and 64% took courses delivered in the special education classroom (Shaver et al., 2011). Almost half (47%) of students with hearing impairments participated in general education classes without modification, and 54% received some form of modification (Shaver et al., 2011). The academic achievement of students with hearing impairments was lower than their nondisabled peers in all cores academic areas (mathematics, reading, science, and social studies; Shaver et al., 2011).

**Student academic performance: Summary of research.** Since 1982, the U.S. Department of Education's National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) has conducted periodic surveys of U.S. high schools to explore the curricular offering for and course-taking patterns of high school students. This data from the High School Transcript

Study (HSTS), conducted along with the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP), increased accountability by identifying national trends in course offerings and student performance. However, The Nation's Report Card (2011) was the first report to include information on students with disabilities (Nord et al., 2011).

Nord et al. (2011) analyzed the educational performance of students with disabilities using data collected from 610 public high schools as part of the 2009 HSTS study. Results indicated that 2009 graduates with and without disabilities earned over 3.0 credits more than students who graduated in 1990 (23.6 vs. 27.2 credits, respectively). Nord et al. also found that a higher percentage of students completed more challenging curriculum levels, and two-thirds of graduates took Algebra 1 before high school. In 2009, approximately 8% of high school graduates with a disability earned fewer academic credits than students without disabilities (26.8 vs. 27.2 credits) and fewer credits in other academic courses (3.7 vs. 5.4 credits; Nord et al., 2011). Forty-five percent of students with disabilities completed a below-standard curriculum that consistently offered an insufficient number of science courses (Nord et al., 2011).

Nord et al. (2011) provided limited data on the educational performance of students with disabilities, and did not include specific data that addressed the type of educational services students received (e.g., accommodations, modifications, related services) or the setting in which schools provided services (i.e., general or special education). Furthermore, the graduation data for students with disabilities was not comprehensive. The data included only students who graduated with a regular diploma and excluded students who either received waivers for minimum graduation requirements or earned an IEP diploma or certificate of completion. This limitation is problematic because the report excluded a substantial number of students with disabilities in this subgroup that received a waiver or alternate diploma.

The results of the study indicated that one-quarter of the 2009 graduates completed a below-standard curriculum, "Thirty-four percent of graduates with a parent who did not finish high school completed a below standard curriculum compared to 20 percent of graduates with a parent who graduated from college" (Nord et al., 2011, p. 9). The authors further stated that, "Sixty-three percent of English language learners (ELL) and 45 percent of students with disabilities (SD) completed a below standard curriculum compared with approximately 25 percent of non-ELL and non-SD graduates" (Nord et al., 2011, p. 9). These results do not bode well for the two subgroups that require the greatest amount of educational support, interventions, and curricular modifications.

**Critique of the studies reviewed.** This review identified a variety of literature that addressed the graduation requirements and diploma options for secondary students with and without disabilities. The 27 empirical studies have many strengths, use a large sample group, and generally have strong external validity. The discussion section of many of the studies included an identification of limitations. A significant limitation of each of the studies was the absence of an effect size. In the sections below, I discuss the required components of the empirical research study, which include designs, participants, procedures, and validity of the 27 studies I reviewed (see Appendix for further details and a comparison of the purposes, samples, variables, analysis methods, and findings of each study).

*Designs.* Each of the 27 studies included in this review have descriptive designs. Gay, Mills, & Airasian (2006) defined a descriptive study as, "collecting numerical data to test hypotheses or answer questions about the current subject of study" (p. 601). Additionally, 10 of the studies (Gaumer Erikson et al., 2007; Wagner et al., 2004; Wagner et al., 2003; Planty & Provasnik, 2007; Newman et al., 2011; Wagner et al., 2006; Wagner et al., 2006; Wagner et al., 2003; Shaver et al., 2011; Yu et al., 2009) used longitudinal data collected at different periods of time over multiple years. While the analysis of data over multiple years provides an opportunity to identify trends, a significant limitation of descriptive studies is the inability to identify reliable causal inferences (Shadish, Cook, & Campbell, 2002).

The majority of the studies (Bouck et al., 2010; Center on Education Policy, 2008; Guy et al., 1999; Johnson et al., 2009; Johnson & Thurlow, 2003; Johnson et al., 2007; Johnson et al., 2007; Krentz et al., 2005; McIntosh S., 2011; Thurlow et al., 2009; Thurlow et al., 2010; Thurlow et al., 1995; Thurlow et al., 1997; Wagner et al., 1991; Vernon et al., 2003; Zhang, 2009) used survey methodology to gather the research data. The survey methodology employed a combination of written or electronic survey questions, telephone interviews, small focus groups, or reviews of publicly available documentation. Although each of these studies examined the academic performance of students with disabilities or their ability to meet established minimum state or district graduation requirements, none of the studies identified a causal relationship between specific variables associated with students with disabilities and their educational performance or ability to meet minimum graduation requirements.

*Participants and data sets.* Several of the studies in this literature review used large-scale data sets available to all researchers. Gaumer Erikson, Kleinhammer-Tramill and Thurlow (2007), for example, used comprehensive statistics for school years 2001-02

and 2002-03 from the OSEP data sets and NCES Common Core of Data for school years 2001-02. The studies conducted by Planty & Provasnik (2007) and Nord et al. (2011) used data from the High School Transcript Study, a representative national sample of high school transcript data conducted between 1982 - 2005 and 2008-09, respectively. Ten of the studies (Gaumer Erikson et al., 2007; Wagner et al., 2004; Wagner et al., 2003; Planty & Provasnik, 2007; Newman et al., 2011; Wagner et al., 2006; Wagner et al., 2003; Shaver et al., 2011; Yu, Newman, & Wagner, 2009) used data from the NLTS-2, a nationwide study of the secondary and postsecondary outcomes for students with disabilities.

The studies that used large-scale data sets with a representative sample from students across the U.S. demonstrated greater external validity than one might see in research studies that might have higher internal validity. However, it is difficult to compare the results of studies like Bouck and Washburn-Moses (2010), which explored the implementation of the waiver process for the state exit exam in Indiana, to studies with large, national data sets, because the samples are disparate. The studies also are difficult to compare because of the vast differences in the effects of variables on the completion of minimum high school requirements. For example, Wagner et al. (2006) included more academic variables like achievement test scores, absenteeism, and functional skills. In contrast, the study conducted by Wagner et al., (2003) examined the achievement of students using variables of disability type, school adjustment, school engagement, and individual student characteristics like age, gender, and race. While there are similarities in the research questions used in Wagner et al.'s 2003 and 2006 inquiries, the differences in the data analysis and variables make it difficult to draw comparisons between the studies. The type of data samples selected, the variables used for the analysis, and the context of the studies also influence comparability across studies.

*Variables.* There were a large number of independent variables across the studies. The dependent variables included academic achievement, diploma options, or characteristics of the school experience of students with and without disabilities. The consistent use of variables increased the likelihood of comparing different empirical studies.

Several studies used similar variables to define students' school experience and environment (Shaver et al., 2011; Wagner et al., 2003; Wagner et al., 2004; Yu et al., 2009). However, Nord et al., (2011) and Planty and Provasnik (2007) excluded the school environment as a variable for analysis in the achievement of students. Multiple studies featured similar independent variables (e.g., race and GPA), and tended to have consistent definitions. For example, the studies consistently defined GPA using a 4-point scale (Newman et al., 2011; Nord et al., 2011).

The definition of academic achievement or performance was inconsistent in a number of studies. Several inquires (Shaver et al., 2011; Wagner et al., 2006; Yu et al., 2009) examined the academic achievement of students with disabilities and included the independent variable of achievement testing, while excluding GPA. Two studies (Newman et al., 2011; Nord et al., 2011) included GPA as an independent variable and a component of student achievement. Additionally, researchers consistently used the definition of disability in many studies (Newman et al., 2011; Shaver et al., 2011; Wagner et al., 2003; Wagner et al., 2003; Wagner et al., 2004, 2006; Yu et al., 2009).

*Procedures and data analysis.* Few of the researchers (Bouck & Washburn-Moses, 2010; Guy et al., 1999) from this review included a procedures section in their articles. Although many of the studies included an executive summary, an overview section, a methods section, and a results section; the absence of a procedures section could impact the reliability of the study.

Fewer than 50% of the studies reviewed in this chapter utilized statistical methods to analyze their data. There were eight exceptions, each of which clearly described the methods used to analyze their data (Bouck & Wasburn-Moses, 2010; Nord et al., 2011; Planty & Provasnik, 2007; Thurlow et al., 2010; Wagner et al., 2003; Wagner et al., 2004; Wagner et al. 2006). Only one study (Gaumer Erickson et al., 2007) used an extensive statistical analysis that included descriptive statistics (mean, range, standard deviation, sum, and percentage), independent sample *t* tests, analysis of variance (ANOVA), correlation, and repeated measures designs.

None of the studies reviewed reported the effect size. The effect size of an empirical review study enables researchers to effectively interpret and compare findings across studies (Kline, 2009). The effect size is an important statistical tool in the measurement of the "magnitude of the impact of the independent variable on the dependent variable" (Kline, 2009, p. 153). None of the studies reported confidence intervals.

Summary of critical research review. A review of the 27 empirical studies in this chapter revealed that over 50% of the studies (Center on Education Policy, 2008; Guy et al., 1999; Johnson et al., 2009; Johnson et al., 2003; Johnson et al., 2007; Johnson et al., 2007; Krentz et al., 2005; McIntosh, 2011; Thurlow et al., 2009; Thurlow et al.,

2010; Thurlow et al., 1995; Thurlow et al., 1997; Wagner et al., 1991; Vernon et al., 2003; Zhang, 2009) explored the minimum requirements for earning a standard diploma (i.e., Carnegie credit, course type, exit exam) and the alternate routes to exiting high school for students with and without disabilities (i.e., IEP diploma, certificate of attendance, certificate of achievement, occupation diploma, honors diploma, or other). While these efforts took an important step towards understanding the impact of minimum graduation requirements for students with disabilities, the studies did not include an analysis of the variables that predict a student's failure to meet the established minimum graduation requirements.

Although several of the studies reviewed in this section identified possible unintended consequences that can occur when students receive an alternate diploma (Johnson et al., 2007, 2009; Johnson & Thurlow, 2003), none of the studies included an analysis of the factors that related to or predicted the receipt of a standard diploma requirement waiver for students with disabilities. Furthermore, none of the researchers explored whether a correlation existed between individual student demographics and the pursuit of one alternate diploma option over another.

Several studies reviewed in this chapter explored the educational performance, individual student demographics, and school/program characteristics of students with disabilities (Erikson et al., 2007; Newman et al., 2011; Nord et al., 2011; Planty & Provasnik, 2007; Shaver et al., 2011; Wagner et al., 2004; Wagner et al., 2001, 2003, 2006, 2006; Yu et al., 2009) utilizing data sets representative of the national population of students with disabilities. These results assist in generalizing the research findings across all U.S. schools.

76

Additional research is needed in several areas to identify the relationships between specific student characteristics and students' ability to earn a standard diploma. The absence of effect sizes and confidence intervals, which affect the reliability and validity of the existing studies, is of particular concern. In addition to the methodological issues, the majority of the literature reviewed large, diverse samples, with the exception of the study conducted by Bouck and Washburn-Moses (2010), which examined the implementation of the waiver process in Indiana. Gaumer Erickson, Kleinhammer-Tramill, and Thurlow (2007) conducted an analysis of students with disabilities who received either the standard diploma or a nontraditional exit certificate. However, the authors did not distinguish between the types of nontraditional exit certificate received. Despite the fact that there are presently up to seven different alternate diploma options available in U.S. schools, the true impact of these additional exit options remains unknown. As states continue to revise the minimum requirements for receiving the standard diploma and accessing alternate diploma options, it will be important to conduct research on how these revised requirements affect student outcomes.

### **Chapter Summary**

This chapter detailed the history of the high school diploma, the legislation passed to support the educational needs of all students (with and without disabilities), and the federal polices created to improve access to the general education curriculum for students with disabilities. Over the years, the diploma has increased in importance, and it currently serves as a bridge that facilitates the transition between secondary education and advanced educational options (four-year university or two-year community college) and economic and vocational success in the 21<sup>st</sup> century (National Collaborative on Workforce & Dignity, 2009; Rumberger, 2011).

For more than a quarter century, state leaders have grappled with the challenge of establishing a balance between increased course rigor (based on the national educational standards movement), increased student content knowledge (particularly in the areas of English language arts, mathematics, and science), and the pressure of increasing the high school graduation rate. While educational policy makers and school officials agree upon these ultimate goals, the path to achieving these goals is as varied as the personalities of those involved in the process.

The meaning of and requirements for the standard high school diploma also has evolved in multiple ways, and policy makers have developed multiple variations in the course requirements, Carnegie credits requirements, and the types of alternatives offered to the standard diploma. As noted earlier in this chapter, although state leaders have attempted to offer students additional options for exiting high school, it is unclear what impact these options have on the postsecondary educational and career opportunities available to students with disabilities.

Additional questions remain unanswered regarding the factors that predict the ability of students with disabilities to successfully meet the requirements to receive a standard diploma. Furthermore, the empirical research has not yet determined why some students with disabilities are unable to meet minimum graduation requirements, nor have these studies identified strategies that will narrow the achievement gap between students with disabilities and the general education population.

Educational leaders cannot overlook the difficulties that students with disabilities encounter in passing state exit exams. As state leaders revise the minimum graduation requirements necessary to earn the diploma, they must consider the impact of these assessments and the alternate options available to students with disabilities who fail to pass the requisite exit exams.

#### **Chapter III: Methodology**

The purpose of this study was to investigate the characteristics of students with and without disabilities who received a standard diploma from the PSS in May of 2012. I sought to identify those factors associated with waiving the requirements necessary for receiving a standard diploma. These factors included: 1) disability status, 2) gender, 3) age, and 4) race-ethnicity. There were four research questions:

Research question 1: What are the educational (i.e., cumulative GPA, total course credits) and individual characteristics (i.e., age, gender, and race-ethnicity) of students with and without disabilities who graduated in 2012?

Research question 2: A). What are the individual characteristics of students with and without disabilities (i.e., age, gender, and race-ethnicity) who received any type of waiver of graduation requirements for a standard diploma in 2012? B). What are the individual characteristics of students with and without disabilities who received specific types of waivers in 2012 (i.e., cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, 26.0 course credits waiver, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, or other course credit waiver)?

Research question 3: A). What is the probability that students with and without disabilities will receive any type of waiver of the graduation requirements for a standard diploma in 2012, controlling for other personal characteristics (i.e., disability status, age, gender, and race-ethnicity)? B). What is the probability that students with and without disabilities will receive specific types of waivers in 2012 (i.e., cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, 26.0 course credits waiver, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign

language course credits waiver, and/or other course credit waiver), controlling for other personal characteristics?

Research question 4: What are the rationales for granting waivers to students with disabilities who graduated with a standard diploma in 2012, as documented on the PSS waiver request document?

# **Data Sources**

The sample for this study included students with and without disabilities who graduated with a standard diploma from the PSS in 2012. Individual characteristics data (i.e., disability status, age, gender, and race-ethnicity) and educational characteristics data (i.e., cumulative GPA, and course credits earned) used for this study were obtained from a single Web-based student information system (SIS) which contained data that were entered into and accessible in real time. Since all data used in this study represented standard requirements necessary to register and attend the PSS, there were few missing data. Parents reported the individual characteristics of students who graduated in 2012 (i.e., disability status, age, gender, and race-ethnicity), and school registrars then entered the data into the PSS SIS. Either the school guidance counselor and/or the school registrar entered the data on educational characteristics (i.e., cumulative GPA, and course credits earned). Individual Education Program Team Case Managers entered data on disability type for students receiving special education services.

The PSS had an established protocol for documenting all waivers for the requirements necessary to earn a standard diploma. To identify the types and frequency of waivers granted to students who graduated in 2012, I reviewed all waiver packets submitted to the PSS. The PSS required that applicants submit several documents as part

of the waiver packet, including the *PSS Waiver Request Document*, which identified the type(s) of waiver(s) granted, and rationale for granting the waiver. I retrieved the following data from each *PSS Waiver Request Document*: (a) the type of waiver(s) granted (i.e., cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, 26.0 course credits waiver, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, or, other course credit waiver), and (b) the rationale for granting the waiver to students with disabilities only. I coded this rationale using the protocol described later in this chapter.

### Procedures

The process for investigating each research question followed the following phases. Figure 3 identifies the procedure for data collection phases I, II, and III. Phase I began with the identification of the total number of students with and without disabilities who graduated from the PSS in the spring of 2012. Student data retrieved from the PSS SIS identified a total sample of 3,203 PSS students with and without disabilities. Inclusion criteria for this study included students without disabilities (n =2,995) who graduated in the spring of 2012 with a standard diploma and students eligible for special education services based upon the PSS special education eligibility criteria with a current Individual Education Program (n = 208). Student data were entered into SPSS and coded beginning with the number 1 and ending with 3,203 - the total number of students meeting the selection criteria. Second, individual characteristics of the student sample (i.e., age, gender, race-ethnicity, and disability type) was retrieved from the PSS SIS and entered into SPSS next to the unique student identification number. Third, the disability category of students with disabilities (n = 208) was identified by reviewing student special education data from the PSS SIS and the disability category

was entered into SPSS next to unique student identification number. The PSS had 12 special education disability categories to include: autism, deafness, deaf-blindness, hearing impairment, other health impairment, orthopedic impairment, traumatic brain injury, visual impairment- including blindness, emotional impairment, speech or language impairment, learning impaired - specific learning disability, learning impaired - intellectual disorder (mental retardation) (Participating School System, 2012). The PSS did not include a category of multiple disabilities. Finally, transcript data for students with and without disabilities was retrieved from the PSS SIS to identify the total course credits earned, and cumulative GPA. This information was added to the SPSS dataset for each student.

Phase II involved the identification of students with and without disabilities who graduated in 2012 and received a diploma waiver. This process entailed reviewing all waiver request packets (n = 182) submitted to the PSS Headquarters Office. There were 79 students with disabilities and 103 students without disabilities who graduated in 2012 with one or more minimum requirements for the standard diploma waived. And finally, Phase III involved applying a coding process to the dataset based on the results from Phase II.

## **Waiver Request Procedure**

The PSS established a multi-step process for requesting and approving a waiver for one or more of the requirements to earn the standard diploma. This process entailed determining necessity for the waiver request, gathering required documentation, and obtaining approval (Figure 4). This process began at the school level with a review of the student's educational progress by school staff to identify if the student was on-track for

Figure 3. Flow Chart of the Procedure for Gathering Data in Phases 1, 2, 3, & 4



Figure 3. Process of gathering student graduation data for the study.

meeting the requirements for the PSS standard diploma to include specific course credits (i.e., mathematics, foreign language, and science), completion of 26.0 total course credits, and a cumulative 2.0 GPA. For students with disabilities, a meeting was convened with the student's IEP Team to discuss the impact of the student's identified disability on meeting the requirements for receipt of the standard diploma. If it was determined that the student could not meet all requirements for the standard diploma, the waiver option was explained to the student and parent, and if requested, the parent was asked to write a statement on the student's behalf. The school counselor was then responsible for documenting the rationale for the waiver on the *waiver request document*. The *waiver request document*, the written parent request, the student's transcript, and the student's 4-year graduation plan would become the student's official waiver packet that must be reviewed by the PSS administrative leadership for approval.

The PSS established a 3-level approval process that began with the approval of the school principal, the PSS District Superintendent, and finally approval of the PSS Area Superintendent. At each level, signed approval was required on the *waiver request document* and all approved waiver packets were forwarded to the PSS Headquarters Office by June 30 of each year for review.

### **Analyses of Results**

Several different analyses were conducted in this study to answer the four research questions. The analyses included descriptive statistics, chi-square tests of independence, and logistic regression. The individual student waiver request documents were reviewed for all students (with and without disabilities). For those waiver requests submitted for students with disabilities, a coding system was developed to identify the rationales for granting the waivers. A description of the variables and specific analyses

used in this study are provided in the following paragraphs.

Figure 4. Process of Granting a Waiver of Requirements for the Standard Diploma

Offered by the PSS<sup>4</sup>

Pre-requisite for Students with Disabilities - IEP team convened to discuss impact of student's disability on meeting requirements for receipt of the standard diploma and consideration of requesting waiver Step 1: Request for the Waiver - Waiver Request Packet completed by PSS secondary guidance counselor and includes: A) Written parent request for waiver(s) of one/more diploma requirements B) Reason for the waiver to include rationale for granting the waiver C) Signature of parent or sponsor & student D) Copy of student's current transcript E) Copy of student's 4-year graduation plan Step 2: First-level Approval - PSS secondary principal receives Waiver Request Packet A) Reviews waiver request B) If approved: signs Waiver Request document and forwards to the PSS District Superintendent for second-level approval C) If disapproved: seeks clarification from guidance counselor, parent, student, and/or educators. etc. Step 3: Second-level Approval - PSS District Superintendent receives Waiver Request Packet & within 10 days; A) Reviews waiver request B) If approved: signs Waiver Request document and forwards the Waiver Request Packet to the Area PSS Superintendent for third-level review C) If disapproved: seeks clarification from the PSS secondary principal Step 4: Third-level Review & Concurrence - PSS Area Superintendent receives Waiver Request Packet A) Reviews Waiver Request Packet B) Ensure all documentation is present, system of checks and balances was followed; if necessary, requests clarification from PSS District Superintendent C) Signs Waiver Request document, provides copy to school principal D) Forwards all Waiver Request Packets to the PSS Headquarters Office by June 30 Step 5: PSS Headquarters Office A) Collects all approved student Waiver Packets B) Conducts annual review and analysis of all approved waivers

Figure 4. Waiver approval process established by the PSS.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Study included only those waivers submitted in Step 5 to the PSS Headquarters Office.

# **Description of Variables**

This section identifies the individual characteristics and educational characteristics of the student sample analyzed in this study. The selection of variables was informed by the four research questions and findings from the review of literature in Chapter II. A description of the variables selected for this study is included in this section.

**Individual characteristics.** The variables identified to address student specific data included age, gender, race-ethnicity, disability status, and disability type. Data for these variables was obtained from the PSS SIS. The variables included:

*Gender.* Student gender is a nominal variable (male/female). Male students were coded 1 and female students were coded 2.

*Age-Categorical.* Student's chronological age at graduation was converted to a categorical variable grouped in the following age categories; <16 years, 17 years, 18 years, and 19+ years. This variable was used for research question 2 for the chi-square analyses.

*Age-Year*. Student's chronological age at graduation is a continuous variable identified in years. This variable was used for research question 3 for the logistic regression analyses.

*Race-ethnicity*. Student race-ethnicity was identified in the following categories: White (yes = 1, no = 0), Hispanic-Latino (yes = 1, no = 0), Black/African American (yes = 1, no = 0), Asian (yes = 1, no = 0), and Multi-racial (yes = 1, no = 0). For the logistic regression analysis, the researcher combined Asian & Multi-racial due to the small number of participants for these two categories. *Disability status*. Each student had an identified disability and was receiving special education services with an Individual Education Program (IEP) (yes = 1, no = 0).

*Disability type*. Disability type included the 12 disability categories identified by the PSS. Each disability type was coded in the following manner; autism (yes = 1, no = 0); deafness (yes = 1, no = 0); deaf-blindness (yes = 1, no = 0); hearing impairment (yes = 1, no = 0); other health impairment (yes = 1, no = 0); orthopedic impairment (yes = 1, no = 0); traumatic brain impairment (yes = 1, no = 0); visual impairment- including blindness (yes = 1, no = 0); emotional disturbance (yes = 1, no = 0); speech or language impairment (yes = 1, no = 0); learning impairment - specific learning disability (yes = 1, no = 0); or learning impairment - intellectual disability (yes = 1, no = 0).

Educational characteristics. Data for the educational variables was obtained from the PSS waiver request document to identify the types of diploma waivers granted, and to identify each student's educational progress, student transcripts were reviewed to identify the total course credits earned and cumulative GPA. The coding system to analyze the rationales used to grant waivers is provided in this section. The variables included:

*Total course credits earned*. This variable identifies the cumulative number of course credits earned and are reported in 0.5 increments (i.e., 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, etc.).

*Cumulative GPA*. Schools provide a cumulative grade point average (GPA) for earned course credits, and base the figure on a standard four-point scale commonly used by LEAs. The scale corresponded to letter grades that students earned for courses: 1) grade of A = 4.0 GPA; 2) grade of B = 3.0 GPA; 3) grade of C = 2.0 GPA; 4) grade of D

= 1.0 GPA; and 5) grade of E or F = 0.0 GPA. The cumulative GPA represents the average of all of the student's earned course credits.

*Cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver*. The PSS requires a minimum 2.0 GPA to receive the standard diploma. Students who did not have a cumulative 2.0 GPA were granted this waiver type, a cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver (yes = 1, no = 0).

**26.0** course credits waiver. The PSS requires a minimum of 26.0 course credits earned to receive the standard diploma. A student earns 0.5 course credits for each semester they successfully complete a course. Successful completion as defined by the PSS is defined by earning a grade of D- or better. Students who had not earned 26.0 total course credits were granted this waiver type, a 26.0 course credits waiver (yes = 1, no = 0).

3.0 mathematics course credits waiver. The PSS requires a minimum of 3.0 mathematics credits earned to receive the standard diploma. Students who had not earned 3.0 mathematics course credits were granted this waiver type, a 3.0 mathematics course credit waiver (yes = 1, no = 0).

2.0 foreign language course credits waiver. The PSS requires a minimum of 2.0 foreign language course credits earned in the same foreign language (i.e., Spanish, French, German, etc.). Students who had not earned 2.0 foreign language course credits were granted this waiver type, a 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver (yes = 1, no = 0).

*Other course credit waiver*. A fifth variable was created to capture students who were granted a waiver for one or more additional required course credits for the standard

diploma from the PSS (i.e., science, social studies, physical education, etc.) (yes = 1, no = 0).

*Waiver rationale 1*: Student's current or prior academic performance was poor (yes = 1, no = 0).

*Waiver rationale 2*: Impact of the student's specific disability type and assessed academic weakness identified by an assessment (e.g., Woodcock Johnson Test of Achievement) administered as part of the special education eligibility process in a specific domain (i.e., mathematics, expressive language, language processing).

*Waiver rationale 3*: Impact of the student's specific disability type and the frustration displayed by the student in an academic course (e.g., mathematics, or foreign language) (yes = 1, no = 0).

*Waiver rationale 4*: The rationale for the waiver was unclear based upon the submitted documentation (yes = 1, no = 0).

*Waiver rationale 5:* Graduation requirements based on previous Local Education Agency and not the requirements of the PSS (yes = 1, no = 0).

**Analyses.** The SPSS computer program, Version 21.0, was used for all statistical analyses performed in this study. As discussed below, SPSS was used to compute (a) frequencies and percentages for categorical variables; (b) means, and ranges for continuous variables; (c) cross tabulations for pairs of categorical variables with associated chi-square tests of independence; and (e) logistic regression for assessing predictions. The following procedures were performed to answer each of the four research questions.

*Research question 1.* What are the educational (i.e., cumulative GPA, total course credits) and individual characteristics (i.e., age, gender, and race-ethnicity) of students with and without disabilities who graduated in 2012?

To answer research question one, I used the FREQUENCIES procedure in SPSS to analyze graduation data of students with and without disabilities (n = 3,203), stratified by gender, age, race-ethnicity, disability status, and disability type for students with disabilities. Descriptive statistics for nominal variables (i.e., gender, race-ethnicity, disability status, disability type, waiver type received (i.e., any waiver, cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, 26.0 course credits waiver, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, other course credit waiver) were calculated to include the number of cases and percentages; and descriptive statistics for continuous variables (i.e., age-categorical, cumulative GPA, and total course credits earned) included the frequency, mean, and minimum and maximum values. Through this descriptive analysis, I identified the characteristics of students with and without disabilities who graduated from the PSS in 2012. Results are displayed in table format.

*Research question 2.* A). What are the individual characteristics of students with and without disabilities (i.e., age, gender, and race-ethnicity) who received any type of waiver of graduation requirements for a standard diploma in 2012? B). What are the individual characteristics of students with and without disabilities who received specific types of waivers in 2012 (i.e., cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, 26.0 course credits waiver, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, or other course credit waiver)?

To answer research question two, I reviewed each of the waiver request packets that were submitted for each student (one per student) to the PSS Headquarters office to identify the type and frequency of waivers granted for students with disabilities. I then used chi-square statistics to identify the presence of a significant association between students' disability status and their receipt of each waiver type (i.e., any waiver, cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, 26.0 course credits waiver, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, other course credit waiver). Additional chi-square statistics stratified by each disability status (disabled and nondisabled) identified significant associations between: 1) gender and receiving each waiver type; 2) race-ethnicity and receiving each waiver type; and 3) age-categorical and receiving each waiver type. Each chi-square test incorporated the CROSSTABS procedure in SPSS; which provided the number and percentage of students in each subcategory. The CROSSTABS procedure provided the results of the chi-square test of independence and the associated p value (p < .05) used to identify significant associations. Howell (2009) suggested that when two categorical variables are compared, the chi-square test of independence is the appropriate analysis to determine if two variables are independent or related (Howell, 2009, p. 145).

*Research question 3.* A). What is the probability that students with and without disabilities will receive any type of waiver of the graduation requirements for a standard diploma in 2012, controlling for other personal characteristics (i.e., disability status, age, gender, and race-ethnicity)? B). What is the probability that students with and without disabilities will receive specific types of waivers in 2012 (i.e., cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, 26.0 course credits waiver, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign

language course credits waiver, and/or other course credit waiver), controlling for other personal characteristics?

To answer research question 3, I conducted individual logistic regression analyses for receipt of any type of waiver, and for each specific type of waiver (i.e., cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, 26.0 course credits waiver, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, other course credit waiver) independently. Each model included the independent variable having or not having a disability, controlling for age-year, gender, and race-ethnicity. I performed the following procedures. First, a logistic regression model including the independent variable and potential confounders was performed. If disability status and race-ethnicity were significant, an additional model including the interaction of disability status\*race-ethnicity was performed. If the interaction was significant, additional logistic regression models stratified by each raceethnic group were performed. Confidence intervals, *p* values (p < .05), and odds ratio of receiving the waiver types were computed, and reported to identify statistically significant results.

*Research question 4.* What are the rationales for granting waivers to students with disabilities who graduated with a standard diploma in 2012, as documented on the PSS waiver request document?

To answer research question 4, I reviewed 100% of the waiver request packets submitted for students with disabilities (n = 79) in a series of four steps. Step one began with reading of each of the waiver request packets provided to the PSS Headquarters Office and identifying the common rationales documented on the waiver request document used for granting the waiver(s). The coding system I developed identified 5 specific rationales used for granting the waiver request. The rationales used for this study included.

- *Waiver rationale 1*: Student's current or prior academic performance was poor.
- Waiver rationale 2: Impact of the student's specific disability type and assessed academic weakness identified by an assessment (e.g., Woodcock Johnson Test of Achievement) administered as part of the special education eligibility process in a specific domain (i.e., mathematics, expressive language, language processing).
- *Waiver rationale 3*: Impact of the student's specific disability type and the frustration displayed by the student in an academic course (e.g., mathematics, or foreign language).
- *Waiver rationale 4*: The rationale for the waiver was unclear based upon the submitted documentation.
- *Waiver rationale 5:* Graduation requirements based on previous Local Education Agency and not the requirements of the PSS.

In step two, I assigned the corresponding rationale code (i.e., 1, 2, 3, 4, or 5; yes = 1, no = 0) for each waiver request packet and entered this code in the SPSS data file next to the corresponding student number for the 79 students with disabilities who were granted a waiver. After this coding process, I conducted an analysis of the types of rationales by using the FREQUENCIES procedure in SPSS to calculate the number of cases of each rationale and percentage. The frequency of each waiver rationale (i.e., 1, 2, 3, 4, or 5) is displayed in a table and disaggregated by disability type.

**Inter-rater reliability.** To ensure inter-rater reliability for assigning a rationale code to each of the waiver request documents for students with disabilities, a 20% random sample was reviewed for accuracy by a PSS Instructional Systems Specialist, hereafter referred to as the rater, who was familiar with the waiver process. First, I assigned a number of 1 to 79 on each of the waiver request packets. Next, I used the random number generator feature on the online service,

http://stattrek.com/statistics/random-number-generator.aspx to generate a  $\geq 20\%$  (16) random number list between 1 and 79. The random number generator assigned the following numbers: 36, 47, 58, 25, 44, 43, 68, 73, 78, 65, 24, 47, 36, 11, 63, and 67. The rater was given the waiver request packets for the randomly assigned numbers and a separate data collection sheet to identify the rationale code for each waiver request packet. See Appendix A and for the directions used to test inter-rater reliability and Appendix B for the data collection sheet used.

The rater was given the letter explaining the inter-rater process (Appendix A) and I further discussed the process with her to ensure understanding. Next, the rater was given the 16 waiver packets and 16 data collection sheets. The rater then placed the randomly assigned number in section one of the data collection sheet, and read the rationale documented on the waiver request packet with the same corresponding number. Next, the rater circled one of the five rationale codes listed in section two of the data collection sheet. This process was repeated until each of the 16 waiver request packets had been reviewed. I then compared the rationale codes selected by the rater with the rationale codes I had identified for the same waiver packets. Of the 16 waiver packets reviewed, 14 were identically rated. The two waiver packets that were rated inconsistently were the result of the rater overlooking the schools comment on the PSS waiver request document identifying the student's poor academic performance and mistakenly coding the two waiver packets as Waiver rationale 1: The student's current or prior academic performance was poor; rather than selecting Waiver rationale 2: Impact of the student's specific disability type and assessed academic weakness identified by an assessment (e.g., Woodcock Johnson Test of Achievement) administered as part of the special education eligibility process in a specific domain (i.e., mathematics, expressive language, language processing). The Inter-rater reliability was identified at an acceptable level of 87%.

### **Institutional Review Board and Confidentiality**

Permission to conduct this study was obtained following the Institutional Review Board procedures established by the University of Maryland and procedures required by the PSS. Confidentiality was established and maintained throughout the research process by storing copies of student waiver request packets in a locked file cabinet at all times and the SPSS files were password protected at all times. All copies of student waiver request packets were shredded and electronic data (i.e., SPSS data set) deleted after two months.

### **Chapter Summary**

This chapter provided a detailed description of the analyses used in this study for each of the four research questions. A description of the data source, data sample, and specific details regarding the data set for the study was provided to give background information. A section identifying the steps used to collect the data for this study was included, followed by the process of requesting and approving a waiver from the requirements for the diploma implemented by the PSS. In addition, a description of the
individual characteristics (i.e., gender, age, race-ethnicity, disability status and disability type) and educational characteristics (i.e., waiver types, cumulative GPA, and total course credits earned) used in the study was provided. Finally, the SPSS software was used to answer each of the four research questions and performed each of the statistical analyses for the study.

#### **Chapter IV: Results**

The purpose of this study was to investigate factors associated with granting a waiver of the requirements for receiving a standard diploma for students with disabilities who graduated in 2012 from the PSS. The factors investigated included: 1) disability status, 2) gender, 3) age, and 4) race-ethnicity. The study was designed to address gaps in the current body of research, specifically the lack of descriptive quantifiable data related to both the extent and types of waivers granted to students with disabilities as well as the reasons for granting such waivers. This chapter presents the results of the analyses performed to address each of the four research questions.

#### **Research Question 1**

Research question 1: What are the educational (i.e., cumulative GPA, total course credits) and individual characteristics (i.e., age, gender, and race-ethnicity) of students with and without disabilities who graduated in 2012? To answer research question 1, I identified the individual characteristics (i.e., age-categorical, gender, race-ethnicity, disability status), and educational characteristics (i.e., cumulative GPA, course credits earned) of students with and without disabilities using the FREQUENCIES procedure in SPSS.

**Individual characteristics.** I used data generated from the PSS student information system (SIS) to address the first research question. Table 1 identifies the individual characteristics of students with and without disabilities who graduated in 2012. I identified a total of 3,203 students as having graduated in spring of 2012. Of this group, 208 (6.5%) students were identified as having a disability. *Gender and race-ethnicity*. Among the 208 students identified as having a disability, males (n = 132, 63.5%) outnumbered females (n = 76, 36.5%). Among the 2,995 students without an identified disability, females slightly outnumbered males (n = 1,521, 50.8%; n = 1, 474, 49.2%). Overall, there were more White students with and without disabilities (n 93, 44.7%; n = 1,351, 45.1%, respectively) than other racial-ethnic groups. There was a greater representation of Black/African American students with disabilities than without disabilities (n = 48, 23.1%; n = 455; 15.2%), while Asians were under represented among students with and without disabilities (n = 8, 3.8%; n = 246, 8.2%).

Table 1

2012 graduates		Students with disabilities		Student disab	s without vilities	Total students		
		n	%	n	%	Ν	%	
	Male	132	63.5%	1,474	49.2%	1,606	50.2%	
Gender I	Female	76	36.5%	1,521	50.8%	1,597	49.8%	
	Total	208	6.5%	2,995	93.5%	3,203	100.0%	
	White	93	44.7%	1,351	45.1%	1,444	45.1%	
D	Hispanic/Latino	29	14.0%	525	17.5%	554	17.3%	
Race- ethnicity <sup>a</sup>	Black/African American	48	23.1%	455	15.2%	503	15.7%	
	Asian*	8	3.8%	246	8.2%	254	7.9%	
	Multi-racial*	30	14.4%	418	14.0%	448	4.0%	
Total		208	6.5%	2,995	93.5%	3,203	100.0%	

Characteristics of Students who Graduated in 2012 from the PSS

<sup>a</sup> The analysis for students with disabilities (n=4) and students without disabilities (n-23) does not include data for respondents who declined to state.

\*Asian & Multi-racial were combined for the logistic regression analysis

Age. Table 2 details the ages of students who graduated in 2012. Ages ranged

from 15 to 24 years. In the 15-16 years age group there were no students with disabilities

and few students without disabilities (n = 22, 0.7%). The 17 years age group included fewer students with disabilities (n = 31, 15.0%) than students without disabilities (n = 895, 30.0%). The majority of students with disabilities (n = 123, 59.0%) and without disabilities (n = 1,856, 62.0%) were in the 18 years age group. Finally, there were 276 students in the +19 age group, which had fewer students with disabilities (n = 54, 26.0%) than students without disabilities (n = 222, 7.3%).

Table 2

				То	otal					
	15	5-16	17		18		+19			
Student type	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	Ν	%
Students with disabilities	0	0.0%	31	15.0%	123	59.0%	54	26.0%	208	6.5%
Students without disabilities	22	0.7%	895	30.0%	1,856	62.0%	222	7.3%	2,995	93.5%
Total	22	0.7%	926	28.9%	1,979	61.7%	276	8.7%	3,203	100.0%

Age of Students With and Without Disabilities

*Disability type.* Table 3 details the disability types of the 208 students identified as receiving special education services. The majority of students were identified as Learning Impairment-Specific Learning Disability (n = 124, 59.6%) and Other Health Impairment (n = 35, 16.8%). Next were students with Autism (n = 21, 9.6%), Emotional Disturbance (n = 9, 4.3%), Learning Impairment-Intellectual Disability (n = 6, 2.9%), Speech-Language Impairment (n = 5, 2.4%), and due to the low sample size, the disability types of Deaf, Blind, Hearing, Vision were collapsed (n = 5, 2.4%). The disability types, Orthopedic Impairment and Traumatic Brain Injury, were each small (n = 2, 1.0%).

	Г	otal
Disability type	Ν	%
Autism	20	9.6%
Deaf, blind, hearing, vision	5	2.4%
Emotional disturbance	9	4.3%
Other health impairment	35	16.8%
Orthopedic impairment	2	1.0%
Traumatic brain injury	2	1.0%
Speech—Language impairment	5	2.4%
Learning impairment—Specific learning disability	124	59.6%
Learning impairment—Intellectual disability	6	2.9%
Total	208	100.0%

Students With Disabilities by Disability Type

**Educational characteristics.** Key educational data pertaining to students with and without disabilities are provided in the following section. These include total course credits earned, cumulative GPA, and the number of students with and without disabilities who received a waiver for one or more of the requirements for a standard diploma.

*Course credits/Cumulative GPA*. Table 4 displays the range of total course credits earned and cumulative GPA for students with and without disabilities. The mean course credits earned was similar for both students with disabilities (M = 28.2) and students without disabilities (M = 28.6) (Table 4). The course credits earned for students with disabilities ranged from 24.5 credits to 37.5 credits, while the earned course credits for students without disabilities ranged from 12.0 credits to 39.5 credits.

Course Credits and Mean Cumulative GPA for Students With and Without Disabilities

Student type	n	м	Range o	f course	
Student type	11	171	cieuns	earneu	
Students with disabilities	208	28.2	24.5	37.5	
Students without disabilities	2,995	28.6	12.0	39.5	
			Range of		
Student type	n	М	cumulati	ive GPA	
Students with disabilities	208	2.8	1.7	4.0	
Students without disabilities	2,995	3.1	1.5	4.4	

#### **Research Question 2**

Research question 2: A). What are the individual characteristics of students with and without disabilities (i.e., age, gender, and race-ethnicity) who received any type of waiver of graduation requirements for a standard diploma in 2012? B). What are the individual characteristics of students with and without disabilities who received specific types of waivers in 2012 (i.e., cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, 26.0 course credits waiver, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, or other course credit waiver)? To answer research question 2, I reviewed each of the waiver request packets submitted to the PSS Headquarters office to identify the type and frequency of waivers granted for students with disabilities. I then used chi-square statistics to identify the presence of significant differences between students with and without disabilities who received any type of waiver and students with and without disabilities who received specific types of waivers (i.e., cumulative 2.0 GPA, 26.0 course credits, 3.0 mathematics course credits, 2.0 foreign language course credits, and other course credits). Additional chi-square statistics stratified by disability status were performed to identify significant differences between gender and receiving each waiver type, race-ethnicity and receiving each of waiver type, and age and receiving each waiver type. Each variable was dichotomously coded and groups were compared using 2x2 contingency tables, using chi-square as the statistic to analyze the difference between the observed and expected frequencies. The reader should interpret the chi-square results with caution due to the small sample size, which may have impacted the statistical power of each analysis conducted for students with disabilities and for students without disabilities.

*Waivers.* Table 5 displays the number of students who had a waiver packet submitted for one or more of the requirements for a standard diploma. Of the 3,203 students who graduated in 2012, 182 (5.7%) students had a waiver packet submitted for at least one of the minimum requirements for the standard diploma. This included 79 (2.5%) students with disabilities and 103 (3.2%) students without disabilities. In total, 3,021 students graduated and met all requirements for the standard diploma. Of those graduates who met the requirements for the standard diploma, 129 (4.0%) were students with disabilities and 2,892 (90.3%) were students without disabilities.

#### Table 5

	V	Vaiver r sut	Total count and			
Student type	Yes No			percentage		
	n	%	n %		Ν	%
Students with disabilities	79	2.5%	129	4.0%	208	6.5%
Students without disabilities	103	3.2%	2,892	90.3%	2,995	93.5%
Total students	182	5.7%	3,021	94.3%	3,203	100.0%

Waiver Request Packets Submitted for Standard Diploma Requirements

Table 6 displays the proportions of students with disabilities who had a waiver request packet submitted to those who did not, by disability type. The PSS has established a multi-level process for requesting and approving a waiver from one or more requirements to earn the standard diploma. This process included completion of the waiver request document that was important in capturing the reason for the waiver(s), rationale for requesting the waiver(s), and requires the signatures of the secondary school team members (e.g., student, parent, principal) responsible for granting the waiver(s). The waiver request packet includes the waiver request document, copy of the student's current secondary transcript, 4-year graduation plan, and written parent request. The majority of the 79 students with disabilities with a waiver packet submitted had Learning Impairment - Specific Learning Disabilities (n = 53, 67.1%) or Other Health Impairment (n = 12, 15.2%). Five students with Autism (6.3%) and Emotional Disturbance had the same number of waiver packets submitted, students with a Learning Impairment-Intellectual Disability had fewer requests (n = 3, 3.8%). There were no waiver packets submitted for students who were Deaf, Blind, Hearing, Vision Impaired, Traumatic Brain Injury, or Speech - Language Impairment.

#### Waiver Request Packets Submitted for Standard Diploma Requirements by Disability

#### Type

	Waiv	er request	ubmitted			
		Yes	N	No	Tota	al count
Disability type	n	%	n	%	n	%
Autism	5	6.3%	15	11.6%	20	9.6%
Deaf, blind, hearing, vision	0	0.0%	4	3.8%	5	2.4%
Emotional disturbance	5	6.3%	4	3.1%	9	4.3%
Other health impairment	12	15.2%	24	17.8%	35	16.8%
Orthopedic impairment	1	1.3%	1	0.7%	2	0.9%
Traumatic brain injury	0	0.0%	2	1.6%	2	0.9%
Speech—Language impairment	0	0.0%	5	3.8%	5	2.4%
Learning impairment—Specific learning disability	53	67.1%	71	55.3%	124	59.9%
Learning impairment—Intellectual disability	3	3.8%	3	2.3%	6	2.8%
Total	79	38.0%	129	62.0%	208	100.0%

The number and percentage of each waiver type granted is displayed in Table 7. As previously identified in Table 5, of the 3,203 students who graduated in 2012, 182 students received at least one waiver with a total of 265 waivers granted to these 182 students. Students with disabilities (n = 136, 51.3%) received 7 more waivers than did students without disabilities (n = 129, 48.7%). Students without disabilities received more waivers for the cumulative 2.0 GPA and 26.0 course credits (n = 25 and n = 31, respectively) than students with disabilities (n = 3 and n = 2, respectively). However, of the 79 students with disabilities that received a waiver for one or more mathematics

course credit(s), to include Algebra I and/or Algebra II, and one or more foreign language

course credit(s) (n = 40).

Table 7

Waivers Granted by Type

	Students with		Studer	nts without			
_	disa	bilities	disa	abilities	Total waivers		
Waiver type	n	%	n	%	n	%	
Cumulative 2.0 GPA	3	2.2%	25	19.4%	28	10.6%	
26.0 course credits	2	1.5%	31	24.0%	33	12.5%	
3.0 mathematics course credits	53	38.9%	6	4.6%	59	22.3%	
2.0 foreign language course credits	40	29.4%	32	25.0%	72	27.1%	
Other course credit	38	28.0%	35	27.0%	73	27.5%	
Total waivers	136	51.3%	129	48.7%	265	100.0%	

**Disability status.** Table 8 presents the chi-square analysis conducted to

investigate the association between disability status and receiving a waiver. The chisquare test of independence confirmed an association between disability status and receiving a waiver of any type,  $X^2(1, N = 208) = 432.995$ , p = .001. Additional chi-square tests also confirmed an association between disability status and receiving a mathematics waiver,  $X^2(1, N = 208) = 687.467$ , p = .001; disability status and receiving a foreign language waiver,  $X^2(1, N = 208) = 291.974$ , p = .001; and disability status and receiving a waiver for other course credits,  $X^2(1, N = 208) = 255.372$ , p = .001. The chi-square test did not reveal an association between disability status and receiving either a cumulative 2.0 GPA or 26.0 course credits waiver.

	Waiver	With disabilities	Without disabilities	Total	2		
Waiver type	received	(n = 208)	(n = 2,995)	(n = 3,203)	$X^2$	df	p
Any waiver	Yes	79	103	162	432.995	1	<.001*
	No	129	2,892	3,021			
Cumulative 2.0	Yes	3	25	28	0.829	1	.363
GPA	No	205	2,970	3,175			
26.0 course	Yes	2	31	33	0.010	1	.919
credits	No	206	2,964	3,170			
3.0 mathematics	Yes	53	6	59	687.467	1	<.001*
course credits	No	208	2,995	3,203			
2.0 foreign	Yes	40	32	72	291.974	1	<.001*
credits	No	168	2,963	3,131			
Other course	Yes	38	35	73	255.372	1	<.001*
credit	No	170	2,960	3,130			

Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Having a Disability

\* *p* < .001

**Gender.** Tables 9 and 10 present the chi-square analyses conducted to investigate the association between receiving each type of waiver and gender stratified by disability status. The chi-square test of independence for students with disabilities confirmed there was no association between gender and receiving any waiver type. For students without disabilities (Table 10), the chi-square test of independence found an association between receiving a cumulative GPA waiver and gender,  $X^2(1, N = 2,995) = 5.236$ , p = .022.

# Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Gender for Students With

# Disabilities

		Ge	nder				
	Waiver	Male	Female	Total			
Waiver type	received	(n=132)	(n = 76)	(n = 208)	$X^2$	df	р
Any waiver	Yes	50	29	79	.002	1	.968
	No	82	47	129			
Cumulative 2.0 GPA	Yes	3	0	3	1.753	1	.186
	No	129	76	205			
26 0 course gradite	Yes	1	1	2	.158	1	.691
20.0 course creatis	No	131	75	206			
3.0 mathematics course	Yes	34	19	53	.015	1	.904
credits	No	98	57	155			
2.0 foreign language course	Yes	28	12	40	.913	1	.339
credits	No	104	64	168			
Other course credit	Yes	26	12	38	.493	1	.483
	No	106	64	172			

### Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Gender for Students Without

#### Disabilities

		Ge	nder				
	Waiver	Male	Female	Total			
Waiver type	received	(n = 1,474)	(n = 1,521)	(n = 2,995)	$X^2$	df	р
Any waiver	Yes	57	46	103	1.601	1	.206
	No	1,417	1,475	2,892			
Cumulative 2.0	Yes	18	7	25	5.236	1	.022*
GPA	No	1,456	1,514	2,970			
26.0 course	Yes	20	11	31	2.934	1	.087
credits	No	1,454	1,510	2,964			
2.0 mathematics	Yes	2	4	6	.607	1	.436
course credits	No	1,472	1,517	2,989			
2.0 foreign	Yes	18	14	32	.640	1	.424
credits	No	1,456	1,507	2,963			
Other course	Yes	15	20	35	.573	1	.449
credit	No	1,459	1,501	2,960			
* $p < .05$							

**Race-ethnicity.** Tables 11 and 12 present the chi-square analyses conducted to investigate the association between receiving each type of waiver and race-ethnicity stratified by disability status. A chi-square test of independence confirmed an association between receiving a waiver and race-ethnicity for students with disabilities,  $X^2$  (1, N = 208) = 10.338, p = .016, and students without disabilities,  $X^2(1, N = 2.995) = 13.794$ , p = .003. The chi-square test of independence also revealed an association between receiving a mathematics waiver and race-ethnicity for students with disabilities,  $X^2(1, N = 2.08) = 15.386$ , p = .002. An association also existed between receiving a waiver for other course credit and race-ethnicity for both students with disabilities,  $X^2(1, N = 208) = 13.608$ , p = .003, and students without disabilities,  $X^2(1, N = 2.995) = 9.617$ , p = .022. In addition, a

chi-square test of independence demonstrated an association between receiving a cumulative GPA waiver and race-ethnicity,  $X^2(1, N = 2,995) = 25.965$ , p = .001, and a 26 course credit waiver and race-ethnicity,  $X^2(1, N = 2,995) = 7.966$ , p = .047, for students without disabilities.

### Table 11

Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Race-Ethnicity for Students With Disabilities

			Race					
					Asian/			
	Waiver	White	Latino+	Black^	Multiracial			
Waiver type	received	(n = 93)	(n= 29)	(n = 48)	(n= 38)	$X^2$	df	р
Any waiver	Yes	25	11	25	18	10.338	3	.016**
	No	68	18	23	20			
Cumulative	Yes	2	1	0	0	2.408	3	.492
2.0 GPA	No	91	28	48	38			
26.0 course	Yes	0	0	1	1	2.932	3	.402
credits	No	93	29	47	37			
3.0	Yes	12	8	18	15	15.386	3	.002**
course credit	No	81	21	30	23			
2.0 foreign	Yes	19	2	11	8	3.428	3	.330
course credit	No	74	27	37	30			
Other course	Yes	9	5	10	14	13.608	3	.003**
credit	No	84	24	38	24			

\*\* *p* < .05

+Hispanic or Latino

^Black/African American

### Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Race-Ethnicity for Students

#### Without Disabilities

			Race-e	ethnicity				
					Asian/			
	Waiver	White	Latino+	Black^	Multiracial			
Waiver type	received	(n = 1,351)	(n = 525)	(n = 455)	(n = 664)	$X^2$	df	р
Δny waiver	Yes	50	20	24	9	13.794	3	0.003*
	No	1,301	505	431	655			
Cumulative	Yes	4	10	10	1	25.965	3	< 0.001*
2.0 GPA	No	1,347	515	445	663			
26.0 course	Yes	13	7	9	2	7.966	3	0.047*
credits	No	1,338	518	446	662			
3.0	Yes	3	1	2	0	2.670	3	0.445
course credits	No	1,348	524	453	664			
2.0 foreign	Yes	20	2	6	4	6.150	3	0.105
language course credits	No	1,331	523	449	660			
Other course	Yes	22	2	8	3	9.617	3	0.022*
credit	No	1,329	523	447	661			

\* p < .001

\*\* *p* < .05

+Hispanic or Latino

^Black/African American

Age. Tables 13 and 14 present chi-square analyses conducted to investigate the association between receiving each type of waiver and the categorical age variable (i.e., 15-16, 17, 18, +19) stratified by disability status. Data revealed an association between age and receiving a waiver for students without disabilities,  $X^2(1, N = 2,995) = 22.831, p = .001$ . The chi-square test of independence also demonstrated an association between age and receiving a cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver for students with disabilities,  $X^2(1, N = 2,995) = 49.304, p = .001$ .

Additionally, the chi-square test of independence demonstrated an association between age and receiving a foreign language waiver for both students with disabilities,  $X^2(1, N = 208) = 7.150, p = .028$ , and students without disabilities,  $X^2(1, N = 2,995) =$ 49.304, p = .001. Lastly, a chi-square test of independence revealed an association between age and receiving a waiver for other course credits for students with disabilities,  $X^2(1, N = 208) = 13.477, p = .001$ .

Table 13

Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Age for Students With

Disabilities

	Waiver	15-16	17	18	+19			
Waiver type	received	(n = 0)	(n = 31)	(n = 123)	(n = 54)	$X^2$	df	р
Any waiver	Yes	0	11	42	26	3.220	2	.200
	No	0	20	81	28			
Cumulative 2.0	Yes	0	0	0	3	8.681	2	.013**
GPA	No	0	31	123	51			
	Yes	0	1	1	0	2.222	2	.329
26.0 course credits	No	0	30	122	54			
3.0 mathematics	Yes	0	8	26	19	3.902	2	.142
course credits	No	0	23	97	35			
2.0 foreign	Yes	0	4	19	17	7.150	2	.028**
language course credits	No	0	27	104	37			
Other course and the	Yes	0	7	13	18	13.477	2	<.001*
Other course credit	No	0	24	110	36			

\* *p* < .001 \*\* *p* < .05

### Chi-Square Test of Receiving a Waiver as a Function of Age for Students Without

#### Disabilities

		_		Age				
	Waiver	15-16	17	18	+19			
Waiver type	received	(n = 22)	(n =895)	(n = 1,856)	(n = 222)	$X^2$	df	р
A nu mainar	Yes	1	29	53	20	22.831	3	<.001*
Ally walvel	No	21	866	1,803	202			
Cumulative	Yes	0	4	10	11	49.304	3	<.001*
2.0 GPA	No	22	891	1,846	211			
26.0 course	Yes	0	9	16	6	6.807	3	.078
credits	No	22	886	1,840	216			
3.0	Yes	0	2	2	2	6.313	3	.097
mathematics course credits	No	22	893	1,854	220			
2.0 foreign	Yes	1	7	16	8	17.456	3	<.001*
language course credits	No	21	888	1,840	214			
Other course	Yes	0	16	16	3	4.805	3	.187
credit	No	22	879	1,840	219			

\* *p* < .001

#### **Research Question 3**

Research question 3: A). What is the probability that students with and without disabilities will receive any type of waiver of the graduation requirements for a standard diploma in 2012, controlling for other personal characteristics (i.e., disability status, age, gender, and race-ethnicity)? B). What is the probability that students with and without disabilities will receive specific types of waivers in 2012 (i.e., cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, 26.0 course credits waiver, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, and/or other course credit waiver), controlling for other personal characteristics?

The sections below present the logistic regression for waiver/no waiver, 2.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, and other course credits waiver. These sections do not include the logistic regression analyses for waiver types cumulative 2.0 GPA and 26.0 course credits waiver, due to the small sample size of waiver packets submitted for students with disabilities in each waiver category (cumulative 2.0 GPA, n = 3; 26.0 course credits, n = 2). The results were not reliable because of the small number of waivers granted.

**Waiver/ No waiver**. I conducted a logistic regression analysis for receipt of a waiver considering the four student personal characteristics (i.e., disability status, age, gender, and race-ethnicity), and the interaction between disability status and race-ethnicity (Table 15). Age (OR = 1.58; 95% C.I. = 1.24 - 2.01; p-value = <0.001) and disability status (OR = 4.53; 95% C.I. = 2.16 - 9.49; p-value = <0.001) significantly predicted receipt of a waiver. Results indicated that older students had increased odds (1.58 times) of receiving a waiver, and students with disabilities had increased odds (4.53 times) of receiving a waiver than students without disabilities. Students with disabilities were almost five times more likely to receive a waiver than students without disabilities. The model also demonstrated a significant interaction between race-ethnicity and disability status (OR = 1.69; 95% C.I. = 1.26 - 2.29; p-value = <0.001). For this reason, stratified logistic regression models were performed for each race-ethnicity.

This paragraph presents the results of the logistic regression for interaction between disability status and race-ethnicity (Table 16). Results indicated having a disability increased the odds of receiving a waiver, regardless of the student's raceethnicity. Specifically, White students with disabilities had increased odds (6.7 times) of receiving a waiver than White non-disabled students (OR = 7.69; 95% C.I.= 4.37 - 13.55; p-value  $= \langle 0.001 \rangle$  and are almost 7 times more likely to receive a waiver than students without disabilities; Hispanic-Latino students with disabilities had increased odds (12.6 times) of receiving a waiver than non-disabled Hispanic-Latino students (OR = 13.64; 95% C.I.= 5.51 - 33.75; p-value = <0.001) and are almost 13 times more likely to receive a waiver; Black/African American students with disabilities had increased odds (15.5 times) of receiving a waiver than Black/African American non-disabled students (OR =16.51; 95% C.I. = 8.05 - 33.90; p-value = <0.001) and are almost 17 times more likely to receive a waiver. Asian/Multi-racial students with disabilities also had increased odds (52.2 times) of receiving a waiver than Asian/Multi-racial non-disabled students (OR = 53.15; 95% C.I. = 20.23 - 139.66; p-value = <0.001) and almost 52 times more likely to receive a waiver. It should be noted that there is a potential limitation due to the sample size of students with disabilities. In summary, although students with disabilities are more likely to receive a waiver than students without disabilities, regardless of race/ethnicity, non-White students with disabilities have increased likelihood of receiving a waiver than White students with disabilities.

# Summary of Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Receipt of Waiver With Interaction

## of Race

Predictor	В	SE	OR	95% CI	р
Constant	-11.19	2.33	0.00		< 0.001*
Gender <sup>a</sup>					
Male	-0.13	0.17	0.88	[0.63, 1.23]	0.451
Age-Year <sup>b</sup>	0.46	0.12	1.58	[1.24, 2.01]	< 0.001*
Race-Ethnicity <sup>c</sup>	-0.16	0.09	0.85	[0.72, 1.01]	0.069
Disabled <sup>d</sup>	1.51	0.38	4.53	[2.16, 9.49]	< 0.001*
Interaction					
Race-Ethnicity *					
Disabled	0.53	0.15	1.69	[1.26, 2.29]	< 0.001*
<i>Note</i> . $CI = confidence inter$	val for odds	ratio (OR)			
<sup>a</sup> Comparison group = fema	le				

Comparison group = Temate <sup>b</sup> Age-Year = continuous <sup>c</sup> Comparison group = White <sup>d</sup> Comparison group = not disabled \*p < .001

Summary of Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Receipt of Waiver Stratified by Race

Predictor	В	SE	OR	95% CI	р
White (Model 1)					
Constant	-11.46	3.26	0.00		< 0.001*
Gender <sup>a</sup>	-0.04	0.26	0.96	[0.58, 1.58]	0.866
Age-Year <sup>b</sup>	0.45	0.17	1.57	[1.12, 2.20]	0.009
Disabled <sup>c</sup>	2.04	0.28	7.69	[4.37, 13.55]	< 0.001*
Hispanic/Latino	(Model 2)				
Constant	-14.85	6.29	0.00		0.018**
Gender <sup>a</sup>	-0.57	0.41	0.56	[0.25, 1.25]	0.159
Age-Year <sup>b</sup>	0.68	0.34	1.97	[1.02, 3.82]	0.045
Disabled <sup>c</sup>	2.61	0.46	13.64	[5.51, 3.75]	< 0.001*
Black/African An	merican (Mo	del 3)			
Constant	-16.70	6.31	0.00		0.008*
Gender <sup>a</sup>	0.22	0.36	1.25	[0.62, 2.51]	0.528
Age-Year <sup>b</sup>	0.73	0.33	2.09	[1.08, 4.02]	0.028
Disabled <sup>c</sup>	2.80	0.37	16.51	[8.05, 3.90]	< 0.001*
Asian/Multi-racia	al (Model 4)				
Constant	-9.30	4.97	0.00		0.062
Gender <sup>a</sup>	-0.34	0.49	0.71	[0.28, 1.84]	0.486
Age-Year <sup>b</sup>	0.30	0.27	1.35	[0.79, 2.30]	0.268
Disabled <sup>c</sup>	3.97	0.49	53.15	[20.23, 139.66]	< 0.001*

*Note*. CI = confidence interval for odds ratio (OR)

<sup>a</sup> Comparison group = female

<sup>b</sup>Age-Year = continuous

<sup>c</sup> Comparison group = not disabled

+Hispanic or Latino

\*p < .001

\*\* p < .05

2.0 foreign language course credits waiver. Table 17 details the results of a

logistic regression analysis conducted for receipt of a 2.0 foreign language course credits

waiver, considering the four student personal characteristics (i.e., disability status, age,

gender, and race-ethnicity). Age (OR = 1.77; 95% C.I. = 1.29 - 2.42; p-value = < 0.001),

Hispanic-Latinos as compared to White students (OR = 0.29; 95% C.I. = 0.09-0.83; p-

value = < .05), and disability status (OR = 15.93; 95% C.I. = 9.47 - 26.80; p-value = < 0.001) significantly predicted receipt of a 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver. Results indicated that older students had increased odds (2.0 times) of receiving a 2.0 foreign language waiver. Hispanic-Latino students had 72.0 percent lower odds of receiving a 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver than White students. Students with disabilities had increased odds (16.0 times) of receiving a 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver than students without disabilities. The analyses of interactions between disability status and race-ethnicity were conducted; however results were not significant and are not reported.

Table 17

Summary of Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Receipt of a Foreign Language

Waiver

Predictor	В	SE	OR	95% CI	р
Constant	-14.46	3.03	0.00		0.000
Gender <sup>a</sup>	-0.20	0.27	0.82	[0.46, 1.37]	0.444
Age-Year <sup>b</sup>	0.57	0.16	1.77	[1.29, 2.42]	< 0.001*
Race-Ethnicity <sup>c</sup>					
Hispanic/Latino	-1.25	0.54	0.29	[0.09, 0.83]	0.021**
Black/African American	0.09	0.32	1.09	[0.59, 2.04]	0.776
Asian/Multi-racial	-0.47	0.36	0.63	[0.312, 1.26]	0.192
Disabled <sup>d</sup>	2.77	0.26	15.93	[9.47, 26.80]	< 0.001*

<sup>a</sup>Comparison group = female

<sup>b</sup>Age-Year = continuous

<sup>c</sup>Comparison group = White

<sup>d</sup>Comparison group = not disabled

#### **3.0 mathematics course credits waiver**. Table 18 details the results of a logistic

regression analysis conducted for receipt of a 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver

considering the four student personal characteristics (i.e., disability status, age, gender,

<sup>\*</sup>p < .001

<sup>\*\*</sup>p < .05

and race-ethnicity). Age (OR = 1.80; 95% C.I. = 1.22 - 2.68; p-value = < 0.003), Black/African American students as compared to White students (OR = 4.11; 95% CI =1.87 - 9.03; p-value = < .001), Asian/Multi-racial students as compared to White Students  $(OR = 2.94; 95\% \ 1.26 - 26.83; p-value < .05)$ , and disability status  $(OR = 137.86; 95\% \ 1.26)$ C.I. = 57.02 - 333.30; p-value = < 0.001) each significantly predicted receipt of a 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver. Results indicated that older students had increased odds (2.0 times) of receiving a 3.0 mathematics course credit waiver. Black/African American students had increased odds (3.11 times) of receiving a 3.0 mathematics waiver than White students and Asian/Multi-racial students were 1.94 times more likely to receive a 3.0 mathematics waiver than White students. Students with disabilities had increased odds (136.8 times) of receiving a 3.0 math waiver than students without disabilities. This suggests that students with disabilities are almost 137 times more likely to receive a mathematics waiver than students without disabilities. Furthermore, these findings also suggest that Black/African American and Asian/Multi-racial students are almost 2 to 3 times more likely to receive a mathematics waiver than White students regardless of age or disability status. It is important to note that there is a potential limitation due to the sample size of students with disabilities and students for each raceethnic group. The interaction between disability status and race-ethnicity was also conducted; however results were not significant and are not reported.

Predictor	В	SE	OR	95% CI	р
Constant	-17.86	3.84	0.00		0.000
Gender <sup>a</sup>	0.04	0.32	1.04	[0.56, 1.96]	0.898
Age-Year <sup>b</sup>	0.59	0.20	1.80	[1.22, 2.68]	0.003**
Race-Ethnicity <sup>c</sup>					0.004**
Hispanic/Latino	0.89	0.49	0.07	[0.94, 6.35]	0.066
Black /African American	1.41	0.40	4.11	[1.87, 9.03]	< 0.001*
Asian/Multi-racial	1.08	0.43	2.94	[1.26, 6.83]	0.012**
Disabled <sup>d</sup>	4.93	0.45	137.86	[57.02, 333.30]	< 0.001*

Summary of Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Receipt of a Mathematics Waiver

<sup>a</sup>Comparison group = female

<sup>b</sup>Age-Year = continuous

<sup>c</sup> Comparison group = White

<sup>d</sup>Comparison group = not disabled

\**p* < .001

\*\**p* < .05

Other course credit waiver. Table 19 presents data from a logistic regression analysis conducted for receipt of a waiver for other course credits considering the four student personal characteristics (i.e., disability status, age, gender, and race-ethnicity). A student's disability status significantly predicted receipt of a waiver for other course credits (OR = 17.99; 95% C.I. = 10.79 - 30.00; p-value = < 0.001). Students with disabilities had increased odds (16.9 times) of receiving an other course credit waiver as compared to students without disabilities. This suggests that students with disabilities are almost 17 times more likely to receive an other course credit waiver than students without disabilities. The predictors of gender, age, and race-ethnicity were not significant for receipt of an other course credit waiver. The interaction between disability status and race-ethnicity was also analyzed; however results were not significant and are not reported.

Waiver

#### Summary of Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Receipt of Other Course Credit

Predictor	В	SE	OR	95% CI	р		
Constant	-4.81	0.75	0.01		0.000		
Gender <sup>a</sup>	0.05	0.25	1.05	[0.64, 1.72]	0.856		
Age-Year <sup>b</sup>	0.90	0.20	1.09	[0.73, 1.64]	0.662		
Race-Ethnicity <sup>c</sup>					0.313		
Hispanic/Latino	-0.47	0.43	0.63	[0.27, 1.46]	0.280		
Black /African American	0.35	0.32	1.42	[0.76, 2.64]	0.275		
Asian/Multi-racial	0.22	0.32	1.25	[0.67, 2.33]	0.486		
Disabled <sup>d</sup>	2.90	0.26	17.99	[10.79, 30.00]	< 0.001*		

*Note*. CI = confidence interval for odds ratio (OR)

<sup>a</sup>Comparison group = female

<sup>b</sup>Age-Year = continuous

<sup>c</sup> Comparison group = White

<sup>d</sup>Comparison group = not disabled

\**p* < .001

#### **Research Question 4**

Research question 4: What are the rationales for granting waivers to students with disabilities who graduated with a standard diploma in 2012, as documented on the PSS waiver request document? To answer research question 4, I reviewed each waiver packet to identify the common rationales documented on the waiver request document for the 79 students with disabilities who were granted a waiver. I then coded each rationale for receiving the waiver(s) following a five-level coding protocol originally detailed in Chapter 3. These protocols included

- *Waiver rationale 1*: Student's current or prior academic performance was poor.
- *Waiver rationale 2*: Impact of the student's specific disability type and assessed academic weakness identified by an assessment (e.g., Woodcock

Johnson Test of Achievement) administered as part of the special education eligibility process in a specific domain (i.e., mathematics, expressive language, language processing).

- *Waiver rationale 3*: Impact of the student's specific disability type and the frustration displayed by the student in an academic course (e.g., mathematics, or foreign language).
- *Waiver rationale 4*: The rationale for the waiver was unclear based upon the submitted documentation.
- *Waiver rationale 5:* Graduation requirements based on previous Local Education Agency and not the requirements of the PSS.

Of the 208 students with disabilities who graduated in 2012, 79 students with disabilities had a waiver packet submitted to the PSS Headquarters Office requesting a total of 136 waivers. The majority of waiver packets submitted included waiver requests for mathematics, foreign language, and other course credits (i.e., physical education, science). Of the 79 students with disabilities who obtained a waiver, 53 students (67%) received a waiver for one or more mathematics course credits, 40 students (51%) received a waiver for one or more foreign language course credits, and 38 students (48%) received a waiver for one or more other course credits. The majority of rationales for these waiver requests were based on the students' assessed academic weakness, poor prior performance, or display of frustration.

The review of each waiver packet submitted for students with disabilities identified inconsistencies in the statements made by the PSS IEP team for waiving one or more diploma requirements. These included when the waivers were granted (i.e., the time of the school year when the IEP team met), the rationales included on the waiver request documents (e.g., student frustration, likelihood of the student not being successful due to the level of course rigor, or poor student performance), which staff members were in attendance (e.g., school counselor, special educator, general educator) and their relationship to the student (e.g., current or prior special or general educator) and there also appeared to be a lack of understanding of the PSS school system's criteria for when to waive requirements (e.g., waiving courses without documentation of curricular accommodations attempted, or without student's first participating in the course).

Overall, comments included on the waiver request documents appeared to suggest general lowered expectations for students with disabilities and what they were capable of accomplishing academically in light of their identified disability (e.g., student with a learning impairment could not be successful taking a foreign language course, or having a mathematics disability and not being able to successfully participate in an Algebra I course).

Table 20 presents a summary of the five rationales used to justify each waiver request packet. The most frequently used rationale was Rationale 2, "impact of the student's specific disability type and assessed academic weakness." A review of the comments provided on the waiver request packet noted the impact of the student's assessed academic weakness using standardized testing (e.g., Woodcock Johnson Test of Achievement) conducted during the special education eligibility process. Comments provided on waiver packets submitted for many students who received a mathematics waiver referenced the student's assessed deficit in mathematics (e.g., mathematical functions below the 10% on the Woodcock Johnson Test of Achievement), and the challenges the student experienced in higher-level courses like Algebra I and II. Several student waiver request packets (n = 14) justified the mathematics waiver by noting the student's anticipated difficulty in a mathematics course, rather than his or her past performance. This rationale suggests that the PSS excluded students from taking some requisite courses due to their having a disability, instead of their poor performance or assessed academic weakness in mathematics.

Several mathematics waiver requests were submitted for students without assessed deficits in mathematics. For example, several waiver packets submitted (n = 22) were for students with assessed academic deficits in language processing or information processing, rather than an assessed deficit in the area of mathematics. In each instance, the waiver request document included language requesting the student to be excluded from taking a higher-level mathematics course (e.g., Algebra I, & Algebra II).

Comments provided for students who received a foreign language course waiver included, "the student previously twice failed a foreign language course," "student had been unsuccessful in a foreign language course even with excessive accommodations," or "assessed language and reading comprehensive difficulties would result in problems in a foreign language."

Comments for Rationale 1, "student's current or prior academic performance was poor", included statements supporting the students exclusion from participating in a foreign language course due to the students anticipated "frustration level"; or "emotional needs" (for a student with emotional disturbance). Additionally, one student's waiver packet for a cumulative GPA and mathematics course credit waiver indicated, "…his [the student's] past performance is a strong indicator that he will not mathematically be able to raise his cumulative GPA to the required minimum level prior to the end of the school year."

Table 21 displays the number of waiver packets submitted for students with disabilities by disability type and rationale (n = 79). Students identified as Learning Impairment- Specific Learning Disability received a waiver more frequently than other disability types because of their assessed academic weakness. Applicants consistently documented this rationale with an explanation of the student's assessed area of academic weakness (i.e., mathematics, information processing, and language delay) and the negative impact this academic deficit would have on the student's educational progress and ability to meet the minimum requirements for the standard diploma.

For Rationale 3, "impact of the student's specific disability type and the frustration displayed by the student in an academic course," one waiver packet was submitted for a student with an emotional disturbance, two packets were submitted for students other health impaired, specifically ADHD, and four were submitted for Learning Impairment- Specific Learning Disability. Comments referenced the student's frustration level, performance, non-complaint classroom behavior, and one comment included, "…student seems to be getting more and more frustrated in class, [has] basically shut down."

The rationales indicated on seven waiver packets were unclear or ambiguous. Three of the waiver packets were submitted for Rationale 5, "based upon the graduation requirements of the student's previous Local Education Agency."

	2.0	26.0	3.0 Math	2.0 FL	Other	-
Rationale	GPA^	CC	CC	CC	CC	Total
1) Poor academic performance*	1	0	10	7	8	26
<ul> <li>Disability type/academic weakness</li> </ul>	2	2	35	23	26	88
3) Disability type/student frustration	0	0	4	5	0	9
4) Unclear rationale	0	0	4	2	4	10
5) GR of LEA not the PSS	8	0	0	3	0	3
Total waivors	3	2	53	40	38	136
10tal walvels %	2.2%	1.5%	38.9%	29.4%	28.0%	100%

### Rationale for Granting Waiver to Students With Disabilities by Waiver Type

*Note*. LEA = Local Education Agency; GR = graduation requirements; PSS = Participating School System \*poor current or prior academic performance ^ cumulative 2.0 GPA

### Waiver Packets Submitted for Students With Disabilities by Disability Type and

### Rationale

		F	Rationale		
	1	2	3	4	5
	Poor academic	Disability type/	Disability	Unclear	GR of LEA
Disability type	performance*	weakness	frustration	rationale	not the PSS
Autism	1	3	0	1	0
Deaf, blind, hearing, vision	0	0	0	0	0
Emotional disturbance	1	3	1	0	0
Other health impairment	3	6	2	1	0
Orthopedic impairment	0	1	0	0	0
Traumatic brain injury	0	0	0	0	0
Speech— Language impairment	0	0	0	0	0
LI—Specific learning disability	10	31	4	5	3
LI—Intellectual disability	0	3	0	0	0
Total	15	47	7	7	3

*Note.* LEA = Local Education Agency; GR = graduation requirements; PSS = Participating School System; LI = learning impairment

\*poor current or prior academic performance

#### **Chapter Summary**

The results of this study revealed that students with disabilities were more likely to receive a waiver of the requirements for the standard diploma than students without disabilities. Of the characteristics investigated in this study, disability status, age, and race-ethnicity, were found to increase the likelihood of receiving a waiver for the requirements necessary to receive a standard diploma. The data revealed no statistically significant relationship between gender and a student's receipt of a waiver, with the exception of students without disabilities and receiving a cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver. When examining the associations between receiving any waiver type, a 3.0 mathematics course credit waiver, a 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, or a other course credit waiver, students with disabilities were more likely to receive these waivers than their non-disabled counterparts. The data revealed no association between having a disability and a student's receipt of either a cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver or a 26.0 course credits waiver.

There was an association between race-ethnicity and students receiving any type of waiver, a 3.0 mathematics course credit waiver, and an other course credit waiver. The data indicated that no association existed between race-ethnicity, disability status, and waiver types for the cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, the 26.0 course credit waiver, or the 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver.

Further analysis using logistic regression identified that disability status, age, and race-ethnicity significantly increased the odds and likelihood of receiving a waiver for students with disabilities. Results indicated that having a disability increased the odds for receiving a waiver, regardless of a student's race-ethnicity. Characteristics that increased the odds of receiving a 2.0 foreign language course credit waiver included the student's disability status and age. Additionally, Hispanic/Latino students were less likely to receive a 2.0 foreign language course credit waiver compared to White students. Black/African American students and Asian/Multi-racial students were not more likely to receive a 2.0 foreign language course credit waiver than White students. Disability status,

age, and race-ethnicity, each increased the odds for Black/African American and receiving a 3.0 mathematics course credit waiver. Hispanic/Latino and Asian/Multi-racial students were not more likely to receive a 3.0 mathematics course credit waiver than White students. For receipt of the other course credit waiver, only disability status increased the odds of receiving this waiver type.

Analysis of the rationales used for granting a waiver to the 79 students with disabilities who graduated in 2012 from the PSS revealed that application reviewers consistently cited the impact of the student's specific disability type and assessed academic weakness as the reason for granting the waiver. Additionally, comments suggested that the PSS excluded many students with disabilities from participating in courses because of the anticipated frustration or anxiety the students might display in the classroom environment as a result of their disability.

In the next chapter I discuss the implications of these findings related to educational policy, practice, and future research regarding the characteristics of students with disabilities and their ability to meet the requirements for the standard diploma.

#### **Chapter V: Discussion**

This study provided an opportunity to explore and identify the characteristics associated with the receipt of a waiver for the requirements necessary to earn the standard diploma among students with and without disabilities. These factors included: 1) disability status, 2) gender, 3) age, and 4) race-ethnicity. The sample for this study comprised students with and without disabilities who graduated with a standard diploma from the PSS in 2012. Student data used in this study consisted of individual characteristics (i.e., disability status, age, gender, and race-ethnicity) and educational characteristics (i.e., cumulative GPA and course credits earned).

I used chi-square analyses to examine the differences between students with and without disabilities and the factors associated with their receipt of a waiver (i.e., cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver, 26.0 course credits waiver, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, other course credit waiver). I followed the chi-square tests with logistic regression analyses to determine if certain variables (i.e., disability status, age, gender, and race-ethnicity) increased a student's odds of receiving any type of waiver or a specific type of waiver. Finally, I reviewed the rationales for granting waivers to students with disabilities documented on the waiver packets submitted to the PSS Headquarters Office.

This chapter presents a discussion of the study's findings. I begin the chapter with a discussion of the significant discoveries of this study, which included individual characteristics that increased the odds of receiving a waiver of the requirements for a standard diploma among a group of twelfth grade students with and without disabilities. Next, I discuss the implications of this study for educational policy and practice. I conclude with a discussion of the limitations of this study and directions for future research.

#### Findings

Overall, this study revealed several individual characteristics associated with a students' receipt of a waiver of the requirements for earning a standard diploma among students with and without disabilities. Chi-squares tests showed significant group differences between students overall regarding their receipt of a waiver based on disability status, race-ethnicity, and age; however, the test demonstrated that gender was only associated with the receipt of a cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver among students without disabilities. Logistic regression models indicated that disability status, race-ethnicity, and age, significantly increased the odds that students would receive any type of waiver, a 2.0 foreign language course credit waiver, a 3.0 mathematics course credit waiver, or a waiver for any other course credit. Results of the logistic regression models for receiving any type of waiver conducted for the interaction between disability status and race-ethnicity were also significant. The interaction between disability status and race-ethnicity were conducted for specific types of waivers; however results were not significant and are not reported.

Logistic regression analyses for waiver types cumulative 2.0 GPA and a 26.0 course credits waiver were not reported due to the small sample size of waiver packets submitted for students with disabilities.

**Characteristics of the student sample.** The majority of students with and without disabilities graduated from the PSS in 2012 and met the requirements for receipt of the standard diploma. Less than five percent of the 2012 graduating class received a

waiver of one or more of the minimum diploma requirements. Among students with disabilities, more students were identified as having a learning impairment-specific learning disability. The age of the students who graduated in 2012 ranged from 15-16 to 21 years, though the majority of students with disabilities fell into the 18 years age group. Overall, there were more White students with disabilities than other racial-ethnic groups, followed by Black/African American and Hispanic/Latino students. Although prior research found that students with disabilities earned fewer course credits and had a lower GPA than students without disabilities (Newman et al., 2011; Nord et al., 2011; Wagner et al., 2006), this study found the mean course credits earned was similar for both students with and without disabilities.

**Disability status.** A student's disability status was found to increase a student's odds of receiving any type of waiver and the specific waiver types, 3.0 mathematics course credits waiver, 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, and an other course credit waiver. Students with disabilities were almost five times more likely to receive a waiver than students without disabilities.

Individual characteristics. In this block of characteristics, I included raceethnicity, age, and gender. Overall, when combined with race-ethnicity, having a disability increased a student's odds of receiving any type of waiver regardless of their race-ethnicity. Asian/Multi-racial students with disabilities had the greatest odds of receiving a waiver, followed by Black/African American students with disabilities, Hispanic/Latino students with disabilities, and finally White students with disabilities. Although students with disabilities were more likely to receive a waiver than students without disabilities, regardless of race/ethnicity; non-White students with disabilities
were more likely to receive a waiver than White students with disabilities. However, for receipt of a 2.0 foreign language course credits waiver, Hispanic-Latino students with disabilities were less likely to receive this waiver type than were White students with disabilities. It is unclear if this is due to Hispanic-Latino students with disabilities receiving foreign language course credits based upon language fluency in their first language (e.g., Spanish). Results of this study also indicated that older students with and without disabilities had increased odds of receiving a waiver. However, student gender was not found to be associated with receiving any type of waiver for students with or without disabilities. The one exception was for students without disabilities; an association was found between gender and receiving a cumulative 2.0 GPA waiver. Results should be interpreted with caution due to the small sample size of the study.

**Educational characteristics.** A review of the rationales used by the PSS for granting waivers to students with disabilities proved quite informative. PSS representatives granted the majority of waiver requests based upon each student's (a) assessed academic weakness (as determined during the special education eligibility process), (b) poor prior performance, and/or (c) frustration displayed in the educational setting. These findings support existing research which identified the challenges encountered by students with disabilities as they sought to meet increased rigorous secondary requirements (Heubert, 2001; Kaufman, 1999). The results of this study were also consistent with previous studies which indicated that students with disabilities, more than their non-disabled peers, exit high school having completed a below-standard curriculum (Nord et al., 2011).

The PSS IEP team documented that by nature of the student's disability, the student would be unable to successfully complete some of the established requirements for receipt of the standard diploma (e.g., Algebra I). These findings suggest an alternate set of expectations is at play; one set for students without disabilities and another set for students with disabilities. Furthermore, as previously mentioned, students with disabilities had increased odds of receiving a 3.0 mathematics waiver than their nondisabled peers. This is an important finding considering the emphasis placed on mathematics and the need for student's to exit high school with an increased understanding of mathematics concepts. A review of the waiver request documents submitted for students with disabilities revealed that Algebra I and/or Geometry were the type of courses commonly waived. School special education teams, administrators, and regular educators should work to identify appropriate accommodations and/or modifications to increase student participation in such general education courses. These findings are consistent with the view established by Dorn (1996) that by nature of increasing the requirements of the standard diploma it will be more difficult for marginalized groups such as students with disabilities to successfully meet the raised bar of educational expectations for receipt of the standard diploma.

#### **Implications for Policy and Practice**

The implications presented in this section are speculative because of the limitations presented in the following section. However, the findings of this study raise several important questions that educational leaders should include in their discourse about alternate diploma options and waiving minimum diploma requirements. One of the most compelling findings of this study revealed that students' disability status increased the likelihood that they would receive a waiver, particularly for the 2.0 mathematics course credit and 3.0 foreign language course credits requirements. When combined with race-ethnicity, students with disabilities of any racial-ethnic group were more likely to receive a waiver than students without a disability. These findings are consistent with previous research, which concluded that students with disabilities found it difficult to meet the increased requirements for the standard diploma (Center on Education Policy, 2007; Hehir, 2006; Johnson, Stout, & Thurlow, 2007; Kaufmann, 1999; Lehr et al., 2005).

Although the PSS established a process for requesting and granting waivers, the PSS has never investigated the characteristics of students who received one or more waivers of the requirements for the diploma. The results of this study revealed the PSS IEP team awarded waivers without understanding the intent of the PSSs policy for offering diploma waivers. My review of the rationales noted on the waiver request documents identified inconsistencies in the statements made by school staff and found that the majority of students with disabilities were systematically excluded from participating in rigorous courses, particularly mathematics and foreign language. Comments documented on the waiver requests revealed that IEP teams excluded students solely on the basis of their disability status and the likelihood that they would be unsuccessful should they participate in such courses. The findings of this study are telling in that the IEP team awarded waivers to the requirements for the standard diploma for students with disabilities without requiring students to participate in rigorous courses (e.g., Algebra I, Geometry); courses which would have increased their content knowledge and increased their likelihood for post-secondary success.

In light of these findings, this study revealed that the PSS IEP team had overall lowered expectations for students with disabilities than the expectations of performance for students without disabilities. To improve the integrity of the waiver process and the consistent implementation of the PSSs policy for granting waivers, the PSS should develop specific criteria and a clear protocol to be followed at the school level when considering the waiving of diploma requirements. Training of both general and special education staff should occur to ensure consistent implementation of the PSSs waiver policy. Additionally, school administrators and district superintendents should also receive training to provide appropriate oversight. The absence of such guidance and training will leave room for local interpretation by school personnel and disproportionate granting of waivers for minimum diploma requirements. To also assist in greater accountability and consistent implementation, the PSS should reconsider the locus of control for granting waivers to the district superintendent's level, rather than the local PSS IEP team.

This study suggests that granting of waivers should be made judiciously, following a clear set of criteria, and only after students have been afforded the opportunity to participate in challenging rigorous courses. Solely excluding students from rigorous courses without first providing sufficient accommodations and targeted instructional supports is incongruent with the intent of IDEA, NCLB, and now the Common Core State Standards Initiative.

The findings of this study are timely in light of the Common Core State Standards Initiative that will raise expectations for the educational achievement of all students (to include students with disabilities) and increase their content knowledge in core academic areas (i.e., mathematics, English language arts). Many SEAs plan on maintaining existing requirements for receipt of the standard diploma to include requisite exit exams, specific rigorous courses, or offer alternate options to the diploma (McIntosh, 2012). Since many of the states that have adopted the Common Core Standards also allow the IEP team to make decisions for students with disabilities regarding the completion of high school and earning the diploma (Johnson & Thurlow, 2003; Thurlow et al., 2010), the findings of this study should be reviewed carefully by SEAs as they evaluate their processes for reducing or waiving diploma requirements. As this first study of its kind to investigate the characteristics of students who received waivers, this study revealed that the decisions made by the IEP team are often incongruent with the intent of the educational standards movement to provide greater equity to all students, the IDEA, NCLB, and now with goal of the Common Core State Initiative.

That students with disabilities have increased odds of receiving a waiver of the requirements for the standard diploma than their non-disabled peers is telling in light of the language in the IDEA that ensures equal access to a free and appropriate education (20 U.S.C.A. § 1415(k)(I)(B); 34 C.F.R. § 300 et seq) for students with disabilities. This finding supports the opinion that providing alternate diploma options, or waivers for the requirements for the standard diploma, should be considered carefully in the context of the due process rights guaranteed by the IDEA (20 U.S.C.A. § 1415(k)(I)(B)).

School educators and administrators interested in identifying students who may be unable to successfully complete the requirements for the standard diploma can examine student records and evaluate the extent to which they are making progress and take particular note of students with disabilities and a student's race-ethnicity. Educators and administrators can follow this review with the implementation of evidence-based educational interventions that increase student success (Christenson & Anderson, 2002). Clearly, better educational screening services and the use of effective response to intervention (RTI) strategies and programs and early intervention – at the elementary and middle school levels - should be considered to increase student's content knowledge for later success in high school, with the hopes of completing minimum course requirements.

### **Limitations/Directions for Future Research**

While this study revealed many significant findings, readers should interpret its implications cautiously. Due to the small sample size of students with disabilities in this study, I did not investigate the association between a specific disability type and receiving a waiver. Future studies should include larger student samples and explore the impact of having a specific disability type (e.g., learning impairment-specific learning disability, emotional disturbance, etc.) on a student's ability to obtain a waiver(s) of requirements for the standard diploma. Furthermore, since I found that race-ethnicity and age both served as significant predictors of receiving a waiver, future studies should consider investigating the effect of multiple factors, and the interactions between these multiple factors (i.e., disability type and race-ethnicity; disability type and age) on a student's likelihood of receiving a waiver.

Additionally, while I found a significant association between certain individual student factors—age, race-ethnicity, and disability status—and students' receipt of a waiver, I did not investigate the impact of the students' educational services or programs. Future research in this area would help SEAs and LEAs to develop appropriate educational services for students with disabilities.

I did not investigate the impact of socio economic status on a student's likelihood of receiving a waiver. Future research should look at the relationship between a student's socio economic status and multiple factors (i.e., disability status, age, and race-ethnicity) and how this may impact their receiving a waiver.

### **Chapter Summary**

The purpose of this study was to identify the characteristics associated with waving the requirements for receiving the standard diploma. Overall, the findings extend the existing research documenting the challenges faced by students with disabilities in meeting the increased requirements for receipt of the standard diploma. Importantly, this study found several characteristics associated with students receiving a waiver to include disability status, race-ethnicity, and age. This study suggests the granting of waivers should be made judiciously, following a clear set of criteria, and only after students have been afforded the opportunity to participate in challenging rigorous courses. Although this study was limited due to the sample size the findings remain timely for the considered of U.S. SEAs and LEAs as they continue to review the types of diplomas options offered. Future research should include larger student sample sizes and also investigate the impact of specific disability types and possible association with receiving a waiver.

Examining the complex interactions between a student's disability status, age, and the type of educational supports received is needed to gain a better understanding of why students with disabilities are unable to meet the requirements for the standard diploma. Particularly with the advent of the Common Core State Standards Initiative, as states continue to experiment with alternatives to the standard diploma, SEAs and LEAs must clearly understand the student characteristics associated with receiving a waiver.

It would also be beneficial to hear from students with disabilities themselves. Qualitative research to include interviews, surveys, and classroom observations can provide additional information regarding students' experiences in high school and the challenges encountered in the completion of requirements for the standard diploma. I end this study hoping that, at the very least, this study has raised important questions and provided additional pathways for further investigation.

## Appendices

## Appendix A

## Articles Included in the Critical Review of Research Studies: Graduation Requirements and Diploma Options for Students with

and without Disabilities

Study	Description of Purpose
Bouck & Washburn- Moses, 2010	To examine the implementation of an alternate route to the standard diploma in one state. Also to examine the consistency of implementation of the states exit exam waiver procedure for students with and without disabilities.
Center on Education Policy, 2008	To identify current states trends in requiring exit exams as part of the minimum criteria to earn the standard diploma. Reports on an increase in the number of end-of-course exams and a decrease in the number of year-end exit exams.
Gaumer Erickson, Kleinhammer-Tramill, & Thurlow, 2007	To analyze the relationship between high school exit exams and diploma options for students with disabilities. Also, to investigate if exit certificates are awarded to students with disabilities than students without disabilities, and characteristics of students who receive nontraditional exit certificates. Recommendations for graduation polices are offered.
Guy, Shin, Lee, & Thurlow, 1999	To identify the graduation requirements and diploma options for students with and without disabilities. Also to provide policy makers with graduation database to track changes over time as policy changes are implemented. Recommendations for graduation polices are offered.
Johnson & Thurlow, 2003	To examine results of national study on state graduation and diploma options for student with and without disabilities. Also to identify the varieties and differences of polices across the U.S., intended and unintended consequences of required exit exams and multiple diploma options.

# Recommendations for graduation polices are offered

Johnson, Stout, & Thurlow, 2009	To replicate a 2002 survey of state graduation policies and diploma options for students with and without disabilities. Also, policies were examined regarding intended and unintended consequences of multiple diploma options. Recommendations for graduation polices are offered.
Johnson, Thurlow, & Stout, 2007	To update the status of graduation policies, minimum requirements, and diploma options for 2007 students with and without disabilities. Also to identify the varieties and differences of polices across the U.S., intended and unintended consequences of required exit exams and multiple diploma options. Recommendations for graduation polices are offered.
Johnson, Thurlow, Stout, & Mavis, 2007	To describe the range of graduation requirements, testing practices, and alternate diploma options for students with and without disabilities. Also, what is the procedure for students with disabilities who fail the exit exam.
Krentz, Thurlow, Shyyan, & Scott, 2005	To identify the alternate diploma options to include required exit exams and if waivers are available to students who do not pass the tests. Also, what are the criteria for students to access the alternate routes.
Thurlow, Cormier, & Vang, 2009	To investigate the alternate routes available that states with exit exams provide for students with and without disabilities.
Thurlow, Vang, & Cormier, 2010	To examine current alternate routes to the standard diploma for students with and without disabilities. Recommendations for graduation polices are offered.
Thurlow, Ysseldyke, &	To identify state graduation requirements and policies are applied to students with

Anderson, 1995	disabilities. Also, the extent to which students with disabilities receive the standard diploma or an alternate certificate.
Thurlow, Ysseldyke, & Reid, 1997	To investigate the status of alternate diploma options and how state polices are applied to students with disabilities. Also, what are the types of exit documents available to students with disabilities and are they required to participate in the state exit exam.
Vernon, Baytops, McMahon, Padden, et al., 2003	To identify the types of diploma options available to students with and without disabilities Also, the types of options that are only available to students with disabilities.
Zhang, 2009	To identify long term trends of state graduation policies and student performance. Also, the study looks at long-term changes in the exams offered over an eight-year period to include trends in alternate paths to the standard diploma, and the pass rates of state exit exams.

## Appendix B

Articles Included in the Critical Review of Research Studies: Secondary School Experiences and Characteristics of Students

with and without Disabilities

Study	Description of Purpose
Planty & Provasnik, 2007	To examine data from high school transcripts studies that were conducted between 1982 to 2005, to identify what states require for coursework and Carnegie credits necessary to graduate with the standard diploma. Also, the study looks at student participation in advanced courses to include science, mathematics, and foreign language.
Wagner, Newman, & Cameto, 2004	To compare the results of the National Longitudinal Transition Study and the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2, and identify the characteristics of students with disabilities, their school programs, participation, and attendance.
Wagner, Newman, D'Amico, Jay, et al., 1991	To detail finding from the National Longitudinal Transition Study of students with disabilities who transitioned from high school to early adulthood. The study examined experiences of students in the areas of education, personal independence, and employment.
Wagner, Newman, Cameto, Levine, et al., 2003	To identify the results of the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 regarding secondary students with disabilities, their individual characteristics, schools attended, types of school programs, classroom services, instruction in the general education classroom, and vocational courses/services.

## Appendix C

Articles Included in the Critical Review of Research Studies: Academic Performance of Students with and without Disabilities

Study	Description of Purpose
Newman, Wagner, Huang, Shaver, et al., 2011	To examine the results of the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 regarding the educational performance of secondary students with disabilities to include credits earned, and performance (GPA).
Nord, et al., 1991	To identify the results of the National High School Transition Study and the National Assessment of Educational Progress for students with and without disabilities. Results include data on course credits earned, comparison by gender, race/ethnicity, and academic performance (GPA).
Shaver, Newman, Huang, Yu, et al., 2011	To examine the results of the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 regarding the educational performance of secondary students with hearing impairments to include courses taken, credits earned, comparison with other disability categories, and academic performance (GPA).
Wagner, Marder, Blackorby, Cameto, et al., 2003	To examine the results of the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 regarding the educational performance of secondary students with disabilities regarding their level of school engagement, academic performance, social adjustment, and level of independence.
Wagner, Newman, Cameto, & Levine, 2006	To examine the results of the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 regarding the educational performance of secondary students with disabilities, specifically academic achievement and functional skills.
Wagner, Newman, Cameto,	To examine the result of the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2, Wave 1 and Wave 2 data,

Levine, et al., 2006	specifically regarding academic achievement, factors related to academic achievement, functional skills the educational performance of secondary students with disabilities, and post-secondary outcomes.
Yu, Newman, & Wagner, 2009	To examine the results of the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 regarding the educational performance of secondary students with mental retardation to include courses taken, credits earned, comparison with other disability categories, and academic performance (GPA).

### Appendix D

Letter to participant assisting with inter-rater reliability

Dear Ms. M., Participating School System Instructional Systems Specialist,

I appreciate your willingness to assist in establishing inter-rater reliability for my doctoral dissertation. You are being given a random sample of approximately 27 (20%) waiver requests submitted to the Participating School System, and 27 blank data collection sheets - one for each waiver request. Please complete each data collection sheet and return all documents to me (all waiver request documents (27) and corresponding coding sheets (27) in the enclosed envelope within 2 business days. Directions are written in italics on each data collection sheet.

Sincerely,

David Jay Cantrell

#### Appendix E

### Inter-rater Reliability Instructions and Data Collection Sheet

Directions: You will be reviewing 27 waiver request documents. This sheet will serve as the data collection sheet to record your identification of the waiver rationale documented on each of the 27 waiver requests. Please ensure that your response below corresponds to the waiver request document number, listed in section 1.

Section 1: Waiver Request Document Number: \_\_\_\_\_ (Write the number of the waiver request document to be reviewed on this data collection sheet)

Section 2: Identification of the rationale documented on the waiver request document:

1) Using the waiver request document that corresponds to the number written above, read the rationale provided on the waiver request document - located in the box in the middle of the page labeled - "Give a brief explanation for each category checked above."

2) After reading the rationale, use the following coding system to identify the reason for granting the waiver. Circle one of the waiver rationales below (1, 2, 3, 4, or 5) that best correlates with the rationale written on the waiver request document.

- Waiver rationale 1: The student's current or prior academic performance was poor.
- Waiver rationale 2: The impact of the student's specific disability type and assessed academic weakness (i.e., mathematics, expressive language).

- Waiver rationale 3: The impact of the student's specific disability type and the frustration displayed by the student in an academic course (i.e., mathematics, or foreign language).
- Waiver rationale 4: Unclear rationale.
- Waiver rationale 5: Graduation requirements based on previous Local Education Agency and not the requirements of the PSS

3) After circling the waiver rationale above, proceed to the next waiver request, and complete a new data sheet until all 27 waiver requests have been reviewed and coded.

After reviewing and rating each of the waiver requests, return all waiver request documents (27) and corresponding coding sheets (27) in the enclosed envelope to the Researcher.

Sincerely,

David Jay Cantrell

#### References

- Achieve. (2004). *Ready or not: Creating a high school diploma that counts*. Washington, DC: Achieve, Inc. Retrieved from http://www.achieve.org/files/ReadyorNot.pdf
- Achieve. (2008). Out of many, one: Toward rigorous common core standards from the ground up. Washington, DC: Author.

Achieve. (2011). Closing the Expectations Gap 2011: An Annual 50-State Progress Report on the Alignment of High School Policies with the Demands of College and Careers. Washington, DC: Achieve, Inc. Retrieved from http://www.achieve.org/ClosingtheExpectationsGap2011

- Achieve. (2012). Understanding the Skills in the Common Core State Standards. Washington, DC: Achieve, Inc. Retrieved from http://www.achieve.org/Skills-CCSS
- Albus, D., Lazarus, S. S., Thurlow, M. L., & Cormier, D. (2009). Characteristics of states' alternate assessments based on modified academic achievement standards in 2008 (Synthesis Report 72). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes.
- Alliance for Excellent Education. (2008). Every student counts: The case for graduation rate accountability (Policy Brief). Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from http://all4ed.org/files/ESA\_GradRateAcct.pdf
- Alliance for Excellent Education. (2009). *The high cost of high school dropouts: What the nation pays for inadequate high schools*. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from http://www.all4ed.org/publication\_material/fact\_sheets/high\_cost
- Alliance for Excellent Education. (2010). *Federal high school graduation rate policies and the impact on states.* Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from http://www.all4ed.org/publication\_material/federal\_grp

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C., § 12102 (1998).

- Amos, J. (2008). Dropouts, diplomas, and dollars: U.S. high schools and the nation's economy. Washington, DC: Alliance for Excellent Education.
- Aud, S., Hussar, W., Johnson, F., Kena, G., Roth, E., Manning, E., Wang, X., and Zhang,
  J. (2012). *The Condition of Education 2012* (NCES 2012-045). U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. Washington, DC.
  Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch
- Barton, P. E. (2005). One-third of a nation: Rising dropout rates and declining opportunities. *Policy Information Center*. Princeton: Educational Testing Service.
- Beatty, B., Cahan, E. D., & Grant, J. (2006). When science encounters the child: Education, parenting, and child welfare in 20th century America, (pp. 1- 31). New York: Teachers College Press.
- Benz, M., Lindstrom, L., & Yovanoff, P. (2000). Improving graduation and employment outcomes of students with disabilities: Predictive factors and student perspectives. *Exceptional Children*, 66(4), 509-529.
- Blackorby, J., & Wagner, M. (1996). Longitudinal postschool outcomes of youth with disabilities: Findings from the National Longitudinal Transition Study. *Exceptional Children*, 62(5), 399-413.
- Boesel, D., Alsalam, N., and Smith, T.M. (1998). *Educational and Labor Market Performance of GED Recipients*. U.S. Department of Education. Washington,
   DC.

- Boote, D. N., & Belle, P. (2005). Scholars before researchers: On the centrality of the dissertation literature review in research preparation. *Educational Researcher*, 34(6), 3-15.
- Bouck, E. C., & Washburn-Moses, L. (2010). The implementation of an alternate route to a diploma in one state. *Remedial & Special Education*, *31*(3), 2010.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2010, September). Back to college. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/spotlight/2010/college/
- Card, D. (1999). The causal effect of education on earnings, in: O. C. Ashenfelter and D. Card (Eds) *Handbook of Labor Economics*, vol. 3A, pp. 1801-1863 (Amsterdam: Elsevier).
- Catterall, J. (1987). On the social costs of dropping out. *The High School Journal*, 71 (1), 19-30.
- Center on Education Policy. (2006). *High school exit exams: Standards differ from the No Child Left Behind Act.* Washington, DC: Author. Center on Education Policy.
- Center on Education Policy. (2007). *State high school exit exams: Working to raise test scores*. Washington, DC: Author. Center on Education Policy.
- Center on Education Policy. (2008). *State high school exit exams: A move toward endof-course exams*. Washington, DC: Author. Center on Education Policy.
- Center on Education Policy. (2009a). State high school exit exams: Trends in test programs, alternate pathways, and pass rates. Washington, DC: Author.
- Center on Education Policy. (2010). State high school tests: Exit exams and other assessments. Washington, DC: Author.

- Christenson, S.L., & Anderson, A.R. (2002). Commentary: The centrality of the learning context for student's academic enabler skills. *School Psychology Review*, 31, 378-393.
- Cohen, M. (2002). Assessment and accountability: Lessons from the past, challenges for the future. Paper presented at a conference sponsored by the Thomas B. Fordham Foundation, *No Child Left Behind: What Will It Take?* Retrieved from http://www.edExcellence.net/foundation/topic/topic.cfm?topic\_id=5
- Common Core State Standards Initiative. (2013, January12). Corestandards.org. Retrieved from http://www.corestandards.org
- Council of Chief State School Officers. (2012). Framework for English Language Proficiency Development Standards corresponding to the Common Core State Standards and the Next Generation Science Standards. Washington, DC: CCSSO.
- Croninger, R., & Lee. (2001). Social captial and dropping out of school: Benefits to atrisk student of teacher support and guidance. *Teachers College Record*, 103(4), 548-581.
- Deaton, A. (2002). Policy implications fo the gradient of health and wealth, *Health Affairs*, *21*(2), pp. 13-30.
- DeStefano, L., & Metzer, D. (1991). High stakes testing and students with handicaps: An analysis of issues and policies. In R.E. Stake (Ed.), *Advances in program evaluation* (Vol. 1A). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Dickinson, D.L., & Verbeck, R.L. (2002). Wage differential between college graduates with and without learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 35(2), 175-184.

- Dorn, S. (1996). *Creating the dropout: An institutional and social history of school failure*. Westport, CT: Praeger.
- Dorn, S. (2003). High-stakes testing and the history of graduation. *Education Policy Analysis Archieves*, *11*. Retrieved from http://epaa.asu.edu/epaa/v2011n2001/
- Dunn, C., Chambers, D., & Rabren, K. (2004). Variables affecting students' decisions to drop out of school. *Remedial and Special Education*, 25(5), 314-323.

Education Amendments of 1974, Pub. L. No. 93-380, 88 Stat. 580.

Education of the Handicapped Act of 1970, Pub. L. No. 91-230, § 601-662, 84 Stat. 27.

Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975, 20 U.S.C. § 14-01 et seq.

Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, Pub. L. No. 89-10, 79 Stat. 27.

- Finkelstein, B. (2001). Is adolescence here to stay? Historical perspectives on youth and education. In T. Urban & F. Pajares (Eds.), Adolescence and Education: General Issues in the Education of Adolescents (pp. 1- 32).
- Franklin, B. M. (1989). Progressivism and curriculum differentiation: Special classes in the Atlanta public schools, 1898-1923. *History of Education Quarterly*, 29, 571-593.
- Gaumer, A. S. (2003). High stakes testing and college admission: A review of admissions policies in New Mexico. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes. Retrieved from

http://education.umn.edu/NCEO/OnlinePubs/CollegeAdmissionNM.html

Gaumer Erickson, A.S., & Morningstar, M. E. (2009). The impact of alternate high school exit certificates on access to postsecondary education. *Exceptionality*, *17*:150-163.

- Gaumer Erickson, A. S., Kleinhammer-Tramill, J., & Thurlow, M. L. (2007). An analysis of the relationship between high school exit exams and diploma options and the impact on students with disabilities. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 18(2), 117-128.
- Gay, L.R., Mills, G. E., & Airasian, P. (2006). Educational Research: Competencies for Analysis and Applications (8<sup>th</sup> ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Goals 2000: Educate America Act, Pub. Law No. 103-227. (1994). Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/legislation/GOALS2000/TheAct/index.html
- Goertz, M., & Duffy, M. (2003). Mapping the landscape of high-stakes testing and accountability programs. *Theory into Practice*, *42*(1), 4-11.
- Guy, B., Shin, H., Lee, S., & Thurlow, M. (1999). State graduation requirements for students with and without disabilities (Technical Report No. 24). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes.
  Retrieved from http://eduction.umn.edu/NCEO/OnilinePubs/Technical24.html
- Hartwig, J., & Sitlington, P. L. (2008). Employer perspectives on high school diploma options for adolescents with disabilities. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 19(1), 5-14.
- Hehir, T. (2006). *New Directions in Special Education: Eliminating Ableism in Policy and Practice.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.
- Heubert, J. P. (2001). *High-stakes testing: Opportunities and risks for students of color, English-language learners, and students with disabilities* (Policy Direction No.

10). Minneapolis: University of Minnesota. Retrieved from

http://www.cast.org/ncac/index.cfm?i=920#0

- Heubert, J. P. (2002). Disability, rate, and high-stakes testing for students. In G. Orfield & D. Losen, *Editions 2002. Minority issues in special education*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Publishing Group.
- Heubert, J. P., & Hauser, R. M. (1999). *High stakes: Testing for tracking, promotion, and graduation.* Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Hinkle, D. E., Wiersma, W., & Jurs, S. G. (2003). Applied statistics for the behavioral sciences(5th ed). Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Horn, L. J., & Carroll, C.D. (1997). Confronting the odds: Youth at risk and the pipeline to higher education (NCES 98-094). U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Howell, D. C. (2009). *Statistical methods for psychology* (7th ed). New York, NY: Wadsworth.
- Huck, S. W. (2012). Reading statistics and research (6th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- IBM SPSS Statistics Software, Version [19]. Copyright © 1989-2010 SPSS Inc. The Apache Software Foundation.
- Isaac, S., & Michael, W. B. (1997). *Handbook in Research and Evaluation* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). San Diego, California: Educational and Industrial Testing Services.

Improving America's Schools Act of 1994. Pub. L. No. 103-382. (1994).

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq.

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act Regulations, 34 C.F.R. § 300 et seq.

- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act Amendments of 1997, Pub. L. No. 105-17, §1400, 37 Stat. 111 (1997).
- Jennings, J. (2012). Reflections on a half-century of school reform: Why have we fallen short and where do we go from here? Washington, DC: Center on Education Policy. Retrieved from thttp://www.cep-dc.org/index.cfm?DocumentTopicID=1
- Johnson, D. R., Stout, K. E., & Thurlow, M. L. (2009). Diploma options and perceived consequences for students with disabilities. *Exceptionality*, *17*(3), 229-134.
- Johnson, D. R., & Thurlow, M. L. (2003). National study on state graduation requirements and diploma options. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota, institute on Community Integration, National Center on Secondary Education and Transition and National Center on Educational Outcomes.
- Johnson, D. R., Thurlow, M. L., & Stout, K. E. (2007). *Revisiting graduation requirements and diploma options for youth with disabilities: A national study* (Technical Report 49). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes.
- Johnson, D. R., Thurlow, M. L., Stout, K. E., & Mavis, A. (2007). Cross-state study of high stakes testing practices and diploma options. *Journal of Special Education Leadership.* 20(2), 53-65.
- Kantor, H. A. (1983). Vocationalism in American education. In H. A. Kantor & D.Tyack (Eds.), *Work, youth and schooling*. Standord, CA: Stanford, CA: StanfordUniversity Press.

- Katsiyannis, A., Zhang, D., Ryan, J. B., & Jones, J. (2007). High-stakes testing and students with disabilities: Challenges and promises. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 18(3), 160-167.
- Kaufmann, J. M. (1999). Commentary: Today's special education and its messages for tomorrow. *Journal of Special Education*, 32, 244-254.
- Kaufman, P., Alt, M. N., & Chapman, C. D. (2004). *Dropout rates in the United States:*2001 (Paper No. 2005-046). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education,
  National Center for Education Statistics.
- Kline, R. B. (2009). Becoming a behavioral science research: A guide to producing research that matters. New York: The Guilford Press.

Kober, N., & Stark Rentner, D. (2012). Year two of implementing the common core state standards: States' progress and challenges. Washington, DC: Center on Education Policy. Retrieved from http://www.cepdc.org/index.cfm?DocumentTopicID=1

- Krentz, J., Thurlow, M., Shyyan, V., & Scott, D. (2005). Alternative routes to the standard diploma (Synthesis Report 54). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes. Retrieved from http://education.umn.edu/NCEO/OnlinePubs/Synthesis54.html
- Krug, E. A. (1964). *The shaping of the American high school*. New York: Harper & Row.
- Landford, A. D., & Cary, L. G. (2000). Graduation requirements for students with disabilities. *Remedial and Special Education*, *21*(3), 152-160.

- Labaree, D. F. (1988). *The making of an American high school*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Lehr, C. A., Clapper, A. T., & Thurlow, M. L. (2005). *Graduation for all: A practical guide to decreasing school dropout*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Lomax, R. G. (2007). *Statistical Concepts* (2nd ed.). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Madaus, J.W. (2006). Employment outcomes of university graduates with learning disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 29, 19-31.
- Martin, E. W., Martin, R., & Terman, D.L. (1996). *The legislative and litigation history of special education*. The Future of Children, *6*(1), 25-39.
- McDonnell, L. M., Mclaughlin, M. J., & Morison, P. (1997). Education one and all: Students with disabilities and standards-based reform. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- McIntosh, S. (2011). State high school tests: Changes in state policies and the impact of the college and career readiness movement. Washington, DC. Center on Education Policy. Retrieved from http://www.cepdc.org/displayDocument.cfm?DocumentID=385
- McIntosh, S. (2012). *State high school exit exams: A policy in transition*. Washington, DC. Center on Education Policy. Retrieved from http://www.cep-dc.org/displayDocument.cfm?DocumentID=408
- McLaughlin, M. J. and Tilstone, C. (2000). Standards and Curriculum: The Core of Educational Reform. In M.J. McLaughlin and M. Rouse (Eds.), *Special Education*

and School Reform in the United States and Britain (pp. 28-55). New York, NY: Routledge.

- Mansaevit, L. M., Plagata-Neubauer, C., Winters, T., & Martin, C. (2008). *IDEA: New expectations for schools and students* (4th ed.). Washington, DC: Thompson.
- Murray, C., & Naranjo, J. (2008). Poor, black, learning disabled, and graduating: An investigation of factors and processes associated with school completion among high-risk urban youth. *Remedial and Special Education*, 29 (3), 145-160.
- National Collaborative on Workforce & Dignity (2009). Graduation requirements and diploma options for students with disabilities: What families and advocates need to know. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from http://www.ncwdyouth.info/assets/info\_briefs/infobrief\_issue22.pdf
- National Council on Disability. (2000). *Transition and post-school outcomes for youth with disabilities: Closing the gaps to post-secondary ed and employment.* Washington, DC: Author.
- National Council on Disability. (2004b). National Disability Policy: A Progress Report: December 2002-December 2003. Washington, DC.

National Governors Association. (2005). *Governors sign compact on high school graduation rate at annual meeting*. Retrieved from http://gov.state.nv.us/PR\_Archive/pr/2005/20050717NGA\_Graduation.htm

National Governors Association Center for Best Practices (2006). *Implementing* graduation counts: State progress to date. Washington, DC: Author.

Newman, L., Wagner, M., Knokey, A. M., Marder, C., Nagle, K., Shaver, D., Wei, X., Cameto, R., Contreras, E., Ferguson, K., Greene, S., & Schwarting, M. (2011). The post-high school outcomes of young adults with disabilities up to 8 years after high school: A report from the national longitudinal transition study-2 (*NLTS2*) (NCSER 2011-3005). Menlo Park, CA: SRI International.

No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, P.L. 107-110, 115 Stat. 1425 (2002).

- Nord, C., Roey, S., Perkins, R., Lyons, M., Lemanski, N., Brown, J., & Schuknecht, J. (2011). *The Nation's Report Card: America's High School Graduates* (NCES 2011-462). U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Orfield, G., Losen, D., Wald, J., Swanson, C. B. (2004). Losing our futrue: How minority youth are being left behind by the graduation rate crisis. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University, The Civil Rights Project.
- Osgood, R. L. (2008). *The history of special education: A struggle for equality in American public schools*. Westport, CT: Praeger.
- Ou, S. R., & Reynolds, A. J. (2008). Predictors of educational attainment in the Chicago Longitudinal Study. School Psychology Quarterly, 23(2), 199-229.
- Phillips, S. E. (1993). Legal implications of high-stakes assessment: What states should know. Oak Brook, IL: North Central Regional Educational Laboratory. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 370 985).
- Planty, M., Provasnik, S., & Daniel, B. (2007). *High school coursetaking: Findings from the Condition of Education 2007*. (NCES 2007-065). U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Reardon, S. F., Atteberry, A., Arshan, K., & Kurleander, M. (2009). *Effects of the California High School Exit Exam on student persistence, achievement, and*

graduation (Working Paper 2009-12). Palo Alto, CA: Stanford University,

Institute for Research on Education Policy and Practice.

Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Section 504, 29 U.S.C. § 794.

- Richardson, J. G. (1994). Common, delinquent, and special: On the formalization of common schooling in the American states. *American Educational Research Journal*, 31(4), 695-723.
- Richmond, E. (2009). *Every student counts: The role of federal policy in improving graduation rate accountability*. Washington, DC: Alliance for Excellent Education.
- Rumberger, R. (1987). High school dropouts. *Review of Educational Research*, 57, 101-121.
- Rumberger, R. (1995). Dropping out of middle school: A multilevel analysis of students and schools. *American Educational Research Journal*, *32*(3), 583-625.
- Rumberger, R. W. (2011). *Why students drop out of school and what can be done about it*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Shadish, W. R., Cook, T. D., & Campbell, D. T. (2002). *Experimental and quasiexperimental designs*. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Shaver, D., Newman, L., Huang, T., Yu, Jennifer, Knokey, A.(2011). The secondary school experiences and academic performance of students with hearing impairments (NLTS2). (NCSER 2011-3003). Menlo Park, CA: SRI International.
- Snyder, T. D., & Hoffman, C. M., (Ed.). (2002). *Digest of education statistics 2001*.Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.

- Steinberg, A., & Almeida, C. A. (2008). Raising graduation rates in an era of high standards: Five commitments for state action. (White Paper). Staying the course: High standards and improved graduation rates. Achieve & Jobs for the Future, Washington, DC: Achieve, Inc. and Boston, MA: Jobs for the Future. Retrieved from http://www.jff.org/publications/education/raising-graduation-rates-era-high-standa/305
- Thompson, B., Diamond, K. E., McWilliam, R., Snyder, P., & Snyder, S.W. (2005). Evaluating the qulaity of evidence from correlational research for evidence-based practice. *Exceptional Children*, 71(2), 181-194.
- Thurlow, M. L. (2000). Standards-based reform and students with disabilities: Reflections on a decade of change. *Focus on Exceptional Children*, *33*(3).
- Thurlow, M. L. (2004). Biting the bullet: Including special-needs students in accountability systems. In S. H. Fuhrman & R. F. Elmore (Eds.), *Redesigning AccountabilitySystems for Education* (pp. 115-137). New York City, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Thurlow, M. L., Cormier, D. C., & Vang, M. (2009). Alternative routes to earning a standard high school diploma. *Exceptionality*, *17*, 135-149.
- Thurlow, M. L., & Johnson, D. R. (2000). High stakes testing for students with disabilities. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *51*(4), 289-298.
- Thurlow, M. L., Sinclair, M. F., & Johnson, D. R. (2002). Students with disabilities who drop out of school: Implications for policy and practice. (Issue Brief, No. 1).
  National Center on Secondary Education and Transition. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED468582).

- Thurlow, M. L., & Thompson, S. J. (1999). Diploma options and graduation policies for students with disabilities. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes.
- Thurlow, M., Vang, M., & Cormier, D. (2010). Earning a High School Diploma through Alternative Routes (Synthesis Report 76). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes.
- Thurlow, M. L., Ysseldyke, J. E., & Reid, C. L. (1997). High school graduation requirements for students with disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 30(6), 608-616.
- Thurlow, M., Ysseldyke, J., & Anderson, A. (1995). *High school graduation requirements: What's happening for students with disabilities?* (Synthesis Report 20). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes. Retrieved from

http://www.education.umn.edu/nceo/OnlinePubs/Synthesis20.html

- U.S. Bureau of the Census (2006). *Income in 2005 by Educational Attainment of the Population 18 Years and Over*, Table 8, 2006. Retrieved from http://census.gov/population.www/socdemo/education/cps2006.html
- U.S. Department of Commerce, Census Bureau. (2009). Current population survey, October 2008: School enrollment and internet use supplement file (Technical Documentation CPS-09). Washington, DC: Author.
- U.S. Department of Education. (1983). *A nation at risk*. Washington, DC: National commission on excellence in education report.

- U.S. Department of Education. (2011, March 15). Secretary Duncan vows to 'move away' from the 2 percent rule in assessing students with disabilities. Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/news/press-release/secreatry-duncan-vows-move-away-2-percent-proxy-rule-assessing-students-disabili
- U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2010). Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsa2009.pdf
- Vernon, L. J., Baytops, J., McMahon, P., Padden, D., & Walther-Thomas, C. (2003). The reality of increased graduation requirements: A nationwide view of diploma options. *National Association of Secondary School Principals Bulletin:* 87(635).
- Vogel, S. A., & Adelman, P. (1992). The success of college students with learning disabilities: Factors related to educational attainment. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 25, 430-441.
- Wagner, M. (1995). Outcomes for youth with serious emotional distrubance in secondary school and early adulthood. *The Future of Children: Critical Issues for Children and Youth*, 5, 90-112.
- Wagner, M., Marder, C., Blackorby, J., Cameto, R., Newman, L., Levine, P., & Davies-Mercier, E. (with Chorost, M., Garza, N., Guzman, A., & Sumi, C.). (2003a). *The achievements of youth with disabilities during secondary school. A report from the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS2).* Menlo Park, CA: SRI International. Retrieved from

http://www.nlts2.org/reports/2003\_11/nlts2\_report\_2003\_11\_complete.pdf

Wagner, M., Newman, L., & Cameto, R. (2004). *Changes over time in the secondary* school experiences of students with disabilities: A report of the findings from the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS2). Menlo Park, CA: SRI International. Retrieved from http://www.nlts2.org/reports/2004\_04/index.html

- Wagner, M., Newman, L., Cameto, R., Garza, N., & Levine, P. (2005). After high school: A first look at the postschool experiences of youth with disabilities. A report from the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS2). Menlo Park, CA: SRI International.
- Wagner, M., Newman, L., Cameto, R., & Levine, P. (2006). The Academic achievement and functional performance of youth with disabilities. A report from the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS2). (NCSER 2006-3000). Menlo Park, CA: SRI International.
- Wagner, M., Newman, L., Cameto, R., & Levine, P., & Garza, N. (2006). An overview of findings from wave 2 of the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS2).
  (NCSER 2006-3004). Menlo Park, CA: SRI International.
- Wagner, M., Newman, L., Cameto, R., Levine, P., & Marder, C. (2003). Going to School: Instructional Contexts, Programs, and Participation of Secondary School Students with Disabilities. A Report from the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS2). Menlo Park, CA: SRI International. Retrieved from http://www.nlts2.org/reports/2003\_12/nlts2\_report\_2003\_12\_complete.pdf
- Wagner, M., Newman, L., D'Amico, R., Jay, E., Butler-Nalin, P., et al. (1991). Youth with disabilities: How are they doing? The first comprehensive report from the National Longitudinal Transition Study. Menlo Park: SRI International.
- Wehman, P., & Yasuda, S. (2005). The need and the challenges associated with going to college. In E.E. Getzel & P. Wehman (Eds.), *Going to College: Expanding*

*Opportunities for People with Disabilities* (pp. 3-23). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

- What is Goals 2000: The Educate America Act? (1994). *Teaching Exceptional Children*, (Fall 1994), 78-80.
- Wolfe, C. (2009). The great graduation rate debate. Thomas B. Fordham Institute, Washington, DC. Retrieved from http://www.edExcellence.net/index.cfm/news\_thegreat-graduation-rate-debate
- Wolpin, K. L. (2005, February). Education data in the NLSY79: A premiere research tool. *Monthly Labor Review*, 15-20. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/opub/mlr/2005/02/art3full.pdf
- Yell, M. L. (2012). *The law and special education* (3rd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Yell, M. L., & Shriner, J. G. (1997). The IDEA Amendments of 1997: Implications for special education and general education teachers, administrators, and teacher trainers. *Focus on Exceptional Children*, 30(1), 1-20.
- Yu, J., Newman, L., & Wagner, M. (2009). Secondary school experiences and academic performance of students with mental retardation. A report from the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS2). Menlo Park, CA: SRI International.
- Ysseldyke, J. E., & Algozzine, B. (1984). *Introduction to special education*. Boston,MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Zhang, Y. (2009). *State high school exit exams: Trends in test programs, alternate pathways, and pass rates.* Washington, DC. Center on Education Policy.